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         1       THE COMMISSIONER:   On 6 February 2006 senior counsel for

         2       AWB, Mr Judd Queen's Counsel, who also appears for the AWB

         3       directors, made application that the inquiry sit only four

         4       days a week, the non-sitting day being Friday.

         5

         6            The application was supported by Mr Forrest, senior

         7       counsel, counsel for Messrs Long and Geary and Ms Scales.

         8       Messrs Long and Geary have given the substance of their

         9       evidence and Ms Scales is the witness to follow present

        10       witness.  The application was also supported by Mr Allen of

        11       senior counsel, counsel for Mr Lindberg, who has also given

        12       evidence.  None of the other counsel, of whom there are now

        13       many appearing for individual witnesses, put submissions in

        14       support of the application.

        15

        16            The basis of the application was:  (a) AWB, its

        17       counsel and solicitors, and many witnesses to be called and

        18       their counsel were Melbourne based, travelling to and from

        19       Sydney each week took significant time; (b) being remote

        20       from offices and chambers had the consequence that "such

        21       matters as document management and the ordinary matters of

        22       addressing issues with our respective clients in Melbourne"

        23       could not be done "effectively remotely".  A business day

        24       was needed in Melbourne to deal with these matters.

        25

        26            The submissions were summarised in the following way:

        27

        28            We have perhaps a lack of control of

        29            continuity which one would ordinarily have

        30            if you were located in the position, in the

        31            place in which the business, the lawyers,

        32            the witnesses and hearings were taking

        33            place.

        34

        35       It was also put by Mr Judd that his instructions came from

        36       "board level".  It was said that it could not be expected

        37       that people would come to Sydney to give him those

        38       instructions.  Mr Judd frankly made clear that:  (a) his

        39       instructing solicitors had a branch office in Sydney,

        40       presumably from where this case is being conducted on

        41       behalf of AWB and its directors; (b) it was not being put

        42       that granting a non-hearing day would guarantee any

        43       shortening of hearings; (c) that the time would not be used

        44       to provide additional statements to the inquiry.

        45

        46            When asked in what form the inquiry would be likely to

        47       be assisted by granting the non-sitting day, there was no
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         1       response of substance.  Rather, the position was put that

         2       the non-sitting day may produce earlier production of

         3       documents required under summons from this inquiry.

         4

         5            It was further put that "in order to properly

         6       represent our client, we need to spend time attending to

         7       matters for a business day in Melbourne".  That was because

         8       of the difficulty of dealing with such matters remotely.

         9

        10            The reality is that, so far as Mr Allen of senior

        11       counsel is concerned, his client, Mr Lindberg, has given

        12       the bulk of his evidence.  That is also the case of Messrs

        13       Long and Geary, for whom Mr Forrest, senior counsel,

        14       appears.  Whilst Ms Scales remains to be called, her

        15       supplementary statement has been completed.  Thus

        16       Mr Forrest and Mr Allen have continuing watching briefs on

        17       behalf of their clients.  I am not persuaded that their

        18       interests require that the inquiry sit only four days per

        19       week.  I am not persuaded that any counsel or solicitors

        20       appearing for one witness only could make out a case for a

        21       four-day sitting week.  None has sought to do so.

        22

        23            The matter thus resolves to a consideration of the

        24       interests of AWB and its directors.  I am not persuaded

        25       that Mr Judd's submissions should be upheld.  This is so

        26       for at least the following reasons:  (a) I would have

        27       expected that AWB would have established an office in

        28       Sydney for the purposes of this inquiry.  Its solicitors

        29       have an office here, and no reason has been advanced why

        30       the interests of AWB and its directors cannot be properly

        31       safeguarded by work done from that office; (b) there is no

        32       reason why, with modern communications, document management

        33       cannot be satisfactorily addressed from Melbourne, or, if

        34       the documents be in Sydney, from Sydney; (c) it is normally

        35       the role of solicitors to attend to document management.  I

        36       do not doubt that AWB and its solicitors are applying

        37       significant legal resources to that task.  I see no reason

        38       why senior counsel should be involved in that matter; (d)

        39       it is known from the evidence of Mr Hogan that Mr Cooper,

        40       general counsel for AWB, said as early as mid-November that

        41       AWB was addressing documents with witnesses.  That task, by

        42       now, should be well advanced, if not completed; (e) the

        43       burden in an inquiry such as this is on counsel assisting,

        44       who calls all witnesses and conducts a full primary

        45       examination of those witnesses.  The burden on counsel

        46       appearing for witnesses is much less; (f) if additional

        47       statements are to be prepared - and there was no indication
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         1       given that there are any further additional statements to

         2       be forthcoming - that would normally be a task undertaken,

         3       at least to an advanced stage, by solicitors; (g) I see no

         4       reason why any necessary conferences cannot be held in

         5       Sydney after the conclusion of hearings on a sitting day;

         6       (h) insofar as Mr Judd may receive instructions from the

         7       chairman, I understand the chairman to come from Chinchilla

         8       in Queensland.  I see no reason why he cannot confer with

         9       senior counsel in Sydney rather than Melbourne.  Other

        10       board members come from many States within Australia and

        11       can just as readily meet in Sydney as Melbourne, if it be

        12       necessary for them to meet to discuss this inquiry and its

        13       conduct.

        14

        15            I am not persuaded that either AWB, its directors, or

        16       any witnesses who might be called before this inquiry are

        17       disadvantaged by the inquiry sitting five days each week.

        18       Initially the solicitors for AWB prepared high-level

        19       statements on behalf of 15 witnesses.  Those statements did

        20       not include statements on behalf of members of the board.

        21       When it became apparent that Arnold Bloch Leibler could no

        22       longer act for all AWB employees, senior counsel, junior

        23       counsel and solicitors were engaged on behalf of individual

        24       witnesses.  Whilst the solicitors and counsel for

        25       individual witnesses may be dependent upon AWB and its

        26       solicitors for the provision of documents from AWB, the

        27       burden of preparation has been widely spread.  In reality,

        28       no true disadvantage to AWB, its directors or the witnesses

        29       proposed to be called at this inquiry has been demonstrated

        30       by a five-day sitting week.

        31

        32            Further, there are interests other than those of AWB

        33       to be considered.  The report of this inquiry may have some

        34       significance nationally and internationally.  It is

        35       important that the report be completed as promptly as is

        36       possible.  This is subject only to the necessity to fully

        37       and thoroughly investigate the matters within the terms of

        38       reference and to principles of fairness.  Mr Judd properly

        39       recognised the need for me to have regard to the time

        40       constraints presently contained in the letters patent and

        41       to the fact that public moneys are funding this inquiry.

        42

        43            Accordingly, I decline to make the directions sought.

        44

        45       MR CONDON:   Can I attend to one housekeeping matter,

        46       Mr Commissioner.  In relation to the following exhibits,

        47       there is information of a commercial confidential nature
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         1       which Mr Judd has asked to examine and which we accept

         2       bears that character.  Those exhibits are as follows:  100,

         3       101, 124, 125, 145, and confidential exhibits 104C and

         4       113C.

         5

         6            I have produced a copy of those exhibits which removes

         7       the commercially confidential information.  Can I tender

         8       those exhibits in substitution for those previous exhibits.

         9       I have a covering document that identifies the original

        10       exhibit, the barcode number, a broad description of the

        11       material removed and the proposed new exhibit number.

        12

        13       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you.  Yes, very well.  The

        14       amended exhibit 100 will become exhibit 212.

        15

        16       EXHIBIT #212 AMENDED VERSION OF EXHIBIT 100

        17

        18       THE COMMISSIONER:   Amended exhibit 101 will become exhibit

        19       213.

        20

        21       EXHIBIT #213 AMENDED VERSION OF EXHIBIT 101

        22

        23       THE COMMISSIONER:   Amended confidential exhibit 104C will

        24       become exhibit 214.

        25

        26       EXHIBIT #214 AMENDED VERSION OF EXHIBIT 104C

        27

        28       THE COMMISSIONER:   Amended confidential exhibit 113C will

        29       become exhibit 215.

        30

        31       EXHIBIT #215 AMENDED VERSION OF EXHIBIT 113C

        32

        33       THE COMMISSIONER:   Exhibit 124 as amended will become

        34       exhibit 216.

        35

        36       EXHIBIT #216 AMENDED VERSION OF EXHIBIT 124

        37

        38       THE COMMISSIONER:   Amended exhibit 125 will become

        39       exhibit 217.

        40

        41       EXHIBIT #217 AMENDED VERSION OF EXHIBIT 125

        42

        43       THE COMMISSIONER:   Amended exhibit 145 will become

        44       exhibit 218.

        45

        46       EXHIBIT #218 AMENDED VERSION OF EXHIBIT 145

        47



            .8/2/06 (23)               2196

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1       <CHARLES ERIC STOTT, on former oath:         [11.04am]

         2

         3       <EXAMINATION BY MR AGIUS CONTINUING:

         4

         5       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Stott, yesterday you referred to a

         6       statement which you had initialled, and you had been

         7       provided with a copy of what the inquiry had as a statement

         8       of the evidence that you would be expected to give.  The

         9       inquiry's document, WST.0001.0137, was provided to you for

        10       comparison with your initial document.  Have you been able

        11       to make that comparison overnight?

        12       A.   Yes.

        13

        14       Q.   What's the result of the comparison?

        15       A.   I agree this is consistent with the initial document.

        16

        17       Q.   Have you brought the initial document to the hearing

        18       today?

        19       A.   No.

        20

        21       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   When you say "consistent with", do

        22       you mean the same as?

        23       A.   The same as, yes.

        24

        25       MR AGIUS:   Q.   So on 22 December 2005, to the best of

        26       your knowledge and belief, were the contents of the 11-page

        27       statement that I handed you yesterday true and correct?

        28       A.   22 December, yes.

        29

        30       Q.   Are the contents of that document true and correct as

        31       at today's date?

        32       A.   No.  Further information has come to me since

        33       22 December, and there are a couple of amendments that I

        34       would like to make to this document.

        35

        36       Q.   Where is the first amendment?

        37       A.   The first amendment is in respect to paragraph 9,

        38       where I have mentioned the name:

        39

        40            Accompanying me in many of these --

        41

        42       Is it appropriate to read out?

        43

        44       Q.  Yes.

        45       A.

        46

        47            Accompanying me in many of these
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         1            negotiations were representatives of

         2            Austrade, including Loftus Harris...

         3

         4       I think Loftus Harris accompanied me on Iranian

         5       negotiations, not Iraqi negotiations, so delete Loftus

         6       Harris.

         7

         8            Paragraphs 20, 21, 22 and 23, which we discussed and

         9       you asked me questions of yesterday, don't convey the full

        10       picture.  Further information has come back to me since

        11       22 December, when I prepared this statement.

        12

        13            In paragraph 24, where it says that in July 2000 I

        14       commenced, I officially commenced at the AWB on 10 July,

        15       but for about 10 days prior to 10 July I was conducting

        16       interviews with staff and also reviewing certain files

        17       which I'd been asked to review by my manager.

        18

        19            Finally, in paragraph 33, the second sentence in

        20       relation to which reads "During the time I was working at

        21       BHP Petroleum, a BHP employee, Norman Davidson-Kelly, left

        22       to establish Tigris Petroleum", I don't believe that's an

        23       accurate statement, so I would like that sentence deleted,

        24       please.  That's the only changes.

        25

        26       Q.   We'll work backwards.  Paragraph 33, what information

        27       came to your knowledge between 22 December and today

        28       relating to the sentence that you say you want deleted from

        29       the paragraph?

        30       A.   I have seen correspondence addressed to me from

        31       Norman Davidson Kelly at the AWB providing me information

        32       as to when Tigris was established.  It was not - I had not

        33       seen it at the time of writing or preparing my witness

        34       statement on 22 December.

        35

        36       Q.   In what circumstances did you see that correspondence?

        37       A.   Once I appointed my own counsel, we have been

        38       reviewing the documents that had my name attached to them.

        39       I don't think we have reviewed all the documents.  We've

        40       had access to some of the documents, but there's documents

        41       that you presented to me yesterday that I had not seen

        42       until yesterday.

        43

        44       Q.   You referred to paragraphs, was it 20 to 23, and

        45       indicated that they did not convey the full picture.

        46       A.   That's correct.

        47
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         1       Q.   What is the full picture?

         2       A.   Mr Agius, we discussed many aspects of that issue

         3       yesterday and I think that your line of questioning would

         4       have helped determine the picture - some of the picture.

         5

         6       Q.   So may we take it that you still say that 20 to 23

         7       contains the truth as you believe it to be, but you wish to

         8       supplement 20 to 23 with the evidence you gave yesterday?

         9       A.   I believe that 20 to 23 was what I believed to be the

        10       case when I signed or prepared this witness statement on

        11       22 December.  As I have read transcripts and been working

        12       with my counsel, the further information has come to me

        13       that has enabled me to recall many other aspects of this

        14       time.

        15

        16       Q.   Are there any aspects which are not included in the

        17       statement and which you did not give evidence of yesterday

        18       that you can tell this Commission or this inquiry about?

        19       A.   Yes.

        20

        21       Q.   Well, what are they?

        22       A.   Mr Agius, it's a very broad question.  I'm happy to

        23       answer specific questions, but going back to 1995 and the

        24       events of 1995, many, many things happened in 1995.  I'm

        25       happy to assist you in any questions, but I just find your

        26       question too broad.

        27

        28       Q.   Well, in relation to the beginning of this

        29       arrangement, is there any more information that you can

        30       provide as to how it came about that AWB - that is, the

        31       Australian Wheat Board - entered into the contract for sale

        32       of the wheat to the IGB in circumstances where BHP

        33       Petroleum had agreed to pay the AWB for that wheat?

        34       A.   No, I think we adequately covered that yesterday.

        35

        36       Q.   In relation to the arrangement as it was between the

        37       IGB and BHP Petroleum at the time that the wheat was

        38       provided, what do you say is your state of knowledge about

        39       that arrangement at that time?

        40       A.   At that time - I thought we answered that question

        41       yesterday as well, Mr Agius.

        42

        43       Q.   It's also referred to in your statement.  I'm just

        44       wanting to find out whether or not your statement is still

        45       reliable in that respect.  In your statement you say:

        46

        47            At that time I did not know what
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         1            arrangements existed between BHP and the

         2            IGB.

         3

         4       Is that still a reliable statement?

         5       A.   Yes.

         6

         7       Q.   What about as at today?  What do you know now of the

         8       arrangements as they existed between BHP and the IGB at

         9       that time?

        10       A.   It is still a reliable statement today that I did not

        11       know at that time of the arrangements.

        12

        13       Q.   What do you know now?

        14       A.   What I know now is as was presented to me by Mr Norman

        15       Davidson Kelly when he wrote to me when I was at the AWB

        16       around September 2000.

        17

        18       Q.   Did you provide for the benefit of Mr Lawrenson a

        19       briefing paper that he might provide to the board --

        20       A.   Yes.

        21

        22       Q.   -- in relation to the 1995 transaction with the IGB

        23       and BHP?

        24       A.   Yes.

        25

        26       Q.   Could we bring up, please, AWB.0129.0054.  Can you see

        27       that document on your screen, Mr Stott?

        28       A.   Yes.

        29

        30       Q.   Is that a briefing paper that you provided to

        31       Mr Lawrenson?

        32       A.   I provided it to my manager, Mr Storey, who I assumed

        33       would have provided this to Mr Lawrenson.

        34

        35       MR AGIUS:   I tender that document, Mr Commissioner.

        36

        37       EXHIBIT #219 BRIEFING PAPER PROVIDED BY MR STOTT TO

        38       MR STOREY, BARCODED AWB.0129.0054

        39

        40       MR AGIUS:   Q.   At the time that you provided it to

        41       Mr Storey, did you believe the contents of it to be true

        42       and correct?

        43       A.   Yes.

        44

        45       Q.   Let's work through it, if we can, and obtain your

        46       assistance with it:

        47



            .8/2/06 (23)               2200     C E STOTT (Mr Agius)

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1            BHP is keen to keep the following

         2            transaction confidential.

         3

         4       What was your source of that knowledge?

         5       A.   I was told by the BHP representatives handling the

         6       negotiations on the BHP side of the transaction that that

         7       was the case.

         8

         9       Q.   Who were they?

        10       A.   Mr Tom Harley and Mr Norman Davidson Kelly.

        11

        12       Q.   Were you told by them as to why it was that they

        13       wished to keep it confidential?

        14       A.   I think that that's covered in the background

        15       paragraph, under the third paragraph.

        16

        17       Q.   Were you given any other reasons?

        18       A.   No.

        19

        20       Q.   The structure of the transaction is set out in a

        21       paragraph so entitled.  That was the structure of the

        22       transaction as you believed at the time of this document;

        23       is that correct?

        24       A.   That's correct.

        25

        26       Q.   So it appears that, as at the date of this document,

        27       you had an expectation as to what the arrangement between

        28       the IGB and BHP was?

        29       A.   At the time that this document was prepared this was

        30       the transaction that was being discussed.

        31

        32       Q.   Well, it was the transaction that was in place, was it

        33       not?

        34       A.   No.

        35

        36       Q.   Well, weren't you describing a transaction that was

        37       expected to occur?

        38       A.   Yes.

        39

        40       Q.   And it was expected to occur in the way in which it is

        41       described in the paragraph headed "Structure of

        42       transaction"?

        43       A.   Yes.

        44

        45       Q.   What occurred to give you to believe that that was not

        46       the way in which the transaction went forward?

        47       A.   DFAT did not approve that structure of the
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         1       transaction.

         2

         3       Q.   What gave you to believe that the transaction didn't

         4       go forward in that way, despite advice from DFAT?

         5       A.   At that time I was not aware of the way that BHP had

         6       negotiated with the IGB or, indeed, with any of the other

         7       Iraqi entities on the basis of the way the transaction

         8       would proceed.

         9

        10       Q.   I'm sorry, you were aware as at the date of this

        11       document that it was proposed to proceed in the way in

        12       which the document describes; is that right?

        13       A.   Correct.

        14

        15       Q.   You then became aware that DFAT had indicated that

        16       that method was contrary to UN sanctions?

        17       A.   Correct.

        18

        19       Q.   Did you ever become aware that there was any other

        20       arrangement between the IGB and BHP?

        21       A.   Only in 2000, in September 2000, when

        22       Mr Davidson Kelly wrote to me.

        23

        24       Q.   What you became aware of in 2000, and what was

        25       confirmed later, was that indeed the arrangement with BHP

        26       that it had with the IGB was that the wheat would be

        27       provided and that there would be deferred payment and that,

        28       no later than five years after delivery of the wheat, the

        29       IGB would be required to pay for the wheat in accordance

        30       with that arrangement - is that not right?

        31       A.   That's what I was advised in September, or

        32       thereabouts, 2000.

        33

        34       Q.   Is that not the substance of the transaction as it is

        35       described in this document?

        36       A.   That is the substance - that is the way it is

        37       described in this document.  That is not the way the

        38       transaction proceeded.

        39

        40       Q.   Sorry, you were told in 2000 that that's what had

        41       occurred, that BHP had paid for the wheat on the basis that

        42       the Iraqis would, no later than five years from the date of

        43       the provision of the wheat, pay for that - that's what you

        44       were told in 2000 and subsequently?

        45       A.   Yes.

        46

        47       Q.   This transaction provides that, in substance, the IGB
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         1       would pay for the wheat no later than five years from the

         2       date of sale; that's the transaction as described in this

         3       document.

         4       A.   Yes.

         5

         6       Q.   So what you were told in 2000 was consistent with the

         7       original agreement?

         8       A.   Yes.

         9

        10       Q.   Were you ever told that, as between the date of the

        11       original agreement and 2000, there had been any other

        12       arrangement between BHP and the IGB?

        13       A.   No.

        14

        15       Q.   What you learnt, though, after you prepared this

        16       document, exhibit 219, was that DFAT had indicated that the

        17       proposal set out in this document would --

        18       A.   Sorry, Mr Agius, can I just - can we go back to the

        19       question that you just asked me prior to me interrupting

        20       you on this question, because I'm just concerned that I

        21       may - I just want to make sure that I have answered that

        22       question correctly.  Is that possible?

        23

        24       Q.   I'll read you the question --

        25       A.   Thank you.

        26

        27       Q.   -- that I think you're referring to:

        28

        29            Were you ever told that, as between the

        30            date of the original agreement and 2000,

        31            there had been any other arrangement

        32            between BHP and the IGB.

        33

        34       A.   I answered that question correctly, I said no.

        35

        36       Q.   Are you content with that answer?

        37       A.   I am content, sorry.

        38

        39       Q.   You can see what I'm coming to, Mr Stott, that it

        40       appears that, as at the date of this memo, exhibit 219, you

        41       were aware of a proposal which included as a component that

        42       there would be deferred payment for the wheat that the AWB

        43       was providing to the IGB and that that deferred payment

        44       would be a payment by the IGB to BHP.

        45       A.   That is correct.

        46

        47       Q.   You were aware of that?



            .8/2/06 (23)               2203     C E STOTT (Mr Agius)

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1       A.   That is correct.

         2

         3       Q.   In 2000, you become aware that indeed there had been

         4       an agreement entered into between BHP and the IGB whereby

         5       the IGB agreed to pay for that wheat no later than five

         6       years from the date of sale; that's what you've said?

         7       A.   Well, that's - okay, well then that's not correct,

         8       because it was not clear to me if BHP and the IGB - what

         9       arrangements they had entered into back in 1995.  That was

        10       not clear to me even in 2000.  I was advised by

        11       Mr Davidson Kelly in that letter to me that this was the

        12       arrangement, so it was in 2000 that I became aware that

        13       this was one of the arrangements contemplated.

        14

        15       Q.   That's what I'm putting to you, that in 2000 you

        16       became aware that indeed the arrangement that had been put

        17       in place between BHP and the IGB was that the IGB would pay

        18       for this wheat on a deferred payment basis and that the

        19       debt was now due, or about to be due; that's what you

        20       learnt in 2000, isn't it?

        21       A.   I learnt in 2000 that that's what - that is one of the

        22       mechanisms that were being proposed.  If sanctions had been

        23       lifted, maybe BHP could have got value through oil

        24       shipments.  If BHP had won an oil field development and a

        25       right to develop one of the oil fields that they were

        26       pursuing, and Halfaya was one of those oil field

        27       developments, which is equivalent in size to Bass Strait,

        28       so a significant prize, I don't think BHP would have been

        29       troubled or bothered to pursue any recovery post if that

        30       was to occur.  So I was not aware - there were many

        31       possibilities that BHP may have been pursuing in order to

        32       make this humanitarian donation to ingratiate themselves

        33       with the Iraqis in a time when they needed and were unable

        34       to feed themselves.

        35

        36       Q.   Why do you keep calling this a donation?  This was

        37       nothing like a donation, was it?  It was never proposed as

        38       a donation.  It's a complete sham to call it a donation, is

        39       it not?

        40       A.   I do not call this a sham.  They are your words, not

        41       mine.  I believed that this was a donation.

        42

        43       Q.   How could it be a donation if there was any part of

        44       the proposal that the Iraqis would pay for the wheat?  How

        45       could it be said that the wheat was a donation?

        46       A.   One of the documents that we discussed yesterday

        47       described the donation.
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         1

         2       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Donations don't normally attract

         3       interest, Mr Stott.

         4       A.   The mechanism that we - one of the documents that we

         5       looked at yesterday described the donation.

         6

         7       MR AGIUS:   Q.   But why do you keep describing it as a

         8       donation when you know that in no way could this possibly

         9       be described as a donation?

        10       A.   Well, I don't accept that proposition.

        11

        12       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Do you say it was a donation or

        13       not a donation?

        14       A.   I understood that BHP were making a donation to win

        15       favour with the Iraqis, in the hope that that would give

        16       them the opportunity to win an oil field development right,

        17       which were significant prizes in the Middle East.  So I was

        18       not clear in 1995, when this arrangement was established,

        19       exactly how it proceeded.

        20

        21       MR AGIUS:   Q.   But you're giving evidence in 2006, and

        22       you're still calling it a donation.  You know now, don't

        23       you, that it was not a donation?

        24       A.   I was not privy to the way BHP - the BHP negotiators

        25       in country, in Iraq, pushed this - agreed with the Iraqis

        26       what the nature of the transaction would be.

        27

        28       Q.   Mr Stott, you knew in 1995 that there had been a plan

        29       for the IGB to pay for this wheat on a five-year deferred

        30       payment basis; you knew that, didn't you?

        31       A.   Yes.

        32

        33       Q.   You knew in 2000 that BHP had appointed Tigris as the

        34       body responsible for recouping the cost of that wheat?

        35       A.   Yes.

        36

        37       Q.   You knew in 2000 that BHP had appointed Tigris to

        38       recoup not only the cost of that wheat but interest on the

        39       cost of that wheat?

        40       A.   Yes.

        41

        42       Q.   In those circumstances, how can you maintain as at

        43       2006, let alone 2000, that the provision of that wheat

        44       could properly be described as a donation?

        45       A.   Well, that's what I believed it to be.

        46

        47       Q.   And today you still believe it to be a donation?
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         1       A.   I believed in 1995 BHP donated a cargo of wheat.  I

         2       don't think they knew at that time how they would get value

         3       for that cargo.  The Iraqis were in desperate need of

         4       foodstuffs.  There was a great humanitarian crisis looming.

         5       UN sanctions were - the resolve for UN sanctions was

         6       weakening, apart from the US, who was adamant that UN

         7       sanctions - the UN was not to lift sanctions on Iraq.  They

         8       had to accept the Oil-for-Food Program.  That was the only

         9       way that was available for the Iraqis to feed themselves.

        10

        11            The fact that oil companies now started coming in to

        12       Iraq to ingratiate themselves with the Iraqis in order to

        13       win favour and win oil field development opportunities, I

        14       assume post sanctions, these companies started to fund

        15       urgently needed humanitarian cargoes.  Hyundai funded one

        16       in April 1995.  There were three other companies trying to

        17       fund cargoes.  Two of them were happy to be named, one was

        18       not happy to be named, and there was a variety of

        19       mechanisms originally contemplated which, at the time of

        20       writing this memo, that is the - that was the mechanism

        21       that was contemplated.

        22

        23       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Why, if BHP are making a donation

        24       of this wheat, was it necessary to establish a letter of

        25       credit between IGB and AWB?

        26       A.   Commissioner, the transaction did not proceed on this

        27       basis, because the transaction - this was a transaction

        28       that was put forward to DFAT.  The Iraqis --

        29

        30       Q.   And rejected?

        31       A.   Well, the Iraqis said that they have got great support

        32       from Security Council members of the United Nations -

        33       namely, the Russians and the French - and if we were to put

        34       forward a transaction like this to the UN, that that would

        35       be accepted by the United Nations because of Iraq's

        36       humanitarian requirements.  We put this proposal to DFAT

        37       and DFAT said no.  I advised the Iraqis that DFAT said no,

        38       and the Iraqis - the Iraqis said, "But, Charles, DFAT - we

        39       have relationships with the UN, we have effectively a

        40       de facto UN government in situ in Iraq, we negotiate with

        41       them and talk to them every day.  They have assured us

        42       that, if your government puts forward this application on

        43       this basis, it will be accepted."   And the government said

        44       they were not - well, not the government, I beg your

        45       pardon, DFAT said they were not prepared to push this

        46       application forward.  It caused a lot of problems in DFAT.

        47       I understand that DFAT put a six-person team together or
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         1       trade interests on it to explore this particular issue.  I

         2       asked if I could represent the Australian wheat growers'

         3       interest on this particular team, and I was not permitted

         4       to, but I was allowed to lobby and talk to team

         5       participants in 1995, when this issue was being discussed.

         6

         7            So this transaction did not proceed on this basis

         8       then, because DFAT wouldn't put the application forward to

         9       the UN arguing that it was a breach of the sanctions at

        10       that time, despite the fact that the Iraqis said that, if

        11       it was put forward, they had it on good advice that the UN

        12       would approve the transaction - these transactions as

        13       contemplated.

        14

        15       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Why, in 2006, do you continue to refer to

        16       the provision of this wheat as a donation?

        17       A.   Because that is what I understood BHP had done.

        18

        19       Q.   Why, then, were you involved in attempting to recoup

        20       from the Iraqis the cost of this wheat together with

        21       interest, if you believed that the provision of the wheat

        22       was a donation?

        23       A.   Mr Davidson Kelly wrote to me and asked if I would

        24       take a letter for him to Baghdad on my mission that I was

        25       going to Baghdad.  Originally I was going to Baghdad in

        26       October, or originally I was meant to be going in

        27       September, but that trip got delayed.

        28

        29       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Why didn't you write back to him

        30       and say, "I can't be involved in this because it was a

        31       donation"?

        32       A.   In 2006, when Norman wrote to me, I was not aware of

        33       how he had - what arrangements he had in place with the

        34       Iraqis.  I took his letter to describe to me what he had

        35       done.  I had said that we would use - at the time of the

        36       transaction that we would use reasonable - which is stated

        37       in this letter, that we will use - under the structure of

        38       the transaction, will use reasonable endeavours to assist

        39       BHP in obtaining recovery.  I thought carrying a letter for

        40       Norman to the minister was fulfilment of - not fulfilment,

        41       but certainly consistent with that undertaking.

        42

        43       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Stott, you knew back in 1995-1996 that

        44       a proposal which included deferred payment by the IGB for

        45       the wheat was contrary to UN sanctions; that was the advice

        46       you'd been given?

        47       A.   In 1995, yes.
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         1

         2       Q.   In 1995 --

         3       A.   Correct.

         4

         5       Q.   -- you knew that?

         6       A.   Correct.

         7

         8       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   In writing from DFAT?

         9       A.   Correct.

        10

        11       MR AGIUS:   Q.   And in 2000 you were being asked to take

        12       part in the recovery of what in fact was a deferred payment

        13       for that wheat; you knew that too?

        14       A.   Yes.

        15

        16       Q.   Did it not occur to you that the recovery of the

        17       deferred payment for that wheat was contrary to the UN

        18       sanctions?

        19       A.   No.

        20

        21       Q.   What happened to that body of knowledge that you had

        22       in 1995-1996 which indicated that the deferred payment for

        23       wheat was contrary to the UN sanctions?

        24       A.   The cargo went in September - sorry, January 1996.

        25       When I was at BHP I was not aware of exactly what

        26       arrangements BHP had, but BHP was in close dialogue with

        27       DFAT and other department officials on the subject of Iraq.

        28       So I assumed, when Norman Davidson Kelly wrote to me, that

        29       any of those issues that may have been in 1995 had been

        30       clarified.

        31

        32       Q.   Did you ask him?

        33       A.   No.

        34

        35       Q.   What you had written in the prepared letter to Zuhair

        36       on 21 June 1996 was that, in effect, the deferred payment

        37       system was outside the UN sanctions and that there was no

        38       value in pursuing a mechanism with the UN; that's right,

        39       isn't it?

        40       A.   The letter that you showed me yesterday was a draft -

        41       well, I'm not - it did not have a letterhead.  It was an

        42       unsigned letter.  I assume I have written it because I have

        43       got my - you showed me my handwriting, and I've said it's

        44       been cleared through Jim Lyons, who is the legal counsel.

        45       I don't know if the letter was actually sent.

        46

        47       Q.   That's not the point of my question, Mr Stott.  What I
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         1       said to you was what you had written in the prepared letter

         2       to Zuhair on 21 June 1996 was that, in effect, the deferred

         3       payment system was outside the UN sanctions and that there

         4       was no value in pursuing a mechanism with the UN; that's

         5       right, isn't it?

         6       A.   That is what the letter says.

         7

         8       Q.   But that was also your state of knowledge?

         9       A.   At 1996.

        10

        11       Q.   You had that knowledge in 1996, and then, in 2000,

        12       Mr Davidson Kelly asked you to take part in a mechanism for

        13       the recoupment of the deferred payment for that same wheat.

        14       Did it not occur to you that, as sanction 986 was still in

        15       place, the actions by AWB in assisting BHP or Tigris to

        16       recoup that money would also be outside the sanctions?

        17       A.   No.

        18

        19       Q.   Why not?

        20       A.   Because Mr Davidson Kelly wrote to me, and the manner

        21       in which he wrote to me looked as though he had cleared it

        22       through DFAT.  He mentioned in the letter that you showed

        23       me yesterday - indicated that the DFAT officials were keen

        24       to recover - to - I can't remember the actual wording of

        25       that email that he sent to me, but it gave me comfort that

        26       obviously any issues that may have been outstanding BHP had

        27       resolved.

        28

        29       Q.   You said yesterday that you couldn't remember the

        30       material that's referred to in that email.

        31       A.   I said yesterday, Mr Agius, that I do not recall

        32       meeting the Deputy Prime Minister, which I regret not

        33       recalling meeting him, and I do not recall meeting

        34       Bob Bowker.  The rest of the correspondence, I assume, gave

        35       me comfort that obviously if there were any outstanding

        36       issues, it would have been all cleared.

        37

        38       Q.   So you do recall Mr Davidson Kelly telling you that

        39       Tigris enjoyed the support of DFAT and that DFAT were

        40       interested in the outcome of the discussions to recover the

        41       obligation?

        42       A.   I do recall receiving that email.

        43

        44       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   That's not the question you were

        45       asked.

        46       A.   Sorry, Commissioner, could I ask that the question be

        47       repeated, because obviously I've misunderstood the
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         1       question.

         2

         3       MR AGIUS:   Q.   So you do recall Mr Davidson Kelly telling

         4       you that Tigris enjoyed the support of DFAT and that DFAT

         5       were interested in the outcome of the discussions to

         6       recover the obligation?

         7       A.   That is what is written in the telex - sorry, the

         8       email to me, and so, yes, I do recall that statement in the

         9       email.

        10

        11       Q.   I'm not asking you about that, Mr Stott.

        12

        13       THE COMMISSIONER:    Please attend to the question.  I'm

        14       sure you understand it.

        15

        16       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Do you recall Mr Davidson Kelly telling

        17       you that Tigris enjoyed the support of DFAT and that DFAT

        18       were interested in the outcome of the discussions to

        19       recover the obligation?

        20       A.   I don't recall.  The telex - I recall - not the telex,

        21       the email, I recall that statement in the email.  I don't

        22       recall Norman Davidson Kelly telling me that over a phone

        23       conversation, if that is the way the question is being put

        24       to me.

        25

        26       Q.   Look, Mr Stott, you know I haven't used the words

        27       "phone conversation ".  This is a very simple proposition.

        28       Do you or do you not recall having a conversation with

        29       Mr Davidson Kelly in which he said to you words to the

        30       effect that DFAT were interested in the outcome of the

        31       discussions to recover the obligation?

        32       A.   Mr Davidson Kelly may have had that conversation with

        33       me.

        34

        35       Q.   Yes, we know that; he may have or he may not.  That's

        36       why I'm asking you do you recall that conversation or not?

        37       A.   I have to say I do not recall that conversation.

        38

        39       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Attached to that email was the

        40       letter, this draft letter; do you recall?

        41       A.   That is the letter that you presented to me yesterday.

        42

        43       Q.   It was sent to you for your comment?

        44       A.   Yes.

        45

        46       Q.   It is exhibit 212, AWB.0129.0070.  You see in the

        47       second paragraph it says:
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         1

         2            The cargo was delivered on the basis that

         3            BHP Petroleum would be reimbursed in due

         4            course for the cargo, not later than 5

         5            years from the date of shipment, with

         6            interest running at 10% per annum.

         7

         8       Thereafter you could be under no misapprehension about this

         9       being a donation, Mr Stott, could you?

        10       A.   Mr Commissioner, in 1995 I understood that this was a

        11       donation.  I did not know in 1995 how BHP would receive

        12       value for this cargo.  So I just did not know that.

        13

        14       Q.   Why would they receive value at all if it was a

        15       donation?

        16       A.   I would have been surprised if BHP had elected to make

        17       a donation out of humanitarian goods unless they expected

        18       to receive some benefit from that action at some stage in

        19       the future.

        20

        21       Q.   Yes.  Accepting that for the time being, after you

        22       received the email from Mr Davidson Kelly on 15 September

        23       2000 which told you, in accordance with the draft addressed

        24       to you by Mr Davidson Kelly, that the cargo was delivered

        25       on the basis that BHP would be reimbursed in due course for

        26       the cargo not later than five years from the date of

        27       shipment, with interest running at 10 per cent per annum

        28       compound, you could have had no illusion that there was a

        29       donation involved, could you?

        30       A.   Commissioner, I understood this in 1995 to be a

        31       donation.  When they've written this letter --

        32

        33       Q.   Could you please just attend to the question I've

        34       asked you?  I've asked you twice now; I am not going to ask

        35       you again.  It concerned your knowledge or approach or

        36       attitude to whether or not this was a donation, after you

        37       received this document in September 2000.

        38       A.   After I received this document in December 2000 it

        39       appears that BHP has received value for their donation in

        40       1995 through this mechanism.

        41

        42       Q.   The value being repayment of the debt?

        43       A.   Correct.

        44

        45       Q.   Right.  So any nonsense that this was a donation is

        46       just out the window, isn't it?

        47       A.   No, I don't believe that to be the case, Commissioner.
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         1

         2       Q.   So a donation is something you can recover with

         3       interest?

         4       A.   People make donations, Commissioner, and expect to

         5       receive some benefit from those donations.  So it was not

         6       unusual for an oil company who is trying to win the right

         7       to develop discovered but undeveloped oil resources to make

         8       a donation at that time to win favour, and hopefully that

         9       may help them secure a significant oil field development

        10       prize.

        11

        12       Q.   Are you using the word "donation" in lieu of the words

        13       "soft bribe"?

        14       A.   I am not using the words "soft bribe" --

        15

        16       Q.   No, you're using the word "donation", but what do you

        17       mean by that?

        18       A.   I mean that people make donations to receive some

        19       potential benefit in the future.  Some people donate to

        20       church funds or building funds to receive a taxation

        21       benefit.  People make donations in order to either feel

        22       good or to get some benefit for themselves.

        23

        24       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Is it not entirely inconsistent with the

        25       notion of a donation to require repayment of the value of

        26       the donation plus interest?  Are not the two concepts

        27       inimical?

        28       A.   No.

        29

        30       THE COMMISSIONER:   I'm afraid you and I have a different

        31       view of the meaning of the word, Mr Stott.

        32

        33       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Stott, if you give something to

        34       somebody and you say to them, "You can pay me the value of

        35       this in five years time, plus interest", how can that

        36       possibly be regarded as a donation?

        37       A.   That's how I understood that it was --

        38

        39       THE COMMISSIONER:   It's a loan, for heaven's sake.

        40

        41       MR AGIUS:   Q.  What mental process do you go through which

        42       permits you to --

        43

        44       MR LACAVA:   Well, Commissioner --

        45

        46       MR AGIUS:   Let me finish the question, please.

        47
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         1       MR LACAVA:   We have an objection.  A number of times this

         2       morning, Commissioner, our client has been asked questions,

         3       by both yourself and my learned friend Mr Agius, which have

         4       been met with laughter from the press gallery.  We've sat

         5       here for days, we've heard what you've had to say about

         6       controlling the press.  In our submission, you can control

         7       the proceedings in this room.  I ask you to ask the press

         8       to remain quiet, so that the witness can give his answers -

         9       he's come along here to be truthful and helpful - without

        10       being held to ridicule and laughter by the press gallery.

        11

        12       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Lacava, I've previously ruled on a

        13       similar submission that I should direct those in the public

        14       gallery not to laugh.  I have rejected the application that

        15       I should do that some weeks ago, and I don't propose to

        16       change that ruling.

        17

        18            The power that I have is to control proceedings in

        19       this courtroom should they disrupt in a material way the

        20       conduct of the proceedings.  In my view, that position has

        21       not been reached.

        22

        23       MR LACAVA:   We'll monitor the situation, Commissioner, and

        24       if it arises again, I will be rising to my feet.  I don't

        25       want the witness's evidence affected by what the reaction

        26       of the press gallery may be.

        27

        28       THE COMMISSIONER:   Well, I'm sure, as he has sworn an oath

        29       to tell the truth, that he will not be affected by whatever

        30       others may say or take from his answers.

        31

        32       MR LACAVA:   Commissioner, this line of questioning, it

        33       might be amusing to those asking the questions and it might

        34       be amusing to the press gallery, but one aspect of it

        35       that's unfair in the context of analysing whether or not

        36       this is a donation, and hasn't been put to the witness, is

        37       how the wheat was actually paid for.  Now, we know from all

        38       the evidence it was paid for in 1995 on a COD basis to the

        39       AWB.

        40

        41       THE COMMISSIONER:   And so?

        42

        43       MR LACAVA:   Well, that's an aspect that has been lacking

        44       in all this questioning, from both yourself and Mr Agius,

        45       this morning.

        46

        47       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Lacava, the witness said it was a
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         1       donation.  That word has a usual English meaning.  It does

         2       not normally carry with it the notion that the money will

         3       be repaid.  Nor does it normally carry with it the notion

         4       that, when it's repaid, it will carry interest.  Now, the

         5       two do not, in my view, sit happily together.  Yet the

         6       witness maintains that position.  If that's so, he's

         7       entitled to be pressed on it.

         8

         9       MR LACAVA:   Commissioner, there is no argument from us

        10       about that, but it's fair in our submission --

        11

        12       THE COMMISSIONER:   Well, the problem is that the witness

        13       apparently takes a different view to the one that you

        14       espouse and I espouse and Mr Agius espouses.

        15

        16       MR LACAVA:   I'm not espousing anything, I'm not giving

        17       evidence.  What I do want to have put to the witness quite

        18       clearly, so that it's quite clear and so that those who

        19       laugh have a proper understanding of it, is when he's being

        20       asked about his understanding.  If it's 1995, given that it

        21       was on a COD basis, it's quite clear that he could have

        22       formed the view then.  If he didn't know about the

        23       repayment mechanism or a deferred payment mechanism at that

        24       time, given that it was paid for in cash, it could be

        25       viewed as a donation then.  2000 is entirely different.  I

        26       accept that.

        27

        28       THE COMMISSIONER:   Quite.  You'll note that all of the

        29       questions I asked related to 2000.  Yes, Mr Agius.

        30

        31       MR AGIUS:   Let me reassure my learned friend that there is

        32       nothing of any amusement to those asking the questions, if

        33       my learned intends to include in that phrase myself.  I'm

        34       not at all amused.

        35

        36       Q.   Mr Stott, by what mental process do you reach the

        37       conclusion that the provision of this wheat upon terms that

        38       there be payment for the wheat five years later with

        39       interest can today in any way be regarded as a donation?

        40       A.   Mr Agius, I have answered that question to the best of

        41       my --

        42

        43       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Please answer it again.

        44       A.   -- ability.  I understood it was a donation at the

        45       time.  I was not clear on how BHP were going to receive

        46       value for that cargo.  I would not have expected BHP to

        47       make a donation out of the goodness of their heart unless
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         1       they expected to receive some economic benefit from that

         2       action at some stage in the future.  We have discussed the

         3       various ways in which that might have occurred.

         4

         5       MR AGIUS:   Q.   On 15 September, when Mr Davidson Kelly

         6       sent you his draft letter, which was to be a draft letter

         7       for your approval before it was sent to you and AWB, he

         8       said, speaking of the transaction:

         9

        10            The cargo was delivered --

        11

        12       he's speaking in the past tense --

        13

        14            on the basis that BHP Petroleum would be

        15            reimbursed in due course for the cargo, not

        16            later than 5 years from the date of

        17            shipment, with interest running at 10% per

        18            annum compound.  The debt falls due on [  ]

        19            and the amount due to BHP Petroleum,

        20            including interest, will at that date stand

        21            at US$[8] million.

        22

        23       It goes on to say:

        24

        25            BHP Petroleum has appointed The Tigris

        26            Petroleum Corporation Limited as its agent

        27            to achieve the recovery of the outstanding

        28            obligation, and I should be very grateful

        29            if AWB Limited could assist us in achieving

        30            that result.

        31

        32       Now, having read those two paragraphs, you must have

        33       concluded that, at the time the cargo was delivered, the

        34       cargo had been delivered on the basis of an expectation by

        35       BHP Petroleum that it would be paid for that cargo not

        36       later than five years from the date of shipment.

        37       A.   No.

        38

        39       Q.   Why would you not have drawn that conclusion when you

        40       read this in September 2000?

        41       A.   As at September 2000, when I read this, I've

        42       understood that this is a mechanism that BHP has proposed,

        43       has put to seek that repayment.

        44

        45       Q.   Why would you not have understood the plain, ordinary

        46       English meaning of the words, "The cargo was delivered on

        47       the basis that BHP Petroleum would be reimbursed in due
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         1       course" - why would you not have understood those words to

         2       mean that that was a condition of the delivery of the

         3       cargo, reimbursement?

         4       A.   It would be reimbursed in due course.  I accept that

         5       that's what I've been told in this letter.

         6

         7       Q.   And you accept that that's what you were being told

         8       was a condition of the delivery?

         9       A.   That they would be reimbursed in some form.

        10

        11       Q.   No, no, would be reimbursed in due course for the

        12       cargo not later than five years from the date of shipment,

        13       with interest running at 10 per cent compound, the debt

        14       falls due, et cetera, and will stand at US$8m.  There's no

        15       suggestion of in some form, unless the form is US$8m?

        16       A.   When this letter was written to me in 2000, this is

        17       the mechanism that BHP has obviously decided to pursue to

        18       receive value for the cargo.  It is not the mechanism that

        19       I understood to be in place at the time the cargo was

        20       shipped.  The mechanism --

        21

        22       Q.   I'm not asking you about what you understood to be the

        23       case in 1995 or 1996.  I've not suggested that to you.  I'm

        24       asking you what you understood to be the case following

        25       your receipt of this draft letter in September 2000.

        26       A.   I understood this to be the case when I received this

        27       letter, draft letter, in 2000.

        28

        29       Q.   So will you agree that, when you received this draft

        30       letter in September 2000, you understood that the cargo had

        31       been delivered on a basis which required BHP Petroleum to

        32       be paid not later than five years after shipment together

        33       with interest, and that that agreement had resulted in a

        34       debt of some US$8m?

        35       A.   This letter advised me that this was one of the many

        36       options that BHP was pursuing at the time.

        37

        38       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Where does it say that in the

        39       letter?

        40       A.   It doesn't say that in the letter, Commissioner --

        41

        42       Q.   No, it doesn't.

        43       A.   -- but if BHP - if sanctions had lifted and BHP had

        44       won the Halfaya oil field development, I'm sure that BHP

        45       would never have sought the recovery of this particular

        46       obligation in this manner.  So it was not clear to me at

        47       that time, in 1995 --
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         1

         2       Q.   No, no, we're talking about 2000.

         3       A.   Well, in 2000, Commissioner, this letter has brought

         4       to my attention that this is the mechanism that BHP has

         5       elected to seek recovery.

         6

         7       Q.   Just read the words of the sentence, would you,

         8       please, the first sentence of paragraph 3?

         9       A.

        10

        11            The cargo was delivered on the basis that

        12            BHP Petroleum would be reimbursed in due

        13            course for the cargo...

        14

        15       Q.   It's telling you the basis upon which BHP understood

        16       they had delivered the cargo; isn't it?

        17       A.   No, Commissioner, it's telling me that BHP

        18       was - delivered the cargo --

        19

        20       Q.   What do the words "delivered on the basis" mean?

        21       A.   On the basis - the cargo was delivered on the basis

        22       that BHP Petroleum would be reimbursed in due course for

        23       the cargo.  It doesn't - that leaves a multitude of options

        24       open on how BHP might make --

        25

        26       Q.   No, it doesn't:  "not later than 5 years from the date

        27       of shipment, with interest running at 10%"?

        28       A.   That was one of the options that I understood BHP was

        29       pursuing.

        30

        31       Q.   Mr Stott, are you unable to understand what that

        32       paragraph means?

        33       A.   I understand what it means to me, Commissioner, and

        34       I'm trying --

        35

        36       Q.   It says nothing about options.  It expresses the basis

        37       upon which a cargo was delivered, and it speaks of recovery

        38       of a debt with interest.

        39       A.   Commissioner, this letter does not describe to me on

        40       the basis on which the cargo was delivered.

        41

        42       Q.   That's what it says it's doing.  It says, "The cargo

        43       was delivered on the basis" --

        44       A.   That it would be reimbursed in due course for that

        45       cargo.  BHP would have had many options in front of it.

        46

        47       Q.   Mr Stott, it doesn't mention options.  It doesn't
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         1       address options at all.  It says this is the basis on which

         2       an act was done, namely, delivery of cargo.

         3       A.   Commissioner, I have answered the question as best I

         4       can.

         5

         6       Q.   Well, I have to say to you that I don't think you've

         7       answered it at all.

         8       A.   Well --

         9

        10       THE COMMISSIONER:   You go on, Mr Agius.

        11

        12       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Stott, do you see that the paragraph

        13       goes on to say, "The debt falls due"?

        14       A.   Yes, Mr Agius.

        15

        16       Q.   And that the amount due, including interest, "will at

        17       that date stand at US$[8] million"?

        18       A.   Yes.

        19

        20       Q.   Do you see that the letter goes on to ask you if you

        21       would open discussions with appropriate parties relating to

        22       the recovery of the obligation?

        23       A.   Yes.

        24

        25       Q.   The letter envisages that you would be meeting with

        26       "His Excellency Dr Mohammed Salih"?

        27       A.   Yes.  It's not spelt correctly - Dr Mohammed Mehdi

        28       Saleh.

        29

        30       Q.   Leaving aside the spelling, we know to whom it's

        31       referring, but do you see that the letter envisages that

        32       you will be meeting with "His Excellency Dr Mohammed

        33       Salih"?

        34       A.   Yes.

        35

        36       Q.   Mr Stott, it would have been commercial suicide for

        37       anybody seeking to recover the cost of this wheat and

        38       asking you to assist to brief you on facts as to the

        39       background of this deal if the facts were not true, would

        40       it not?

        41       A.   Sorry, Mr Agius, but you've used the word "suicide".

        42       I focused on that word.  I don't like that word, so could

        43       you repeat the question without the emotive language,

        44       please?

        45

        46       Q.   There's nothing emotive about the concept of

        47       "commercial suicide".  It means it would put an end to any
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         1       commercial negotiations if you were to put facts or put

         2       matters to Dr Mohammed Saleh which were not in fact the

         3       facts.

         4       A.   I have been asked to carry a letter to - for BHP

         5       Petroleum to Dr Mohammed Mehdi Saleh and raise the issue.

         6

         7       Q.   You've been asked to do more than carry a letter,

         8       Mr Stott; you have been asked if you would open discussions

         9       with appropriate parties relating to the recovery of the

        10       obligation, do you see that?

        11       A.   Yes.

        12

        13       Q.   Indeed, you have been asked to convey "warmest

        14       personal regards to Dr Mohammed Salih" in the expectation,

        15       no doubt, that you would meet with him?

        16       A.   Yes.

        17

        18       Q.   The author of this letter clearly has in mind that you

        19       be armed with background information as to the deal that

        20       BHP had done with the IGB; that's true too, isn't it?

        21       A.   Yes.

        22

        23       Q.   So when we look at this letter in its commercial

        24       situation, we read it as being, "Mr Stott, here's the

        25       background to this deal, this is what happened, we want to

        26       recover that money, please try to assist us in recovering

        27       it"; is that right?

        28       A.   Yes.

        29

        30       Q.   What Mr Davidson Kelly was telling you was that, when

        31       this cargo was delivered to the Iraqis, it was delivered

        32       then on the basis that BHP Petroleum would be reimbursed

        33       and that the debt was now $8m?

        34       A.   No.

        35

        36       Q.   How can you answer "no" to that, Mr Stott, in view of

        37       what we read in this letter and when we read this letter in

        38       the commercial context in which it was forwarded to you?

        39       A.   Because the answer to the question is no.

        40

        41       Q.   On what basis can you say no?

        42       A.   The way you proposed the question to me said that

        43       therefore this proves that that was the basis on which the

        44       cargo was delivered back in 1996, and that is not correct.

        45

        46       Q.   What I put to you was that if that was not the basis

        47       upon which the cargo was delivered, it would be - I used
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         1       the words "commercial suicide"; let me say extremely

         2       commercially unwise - to brief you that that was the basis.

         3       That's what I'm putting to you, and I'm asking you to look

         4       at this letter in its commercial context and I'm asking you

         5       for your comment on that?

         6       A.   And I provided my comment on that to the best of my

         7       ability.

         8

         9       Q.   You do not believe that it would have been unwise of

        10       Mr Davidson Kelly to tell you that this cargo was delivered

        11       on the basis that it would be paid for five years from the

        12       date of shipment with interest if that were not the case?

        13       A.   Mr Agius, I think I've answered your question, and

        14       I've answered it to the best of my ability.  I feel as

        15       though I'm being pushed down a particular path by you to

        16       change the way in which I've answered the question.  I've

        17       answered the question honestly, openly, to the best of my

        18       knowledge at that time.  I feel that you're trying to push

        19       me to change my evidence, but I'm not prepared to do that.

        20       I just think this is an unreasonable line to be pursuing

        21       with me when I genuinely believe that the question - the

        22       way I've answered it, to be an accurate reflection of my

        23       state of knowledge at that time.

        24

        25       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   In September 2000?

        26       A.   In September 2000, when I've received this letter.

        27

        28       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Stott, what I'm doing is giving you an

        29       opportunity to explain your point of view in advance of

        30       later making submissions about the cogency of your point of

        31       view and in advance of making submissions as to whether or

        32       not you do truly hold the point of view for which you

        33       contend, or whether or not you are fabricating evidence.

        34       That is why I am pressing you on this, Mr Stott, because I

        35       want to give you every opportunity to explain why it is

        36       that in September 2000 you still held the view, having been

        37       told what we read in this letter, that the provision of

        38       this grain was a donation.  Do you understand?

        39       A.   I think, Mr Agius, frankly, I feel as though you're

        40       pressing me to change a position on a question that I've

        41       provided you and the Commissioner an answer to on the best

        42       of my knowledge.  You're now threatening me with potential

        43       adverse findings, and I feel that that's quite hostile, and

        44       I'm quite affronted by this pursuit of questioning.

        45

        46       Q.   I've said nothing about findings, Mr Stott.  That is

        47       not my provenance.  Could we bring up, please, exhibit 219,



            .8/2/06 (23)               2220     C E STOTT (Mr Agius)

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1       AWB.0129.0054.

         2

         3       THE COMMISSIONER:   Just before we leave that, do we have a

         4       date for this document exhibit 219?

         5

         6       MR AGIUS:   No, I was coming back to it, Mr Commissioner.

         7       I'll ask Mr Stott.

         8

         9       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, very well.

        10

        11       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Are you able to put a date on that

        12       document, Mr Stott?

        13       A.   No, I can't put a date on that document.  Can we pull

        14       down to the bottom of that document, the handwriting,

        15       please?

        16

        17       Q.   Can you recognise the handwriting?

        18       A.   Yes, I do recognise the handwriting.

        19

        20       Q.   Whose handwriting is it?

        21       A.   It's my manager's, Ron Storey.

        22

        23       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Ron Storey?

        24       A.   Ron Storey.

        25

        26       Q.   Are you able to discern what it says, or not?

        27       A.   "John O'Connor GM Petroleum - not" - it looks like

        28       "director", hyphenated, "of BHP F", finance, "BHP

        29       finance" - I can't work out, it looks like "BHP Finance

        30       Authority" --

        31

        32       Q.   "At"?

        33       A.   "At" - I can't work out the rest of that.  It's,

        34       "review for BHP finance, copy of letter from John O'Connor

        35       to BHP finance agreeing BHP finance to" - I can't make out

        36       that last bit.

        37

        38       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, thank you.

        39

        40       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Stott, I think you've told us that at

        41       the time that this document was prepared the proposed

        42       structure of the transaction was as is set out in the

        43       paragraph so entitled?

        44       A.   Yes.

        45

        46       Q.   And you will see in the middle of that paragraph the

        47       words:
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         1

         2            The IGB will either pay cash or deliver oil

         3            to the value of the L/C in substitution for

         4            cash if UN restrictions on Iraqi oil

         5            exports are terminated within the 5 year

         6            period.

         7

         8       Do you see that?

         9       A.   Yes.

        10

        11       Q.   If that was the proposed arrangement, then it could

        12       not be said, even as at the date of this document, that the

        13       provision of the wheat to the Iraqis was a donation.

        14       A.   Mr Agius, at the time that this document was prepared,

        15       that is an accurate reflection of the way the transaction

        16       was being proposed.

        17

        18       Q.   No, accepting that --

        19       A.   The transaction did not proceed down that manner.  The

        20       transaction proceeded on the basis of payment via third

        21       parties.

        22

        23       Q.   Yes, I am accepting that, as at the date of this

        24       document, the transaction was as is proposed and as is set

        25       out under the paragraph "Structure of transaction"?

        26       A.   Correct.

        27

        28       Q.   For the purpose of these questions, I am accepting

        29       that that was the proposal and that that proposal never

        30       came to fruition.

        31       A.   Correct.

        32

        33       Q.   I'm asking you to think about this matter as at the

        34       date when that was the proposal; do you understand?

        35       A.   Yes.

        36

        37       Q.   A component of that proposal was that the IGB will

        38       either pay cash or oil to the value of the LC in

        39       substitution for cash if the UN restrictions on Iraqi oil

        40       exports were terminated within the five-year period, so

        41       that was part of the proposal?

        42       A.   At that time, yes.

        43

        44       Q.   At that time.  So you will agree that, at that time,

        45       the proposal included a component which required the IGB to

        46       pay cash or deliver oil to the value of the LC?

        47       A.   That is what was contemplated at the time that this
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         1       letter to the managing director was prepared - not letter

         2       --

         3

         4       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   The memorandum.  Memorandum?

         5       A.   Memorandum, thank you, Commissioner.

         6

         7       MR AGIUS:   Q.   At that time how, consistent with that,

         8       could it be said that the provision of this wheat was a

         9       donation?

        10       A.   Mr Agius, we have been - you've run me round on this

        11       issue.  I understood it was a donation at that time that

        12       BHP expected to get some value for, but that was a

        13       donation.  So --

        14

        15       Q.   How could it be said to be a donation if the IGB were

        16       required to either pay cash or deliver oil to the value of

        17       the wheat; how could it be said to be a donation?

        18       A.   Well, that's a commercial donation.  They made a

        19       donation which they expect to receive some value for in

        20       some form.  That was what was stated at the time of this

        21       particular transaction.  The transaction, as I've said to

        22       you, did not proceed on this basis.

        23

        24       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   We understand that, but it's not

        25       the expectation of receiving some value; it's the

        26       expectation of either receiving $5m in cash, which is the

        27       value of the wheat, or $5m of oil, equivalent value of the

        28       wheat?

        29       A.   Or, Commissioner, if they had won an oil field

        30       development, I'm sure BHP would never have pursued any

        31       other mechanism.

        32

        33       Q.   You may be sure of that, but it's not referred to at

        34       all in this document, is it?

        35       A.   No, but that's the - that's why there was a multitude

        36       of possible scenarios that may have occurred.  No fixed

        37       mechanism was determined at that time.  The transaction

        38       proceeded on the basis of the DFAT approval, on the basis

        39       of payment via third parties.  BHP was that third party.

        40       So from an AWB perspective I've sold a cargo of grain to

        41       the Iraqis which suited me, Iraq was a very important

        42       market for us and it was a good sale to put on.  I've

        43       received value payment, cash against documents, from BHP

        44       for that cargo.  I am not aware of what arrangements BHP

        45       have in place with the Central Bank of Iraq or the Ministry

        46       of Oil or SOMO or the IGB.  I am not aware of that.  I was

        47       on the AWB side of the transaction.  I was looking after
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         1       the Australian wheat growers' interests, not BHP's

         2       interests.  They have a whole group of people scattered all

         3       over the world to look after their interests.  That was not

         4       a concern to me what BHP was doing.  They looked after

         5       their own interests at that time.

         6

         7       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Stott, it's not true entirely to say

         8       that you were not looking after BHP's interests at that

         9       time, is it?  BHP did not want to be disclosed or recorded

        10       as the principal on the contract?

        11       A.   If a counter party asks for confidentiality of an

        12       agreement, I respect that confidentiality.

        13

        14       Q.   And you were assisting BHP by ensuring that the AWB

        15       was the principal on the contract; isn't that right?

        16       A.   That's correct.

        17

        18       Q.   Against the knowledge that there was a proposal that

        19       the IGB would in fact pay cash or deliver oil to the value

        20       of the LC?

        21       A.   No.

        22

        23       Q.   Well, Mr Stott, why should we not read this document,

        24       exhibit 219, in that way?

        25       A.   Because the transaction was being contemplated in this

        26       manner at that time that this document was prepared.  As

        27       I've said to you in evidence I've given previously in

        28       response to these questions, this transaction did not

        29       proceed on that basis.  It proceeded on the base because -

        30       it proceeded on the basis of cash payment via third

        31       parties, which was ultimately approved by the UN.  DFAT

        32       were initially reluctant to put that proposition - that

        33       proposal forward.  We had extensive discussions with DFAT

        34       and the committee that was established by DFAT, because

        35       this was an unwelcome development.  DFAT said that they

        36       wanted the Iraqis to adopt the Oil-for-Food Program.  They

        37       did not want the Iraqis to feed themselves and find other

        38       ways.  So they found this a very, very unhelpful

        39       development.  Therefore, they did not want to have the

        40       payment via third parties.  That was inconsistent with the

        41       Hyundai cargo that went in April 1995.  There were three

        42       parties that wanted to be - that were contemplating funding

        43       cargoes via this mechanism.  DFAT, after much discussion,

        44       came back to me and said, "We are prepared to put your

        45       application to the UN on the basis of payment via third

        46       parties, on the proviso that you declare who the parties

        47       are."   I declared that Mitsubishi and the other company,
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         1       the Korean company, were the two parties that were also

         2       interested in funding cargoes via this mechanism, and I

         3       advised BHP - I advised DFAT that I was unable to disclose

         4       the other party because the other party did not want to be

         5       disclosed at this point in time.

         6

         7            The other parties, having done that - DFAT put the

         8       application through to the UN and the UN, as the Iraqis

         9       said that they would, came back and approved the

        10       transaction and a sale through the UN, payment via third

        11       parties.  At that time DFAT were saying that that was not a

        12       mechanism that was going to be acceptable to the UN and

        13       they went back and took legal advice to that effect and I

        14       offered at that time to send up lawyers to DFAT to discuss

        15       why we thought their interpretation of sanctions were very

        16       strident.

        17

        18            The other two cargoes, the other two companies, after

        19       we had the approval, no longer contacted us, and the only

        20       cargo that was executed via payment via third parties was

        21       the BHP Petroleum cargo.

        22

        23       Q.   Mr Stott, I want to take you back to my question.  You

        24       have agreed that you were assisting BHP by ensuring that

        25       AWB was the principal on the contract.

        26       A.   Yes.

        27

        28       Q.   And at the time that that proposal was put forward it

        29       was - that is, that BHP not be the principal - against the

        30       background that there was at that time a proposal that the

        31       IGB would in fact pay cash or deliver oil to the value of

        32       the LC; isn't that right?

        33       A.   No.

        34

        35       Q.   Well, would you look at exhibit 219, the exhibit

        36       before you.  Is it on your screen?

        37       A.   Yes --

        38

        39       Q.   Exhibit 219?

        40       A.   219 is not on my screen.

        41

        42       Q.   It's "Supplementary Managing Directors report for

        43       verbal presentation".

        44

        45       THE COMMISSIONER:   It's exhibit 219, Mr Stott.

        46

        47       MR AGIUS:   Q.   It is barcoded AWB.0129.0064.
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         1       A.   I accept that.

         2

         3       Q.   It's the document about which I've been examining you

         4       for the last 20 minutes.

         5       A.   Okay.

         6

         7       Q.   You see under "Background", the last sentence:

         8

         9            Therefore, BHP don't want to be recorded as

        10            principal in the contract.

        11

        12       Do you see that?

        13       A.   Yes.

        14

        15       Q.   Do you see, in the structure of the transaction, that

        16       the IGB would either pay cash or deliver oil to the value

        17       of the LC; do you see that?

        18       A.   Yes.

        19

        20       Q.   Do you see the next line:

        21

        22            The AWB has approval from the UN to sell

        23            wheat to Iraq.

        24

        25       Do you see that?

        26       A.   Yes.

        27

        28       Q.   Was that an approval in those terms, that the AWB be

        29       the seller and Iraq be the purchaser of wheat at a certain

        30       price?

        31       A.   No.

        32

        33       Q.   What were the terms of the approval that you had -

        34       that is, that the AWB, the Australian Wheat Board, had - to

        35       sell wheat to Iraq?  What were the terms of that approval

        36       as referred to in this document?

        37       A.   I haven't seen that approval, but I had understood

        38       that the shipment of the Ikan Sepat went against an

        39       approval that went through the UN that referred to payment

        40       via third parties.

        41

        42       Q.   Yes, I'm not asking you about that; I'm asking you

        43       about what was the approval to which that sentence refers,

        44       "The AWB has approval from the UN to sell wheat to Iraq" -

        45       what approval did the AWB have at that time?

        46       A.   I don't know.

        47
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         1       Q.   It was not approval from the UN for the transaction,

         2       structured as it is set out in the paragraph immediately

         3       above, was it?

         4       A.   No.

         5

         6       Q.   Was it no more than a simple approval for the AWB to

         7       sell wheat to the IGB, with AWB declared as the vendor and

         8       the Iraqis or the IGB being declared as the purchaser?

         9       A.   I don't - I haven't seen that approval that that

        10       letter refers to.

        11

        12       Q.   You I think have agreed that this was a document

        13       prepared by you and sent on to Mr Storey?

        14       A.   That's right, in 1995.

        15

        16       Q.   You can't recall what was the nature of the approval

        17       to which you were referring when you said, "The AWB has

        18       approval from the UN to sell wheat to Iraq"?

        19       A.   The AWB has approval from the UN to sell wheat to

        20       Iraq, yes, it was constantly receiving approvals from the

        21       UN to sell wheat to Iraq.

        22

        23       Q.   So were you --

        24       A.   That was not in dispute.  We sold a lot of wheat to

        25       Iraq.

        26

        27       Q.   Was that all you were meaning to imply when you said

        28       that in this document?

        29       A.   Well, the approval mechanism - on every occasion I

        30       went through the approval mechanism with DFAT and went to

        31       the UN, so, yes, it appears that I said that we have

        32       approval to sell wheat to Iraq.

        33

        34       Q.   I suggest that what in substance you were saying in

        35       this document was this:

        36

        37            BHP does not want to be seen as the vendor

        38            of this wheat to Iraq.

        39

        40       That's why you've said, "BHP don't want to be recorded as

        41       principal in the contract", but you then conveyed that the

        42       AWB could, however, sell wheat to Iraq within current

        43       approvals from the UN and that, if a contract were prepared

        44       which reflected AWB as the vendor and the IGB as the buyer,

        45       that would be covered by UN approval.  What you were

        46       suggesting in this document was there ought to be a side

        47       transaction in relation to payment for that wheat such that
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         1       effectively BHP would pay the AWB for the wheat on bill of

         2       lading and that BHP would have a side agreement with the

         3       IGB for deferred payment.  That's what I suggest to you is

         4       the effect of this document.  What do you say about that?

         5       A.   Mr Agius, I think you have outlined how you have

         6       interpreted this document.  You have asked in that many

         7       questions.  Some of the questions that you have asked are

         8       correct and some of them are not correct.  I'm happy to go

         9       through question by question with you and help you clarify

        10       what the intent of this document was.  Let me assure you

        11       there was never ever any intent by the AWB to operate

        12       outside sanctions.

        13

        14       Q.   I suggest to you that is entirely what this document

        15       is about.

        16       A.   Well, that proposition is completely wrong.

        17

        18       Q.   I suggest to you that this document is about

        19       structuring a payment mechanism which would be outside the

        20       UN sanctions but would satisfy BHP in its desire to provide

        21       the wheat to the Iraqis on a deferred payment basis.

        22       A.   That proposition is wrong.

        23

        24       Q.   Did you ever provide Mr Davidson Kelly with any

        25       comments on the proposed draft letter that he had sent you?

        26       A.   I don't - when Mr Davidson Kelly asked me to carry a

        27       letter for him and he sent me a draft of that letter, I

        28       said I will only carry a letter that I have seen, I am not

        29       prepared to carry a letter that I do not know the contents

        30       of to hand to His Excellency Mohammed Mehdi Saleh until -

        31       because I certainly didn't want to upset our trading

        32       relationship with His Excellency.  So I asked - I said to

        33       Norman I would be happy to carry the letter, but I would

        34       certainly want to see a draft of that letter before I

        35       carried it, to ensure that it would not offend one of the

        36       Australian wheat growers' most important customers.

        37

        38       Q.   You may be ahead of me, Mr Stott.  Could we bring up,

        39       please, AWB.0106.0104.  This is exhibit 212.  This is the

        40       email from Mr Davidson Kelly to yourself of 15 September

        41       2000 in which he says:

        42

        43            Here is a draft of a letter to the AWB re

        44            the BHPP receivable.  Comments appreciated

        45            and a formal version will be delivered to

        46            you asap.

        47
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         1       Then attached to that was the draft of a letter to

         2       yourself, which is also part of exhibit 212, and could we

         3       bring that up.  It's AWB.0129.0070.  Did you make any

         4       comments on that draft, as requested by Mr Davidson Kelly?

         5       A.   I probably said to Mr Davidson Kelly, having read that

         6       draft, that that looks okay for me and I'd be happy to

         7       carry that letter for him.

         8

         9       Q.   That letter is a letter directed to you, is it not?

        10       A.   Yes.

        11

        12       Q.   Did Mr Davidson Kelly have in mind that you should

        13       carry that letter and pass that to the Iraqis, is that what

        14       he said to you, or are you speaking of another letter that

        15       was to be passed to the Iraqis concerning this debt?

        16       A.   I think there was another letter.

        17

        18       Q.   Yes, so I'm just asking you about this letter --

        19       A.   Yes.

        20

        21       Q.   -- nothing to do with carrying a letter to the Iraqis.

        22       Did you make any comment on the draft that

        23       Mr Davidson Kelly had sent to you?

        24       A.   No.

        25

        26       Q.   Did you have any conversation with him about that

        27       draft?

        28       A.   I think Mr Davidson Kelly may have rung me and asked

        29       if I'd received it, and I may have said to him that I had -

        30       confirmed that I have received it and it looks okay.

        31

        32       Q.   So you approved the draft in the form in which you had

        33       received it; is that right?

        34       A.   No, I did not approve the draft.  I was asked for

        35       comments.  I did not approve this particular document.  I

        36       was not the approval process.  This is a document that was

        37       sent to me by BHP Petroleum.  Far be it for me to approve

        38       BHP Petroleum's letters.  I was not employed by BHP

        39       Petroleum at this point in time.

        40

        41       Q.   You said "it looks okay"; is that right?

        42       A.   It looks - I said that I may have said it looks okay.

        43

        44       Q.   Well, did you say that or not?

        45       A.   This is in 2000 and I don't recall exactly what I

        46       would have said on that phone conversation.

        47
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         1       Q.   Could we bring up, please, AWB.0102.0185.  This is on

         2       the letterhead of Tigris Petroleum, Mr Stott, as you will

         3       observe, directed to you, at AWB Limited.  It's dated

         4       28 September --

         5       A.   Yes.

         6

         7       Q.   -- 2000, and that is nine days after Mr Norman

         8       Davidson Kelly's email to you?

         9       A.   Yes.

        10

        11       Q.   If we go to the second page, you'll see that it's

        12       signed by him?

        13       A.   Yes.

        14

        15       Q.   And it appears to be the engrossed form of the draft

        16       that he had sent to you nine days earlier.

        17       A.   Yes.

        18

        19       Q.   There is one material difference that I want to draw

        20       your attention to and ask for your comments on.  The draft

        21       recited in its first paragraph this, bearing in mind that

        22       it was a draft letter directed to you:

        23

        24            In your capacity as International Marketing

        25            Manager, Middle East, you were helpful in

        26            assisting BHP Petroleum procure and deliver

        27            a cargo of [ ] tonnes of Australian wheat

        28            to Iraq in January 1996, prior to the

        29            adoption of the United Nations Oil-for-Food

        30            Program.  The cost of the shipment was

        31            US$5m.

        32

        33       And in the letter you see on the screen the reference to

        34       you is removed, and it simply says:

        35

        36            The Australian Wheat Board was helpful in

        37            assisting BHP Petroleum procure and deliver

        38            a cargo of --

        39

        40       and there is substituted for the blank "20,833 metric

        41       tonnes" - do you see that?

        42       A.   Yes, I see - well, I don't see - I have on the screen

        43       the letter --

        44

        45       Q.   You can see what I've read to you, that the Australian

        46       Wheat Board - you can see that --

        47       A.   Yes, I can see that.
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         1

         2       Q.   -- in the letter of 28 September 2000, can't you?

         3       A.   I can.

         4

         5       Q.   Did you ask Mr Davidson Kelly to delete from the draft

         6       letter the reference to yourself, the draft recording these

         7       words, "In your capacity as International Marketing

         8       Manager, Middle East, you were helpful in assisting BHP

         9       Petroleum"?

        10       A.   No.

        11

        12       Q.   Do you know how it came about that the reference to

        13       yourself as being the person who had been helpful in

        14       assisting BHP was deleted from the draft and not included

        15       in the engrossed letter?

        16       A.   No.

        17

        18       MR AGIUS:   I tender the letter of 28 September,

        19       AWB.0102.0185.

        20

        21       EXHIBIT #220 LETTER FROM TIGRIS PETROLEUM TO MR STOTT,

        22       DATED 28/9/2000, BARCODED AWB.0102.0185

        23

        24       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Stott, you say that when it came time

        25       to carry a letter to the Iraqis, you wanted to be sure that

        26       you'd seen the letter - I don't mean to quote you word for

        27       word, but in substance you were saying that you wanted to

        28       be sure that you were not damaging the relationship between

        29       the AWB and the IGB; is that right?

        30       A.   That's correct.

        31

        32       Q.   So you were mindful, then, of the sensitive nature of

        33       the AWB's role in assisting Tigris to retrieve this debt?

        34       A.   Yes.

        35

        36       Q.   No doubt you would also have wanted to be sure that,

        37       in assisting Tigris to have this debt satisfied, the AWB

        38       was not involved in any breach of UN sanctions?

        39       A.   Yes.

        40

        41       Q.   You say in your statement that you had conversations

        42       with DFAT during October of the year 2000.

        43       A.   Yes.

        44

        45       Q.   Did you not, during the course of any conversation

        46       with DFAT in October 2000, raise with DFAT the proposal

        47       that AWB assist Tigris in seeking to have the Iraqis meet
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         1       the payment that was due from the delivery of wheat five

         2       years earlier?

         3       A.   No.

         4

         5       Q.   Why not?

         6       A.   It was not an issue that I needed to raise with DFAT.

         7       This was an issue for BHP to raise with DFAT, not an issue

         8       of mine.

         9

        10       Q.   But you were assisting Tigris to recover this money

        11       from the Iraqis?

        12       A.   I was carrying a letter to His Excellency for BHP and

        13       Tigris.

        14

        15       Q.   You were assisting Tigris to recover this money from

        16       the Iraqis, were you not?

        17       A.   Not at this point.  At this point I am trying to - I

        18       am using reasonable endeavours to assist BHP.

        19

        20       Q.   So the answer to my question is yes, isn't it, rather

        21       than no?

        22       A.   No, the answer to your question is no.

        23

        24       Q.   You were assisting BHP, were you?

        25       A.   I was carrying a letter for BHP to deliver to His

        26       Excellency, Mohammed Mehdi Saleh.

        27

        28       Q.   I asked you the question you were assisting Tigris to

        29       recover this money from the Iraqis, were you not, and your

        30       answer was:

        31

        32            Not at this point.  At this point I am

        33            trying to - I am using reasonable

        34            endeavours to assist BHP.

        35

        36       I am simply putting back to you your answer.  Did you have

        37       in mind that you were using reasonable endeavours to assist

        38       BHP or not?

        39       A.   Yes.

        40

        41       Q.   Why not, then, ask DFAT whether or not, in assisting

        42       BHP, you would be acting within the sanctions?

        43       A.   Because that was not an issue at that time.  The issue

        44       at that time was to carry the letter.

        45

        46       Q.   Can I suggest to you that it ought to have been an

        47       issue at that time, and let me frame that question against
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         1       this background:  in 1995-1996 you were aware that DFAT had

         2       not approved and that the UN would be unlikely to approve a

         3       proposal which involved a deferred payment by the Iraqis.

         4       In 2000 you were told by Mr Davidson Kelly that in fact the

         5       wheat had been sold on the basis of a deferred payment.

         6       Against that background, why would you not have raised with

         7       DFAT the role that you were about to undertake and what you

         8       knew of what BHP was proposing before you carried any

         9       letter to the Iraqis?

        10       A.   It was not my role, Mr Agius; it was BHP's role.  They

        11       had the arrangements with the Iraqis, whatever they may

        12       have been, and it was their role to clear any issues that

        13       they had.  That was their responsibility, not mine.

        14

        15       Q.   You were assisting them?

        16       A.   I was carrying a letter for them.

        17

        18       Q.   They're your words, Mr Stott:  you were assisting

        19       them?

        20       A.   By carrying a letter for them.

        21

        22       Q.   Why not endeavour to protect AWB's position and ensure

        23       that in fact what you were doing was permitted under the

        24       sanctions?

        25       A.   At that time we carried a letter for them.  At a later

        26       point in time we took, as a company, legal advice on this

        27       particular matter to ensure that what we were doing was

        28       acceptable under the sanctions regime.  My role at that

        29       point in time was to carry the initial letter on the

        30       delegation in October.

        31

        32       Q.   When did you take that legal advice?

        33       A.   That legal advice was - I'd have to refer to the

        34       counsel assisting the company, I'm not sure when the

        35       company took that legal advice, but the legal team was

        36       working through the issue and took external legal advice on

        37       subject.  It was obviously --

        38

        39       MR JUDD:   If the witness is going to go on, having

        40       deferred to counsel assisting the company, sir, I would

        41       simply remind me that he's presently advised the position

        42       is the privilege is claimed in relation to it and he should

        43       not proceed to disclose the advice.  I don't take my friend

        44       to be asking him what it is.

        45

        46       THE COMMISSIONER:   No.

        47
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         1       MR AGIUS:   Mr Commissioner, can I raise a point that

         2       arises?  It will arise later, when I come to deal with this

         3       issue in its temporal context.  It's one thing to claim

         4       legal professional privilege concerning the content of the

         5       advice, but there are two factual circumstances here and

         6       two aspects which may or may not have been the subject of

         7       advice.  The first is the role that AWB took in assisting

         8       to recoup the money from the Iraqis.  That's one aspect.

         9       The second aspect is the payment of that money by AWB to

        10       Tigris.

        11

        12            As I understand this witness's evidence, he is praying

        13       in aid advice on the first issue that I have identified,

        14       the role that AWB took in recouping the money from the

        15       Iraqis.  I'm not sure, with respect, that there was any

        16       legal advice dealing with that aspect.  I suspect that the

        17       legal advice dealt with the second aspect; that is, the

        18       legality of the payment of the money to Tigris.  That is a

        19       matter which I raise for consideration by my learned

        20       friend.  I don't want to know the content of the advice,

        21       whether the advice said that, acting in either role, the

        22       AWB was acting lawfully or unlawfully, but we would be

        23       indebted to know which of those two topics the advice dealt

        24       with.

        25

        26       MR JUDD:   Perhaps I can assist to this extent now, sir:

        27       there is a claim in relation to privilege in respect of

        28       both categories.  My friend has identified the second

        29       category in relation to advice concerning the payment of

        30       money to Tigris, and the Commission, or those assisting the

        31       Commission, will be aware of the fact that there have been

        32       some deletions from board minutes in relation to that

        33       advice.  In relation to the first category, I take my

        34       friend's comments to raise as an issue the question whether

        35       or not what Mr Stott is referring to, or what others may

        36       refer to, as legal advice in relation to the role of AWB

        37       is, in truth, legal advice.

        38

        39       THE COMMISSIONER:   I think it's a bit wider.  My

        40       understanding of it is it's a bit wider than that.  It goes

        41       to the question of whether or not, in truth, legal advice

        42       was obtained by AWB in relation to the role that it played

        43       in assisting BHP to recoup or Tigris to recoup the money

        44       from Iraq.

        45

        46       MR JUDD:   Yes.

        47
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         1       THE COMMISSIONER:   Perhaps you could make some inquiries

         2       to see whether, in truth, advice was taken about that at

         3       all.

         4

         5       MR JUDD:   Yes.  In our submission, perhaps I ought to make

         6       those inquiries because we're conscious of there existing

         7       advice in relation to the Tigris matter, but there may be

         8       an overlap between that and iron filings.  Sometimes the

         9       two issues merge in the document.  So we will address the

        10       specific question as to whether there was advice in

        11       connection with that particular issue.

        12

        13       THE COMMISSIONER:   And the times at which such advice was

        14       taken.

        15

        16       MR JUDD:   And the time and its general provenance, yes.

        17

        18       MR AGIUS:   I'd be greatly indebted to my learned friend

        19       for that.

        20

        21       THE COMMISSIONER:   Before we go on.

        22

        23       Q.   Mr Stott, you refer repeatedly to the fact that you

        24       were going to carry a letter.  The letter to you from

        25       Tigris on 28 September doesn't refer to that at all.  What

        26       it says is, "I should be very grateful if you would open

        27       discussions with the appropriate parties relating to

        28       recovery of the obligation".  Did you understand those

        29       words?

        30       A.   I carried a letter.

        31

        32       Q.   Please, did you understand the words I've just read

        33       you?

        34       A.   Yes, I do.

        35

        36       Q.   "I should be very grateful if you would open

        37       discussions with the appropriate parties relating to the

        38       recovery of the obligation ".

        39       A.   Yes, I understand those words.

        40

        41       Q.   Did you understand it to involve anything more than

        42       handing over a letter?

        43       A.   At that time I understood it just to be handing over

        44       the letter.

        45

        46       MR AGIUS:   Q.   In your statement on this point, Mr Stott,

        47       you say this:
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         1

         2            In September 2000 Davidson Kelly wrote to

         3            me advising that BHP Petroleum had

         4            appointed Tigris petroleum as its agent to

         5            recover BHP Petroleum's outstanding debt.

         6            Davidson Kelly wrote requesting AWB

         7            Limited's assistance to open discussion

         8            with the Iraqis about mechanisms for

         9            repayment of the debt.  Davidson Kelly sent

        10            me a draft of this letter for my comments

        11            prior to the final version being sent.

        12

        13       You have said this morning that this statement is true and

        14       correct to the best of your knowledge and belief, and you

        15       said that this portion of it was true and correct as at

        16       22 December 2005, and you have not sought to amend this

        17       portion of your statement today.  May we take it that what

        18       we read in the statement is in fact true and correct at

        19       this point?

        20       A.   Yes.

        21

        22       Q.   So you were aware that, in September 2000, you were

        23       not so much being asked to carry a letter, but in fact you

        24       were being asked, precisely in the terms of this letter of

        25       28 September, to open discussions; is that right?

        26       A.   Yes.

        27

        28       Q.   Relating to the recovery of the obligation?

        29       A.   Yes.

        30

        31       Q.   Which meant commence negotiations, did it not?

        32       A.   No.

        33

        34       Q.   Well, how did you read the words "open discussions"?

        35       A.   That is what the letter - that's what the letter said,

        36       and ultimately I was asked to carry a letter.

        37

        38       Q.   In your statement you say:

        39

        40            Davidson Kelly wrote requesting AWB

        41            Limited's assistance to open discussion

        42            with the Iraqis about mechanisms for the

        43            repayment of the debt.

        44

        45       A.   Yes.

        46

        47       Q.   Is that what you understood you were being asked to
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         1       do --

         2       A.   Yes.

         3

         4       Q.   -- to open discussions about the mechanism of payment

         5       for the debt?

         6       A.   Yes.

         7

         8       Q.   On the basis that, what, AWB would be part of that

         9       mechanism?

        10       A.   No.

        11

        12       Q.   Well, when we read in your statement that

        13       Davidson Kelly wrote requesting assistance to open

        14       discussions with the Iraqis about mechanisms for the

        15       repayment of the debt, what did you understand that you

        16       were to do about mechanisms for repayment of the debt?

        17       A.   In September 2000 I'm not sure that I understood what

        18       Norman was wanting me to do, but ultimately, when I went to

        19       Iraq in October, he asked me to carry a letter for him,

        20       which I carried and delivered - handed over to His

        21       Excellency.

        22

        23       Q.   Mr Stott, I read this portion of your statement to you

        24       and I asked you if it was still true and correct, and the

        25       portion that I read to you included the words

        26       "Davidson Kelly wrote requesting AWB Limited's assistance

        27       to open discussion with the Iraqis about mechanisms for

        28       repayment of the debt ".  Now, were you asked by

        29       Mr Davidson Kelly to raise the issue of mechanisms for

        30       repayment of the debt?

        31       A.   The letter that is on the screen, dated 28 September

        32       2000, is consistent with my statement.  That is what

        33       Mr Davidson Kelly wrote to me and asked me to do.

        34

        35       Q.   So you understood this letter to be a request that you

        36       should open discussions about mechanisms for the repayment

        37       of the debt; is that right?

        38       A.   Yes.

        39

        40       Q.   Now, did you understand that from the letter, or did

        41       you understand that from conversations that you had had

        42       with Mr Davidson Kelly as at 28 September 2000?

        43       A.   I understood what was in this letter.

        44

        45       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   The letter being?

        46       A.   The one that is in front of me at the moment.

        47
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         1       Q.   Exhibit 220.

         2

         3       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Stott, I wonder if you'd look at the

         4       next document, AWB.0102.0184.  This is a facsimile from BHP

         5       to your attention at AWB, from Christine Shaylor:

         6

         7            Norman asked me to forward the attached to

         8            you.  I am investigating the missing

         9            original that Carol Wood sent in the pouch

        10            last week.

        11

        12       Attached to that is a letter which we have as the last

        13       document that you saw on the screen, the 28 September 2000

        14       letter from Mr Norman Davidson Kelly to you.  Could we go

        15       to the next barcode number, 0185, and the next, 0186.  And

        16       the next document, 0187, which is a copy of your letter of

        17       indemnity that we have as exhibit 199.  0188, which is a

        18       copy of the Austwheat Bill that we have as part of

        19       exhibit 119.  0189, which is the second page of the bill,

        20       and 0190, which is the AWB, or the Australian Wheat Board,

        21       invoice, which is also part of exhibit 199.  If we go back

        22       to the fax cover sheet, AWB.0102.0184, you will see that it

        23       refers to eight pages, and apparently, accepting this cover

        24       sheet at its face value, the original had gone missing and

        25       you were being sent the documents we've just been through

        26       by Christine Shaylor at Mr Davidson Kelly's direction; do

        27       you follow that?

        28       A.   Yes.

        29

        30       Q.   And the fax cover sheet is dated 4 October 2000?

        31       A.   Yes.

        32

        33       Q.   In the top right-hand corner of the fax cover sheet we

        34       see some handwriting.  Is that your handwriting?

        35       A.   Yes.

        36

        37       Q.   You've written "Rex/Dom", a reference to Rex Lister

        38       and Dominic Hogan?

        39       A.   Yes.

        40

        41       Q.   "Can we please discuss, Charles 6/10/00", and you've

        42       asked Dominic Hogan for a file, have you?

        43       A.   I've asked him to file the letter, please.

        44

        45       Q.   You're asking him to file those pages?

        46       A.   Yes.

        47
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         1       Q.   Why did you want to speak with Mr Lister and Mr Hogan

         2       about Mr Davidson Kelly's letter to you, which was dated

         3       28 September 2000?

         4       A.   Rex was responsible for the contracts.  Rex would have

         5       been there - Rex has been there for many, many years.  He

         6       was our longest-serving employee, and he would have been

         7       there at the time the shipments were made, so he had the -

         8       Rex's files were very accurately maintained.  Dom is

         9       responsible for the Iraq market at that time, so I have

        10       asked Dom and Rex to have a discussion, because we've

        11       received this request from BHP.

        12

        13       Q.   Did you have in mind at that time that one mechanism,

        14       to use your words from your statement, for the repayment of

        15       the debt would be loading up future contracts for the sale

        16       of wheat to the Iraqis?

        17       A.   No.

        18

        19       Q.   Is that why you asked for Rex Lister and Dominic Hogan

        20       to discuss the matter with you?

        21       A.   No.

        22

        23       Q.   Why would you need to discuss this with Dominic Hogan?

        24       A.   Dominic Hogan I appointed at this time to be the

        25       manager of the Middle East markets.  He was directly

        26       responsible for Iraq.  I was the global marketing manager

        27       responsible for all our activities.  This was a request

        28       that came through from BHP and I have asked Dom to - would

        29       have asked Dom to handle it.

        30

        31       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   What do you mean by "handle it"?

        32       A.   Well, bring Dom - make Dom aware of the request that

        33       we've received and, as the person responsible for the

        34       market, to follow that request.

        35

        36       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Did you inform either Mr Lister or

        37       Mr Hogan that the letter of 28 September 2000 had come to

        38       you as a result of mutual agreement between you and

        39       Mr Davidson Kelly?

        40       A.   No.

        41

        42       Q.   Why was it necessary for Mr Davidson Kelly to clear

        43       with you a draft of the letter that he was proposing to

        44       send to you?

        45       A.   I don't know.

        46

        47       Q.   You don't know?
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         1       A.   No.

         2

         3       Q.   You didn't have a conversation with him in which you

         4       and he discussed this whole proposal and in which you

         5       suggested to him that, "Perhaps you should write to me

         6       about this, but before you do I'd better see what it is

         7       that you wrote"?

         8       A.   No.

         9

        10       Q.   We shouldn't draw any inference, anything like that?

        11       A.   No.

        12

        13       Q.   So when Mr Davidson Kelly sent you the email with the

        14       letter, did it come as a complete surprise to you?

        15       A.   No.

        16

        17       Q.   What did you know in advance of your receipt of the

        18       draft of the letter to you concerning any proposal to seek

        19       AWB's assistance in recovering this debt?

        20       A.   I assume that Norman must have rung me about that time

        21       and told me that he was going to send me some information

        22       which he has sent through.

        23

        24       Q.   That's an assumption?

        25       A.   Yes.

        26

        27       Q.   You don't have any recollection?

        28       A.   No.

        29

        30       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Do you mean the documents attached

        31       to the document on the screen, or do you mean the draft

        32       letter?

        33       A.   Well, the September letter that we have spent time

        34       talking about this morning, and then these documents

        35       provide proof of BHP's ownership of the cargo.  They're

        36       holding the bills of lading to the cargo.

        37

        38       MR AGIUS:   Q.   In the draft letter that Mr Davidson Kelly

        39       sent you, and, indeed, in the final version of 28 September

        40       2000, he says:

        41

        42            I understand that AWB will be making a

        43            visit in the near future to Iraq.

        44

        45       Did you give him that information?

        46       A.   I may have.

        47
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         1       Q.   Had you and Mr Davidson Kelly had a discussion before

         2       your receipt of the draft of the role that AWB could take

         3       in assisting Tigris to recover this debt?

         4       A.   No.

         5

         6       Q.   So in what connection, then, would you have told him

         7       that AWB would be making a visit in the near future to

         8       Iraq?

         9       A.   Would you like me to speculate?

        10

        11       Q.   No, I want you to give a truthful answer.

        12       A.   I am here under oath giving you the truth, Mr Agius.

        13

        14       Q.   Well then you would know, Mr Stott, that a speculation

        15       would be entirely inimical to giving a truthful answer to

        16       that question.  Let me put it to you again:  in what

        17       connection, then, would you have told him that AWB would be

        18       making a visit in the near future to Iraq?

        19       A.   Well, I imagine that Norman would have, once I was

        20       appointed to the head of international sales and

        21       marketing - Norman would have rung and congratulated me on

        22       that appointment and asked whether or not I had any plans

        23       to visit Iraq, and I actually did have plans to visit Iraq

        24       in July.  They were subsequently - had not participated in

        25       that mission.  I subsequently planned to visit Iraq in

        26       September, but there were issues in Asia that rose in

        27       relation to container exports that needed to be addressed,

        28       so I deferred my visit and it was rescheduled until

        29       October, so I imagine that Norman, who was a frequent

        30       visitor to Iraq, the conversation probably went along those

        31       lines, but I can't recall the precise details of any

        32       conversation that I've had.  But I imagine that that would

        33       be how it would have occurred.

        34

        35       THE COMMISSIONER:   Is that a convenient time?

        36

        37       MR AGIUS:   Yes.  Can I tender the fax, including all of

        38       its eight pages, from AWB.0102.0184 through to 0190.

        39

        40       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        41

        42       EXHIBIT #221 EIGHT-PAGE FAX, BARCODED AWB.0102.0184-0190

        43

        44       THE COMMISSIONER:   I will adjourn until 2 o'clock.

        45

        46       LUNCHEON ADJOURNMENT

        47



            .8/2/06 (23)               2241     C E STOTT (Mr Agius)

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1

         2       UPON RESUMPTION:

         3

         4       MR LACAVA:   Commissioner, just before my learned friend

         5       Mr Agius resumes, could I draw to the attention of the

         6       Commission what can only be described as a very ugly

         7       incident that occurred when our client and myself and my

         8       junior were leaving the precincts of the building of this

         9       inquiry at lunchtime.  We do so because, in our submission,

        10       what occurred was arguably a contempt of this Commission,

        11       and it certainly warrants, at the very least, the provision

        12       of protection for our client who appears before this

        13       Commission as a witness, willing to cooperate fully with

        14       the Commission and its inquiries.

        15

        16            As we were leaving the building just after the

        17       luncheon adjournment, the media were filming my client and

        18       myself and my junior - we don't make any complaint about

        19       that.  We accept that the media are here to do a job, and

        20       we expect them to do it properly and professionally, and

        21       they did, save for this:  there was a person who apparently

        22       has some sort of cause or vendetta against the AWB who

        23       presented himself in the doorway downstairs, thrust himself

        24       in front of the cameras, and between the cameras and our

        25       client, to the extent that he was within two to three

        26       inches of his face, asking our client to sign a very large

        27       cheque - when I say "large", about three feet wide - that

        28       was made out for many hundreds of millions of dollars, so

        29       that this person could send it to Saddam Hussein.

        30

        31            Now, in the process, the media were filming this

        32       incident.  I was physically pushed out of the way.  My

        33       client was completely shaken by it over the luncheon

        34       adjournment.  My junior was shaken by it.  In 33 years of

        35       going to court I thought I had seen everything, and

        36       I hadn't until this occurred today.  It was really quite

        37       intimidatory of our client and us who appear for him, and

        38       it should not be tolerated.  Doubtless it will be on

        39       national television this evening for all to see.

        40

        41            Our application is that the film, if there be film

        42       available, be made available to the Commission so that the

        43       Commission can inquire as to whether or not it ought to

        44       take proceedings against this person for contempt.

        45       Further, we would ask that some measure of protection be

        46       afforded to our client as a witness in coming and going to

        47       this inquiry.  The inquiry itself places enough pressure on
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         1       witnesses, because of the sheer volume of documents, the

         2       material to get on top of and the lengthy questioning, but,

         3       in our submission, no witness coming before this inquiry

         4       should feel intimidated by outside parties - parties who do

         5       not appear before the Commission.

         6

         7            I have looked in the room; I don't see the relevant

         8       person in the hearing room.  He is best described as a

         9       person with a cause, but probably more accurately described

        10       as a complete lunatic, but anyone coming before this

        11       inquiry should not have to put up with either a person with

        12       a cause or a lunatic.  Our client comes here attempting to

        13       do his best, but he should not have to be shaken by such

        14       incidents.

        15

        16            I think it is probably the first such incident that

        17       has occurred.  I have noticed this has been a matter that

        18       has taken up a lot of time in the media.  Doubtless other

        19       witnesses have been filmed.  We don't make any complaint

        20       about that.  We wish that it could cease, but we don't have

        21       to put up with being assaulted, for want of a better way to

        22       put it, as we come and go to the inquiry.  It has never

        23       happened to me before or my junior, and we regard ourselves

        24       as quite hardened litigants.

        25

        26            I just wanted to bring it to the attention of you,

        27       Mr Commissioner.  The footage will no doubt be available

        28       and you can see it for yourself and make some decision

        29       about it, but, at the very least, in our submission, some

        30       protection ought to be afforded to those coming and going

        31       to this inquiry.

        32

        33       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, thank you, Mr Lacava.  The matters

        34       you raise are of great seriousness.  There should never be

        35       any threatening of a witness, either before, during or

        36       after the giving of evidence.  Whether the matters you have

        37       described constitute a contempt of this Commission is a

        38       matter on which I obviously will express no opinion at this

        39       point of time.

        40

        41            What I would ask of you is that you arrange for your

        42       instructing solicitors to provide statements from those who

        43       can give evidence about it and I will have steps taken for

        44       a formal request to be made to members of the television

        45       media and any others who may have recorded either with

        46       sound or vision what occurred to retain that film or

        47       audiotape so that the matters can be referred to the
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         1       Federal Police for further investigation.

         2

         3       MR LACAVA:   Thank you, sir.

         4

         5       THE COMMISSIONER:   I will also see what steps, if any, can

         6       be taken to afford witnesses any additional protection.

         7

         8       MR LACAVA:   Thank you, sir.

         9

        10       MR AGIUS:   We will put those matters in train from now,

        11       Mr Commissioner, and have some inquiries made.

        12

        13       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you.

        14

        15       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Stott, can I take you back to

        16       exhibit 211, which was the email from Mr Davidson Kelly to

        17       you of 15 September 2000.  Can we bring that up, please,

        18       AWB.0106.0104.  You said in the course of your evidence

        19       yesterday that you had consulted your electronic diary?

        20       A.   Yes.

        21

        22       Q.   Did you observe an entry in your diary for

        23       13 September 2000?

        24       A.   I looked for - do you have a copy of my diary on

        25       13 September?

        26

        27       Q.   Could we bring up, please, AWB.0178.0359.  Could we go

        28       to 13 September 2000.

        29       A.   Yes.

        30

        31       Q.   Do you see it appears that on 13 September 2000, which

        32       was a Wednesday, you have recorded at 8.30am "Bob Bowker"?

        33       A.   Yes.

        34

        35       Q.   Does that mean you had an appointment to see Mr Bowker

        36       at 8.30 on Wednesday, 13 September?

        37       A.   It would appear that I would have had an appointment

        38       to see Mr Bowker at 8.30 on Wednesday, the 13th.

        39

        40       Q.   Did you see him on that day?

        41       A.   I don't recall seeing Bob Bowker on that day.

        42

        43       Q.   In relation to entries in this diary at that time, did

        44       you have a system as to who had authority to make entries

        45       in your diary?

        46       A.   My personal assistant would make entries in my diary.

        47
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         1       Q.   Did you make any entries of your own?

         2       A.   No.

         3

         4       Q.   Do we understand the icon, which appears to be a

         5       depiction of a figure immediately after 8.30, to be a

         6       computer representation of a meeting?

         7       A.   That's correct.

         8

         9       MR AGIUS:   I tender that page, Commissioner.

        10

        11       EXHIBIT #222 PAGE FROM MR STOTT'S DIARY NOTES

        12       FOR SEPTEMBER 2000, BARCODED AWB.0178.0359

        13

        14       MR AGIUS:   Q.   If we could just move the page a little so

        15       that we could read the whole of the entry for 11 September,

        16       do you see there is an entry there "Iraq meeting - ref

        17       Dom"?

        18       A.   Yes.

        19

        20       Q.   Can you recall the circumstances of that meeting?

        21       A.   No.

        22

        23       Q.   I had taken you yesterday to a document which became

        24       an exhibit, which was in the form of a draft agreement.  It

        25       became exhibit 201.  It is barcoded AWB.0129.0003.  The

        26       last page of that was 0006.  Could we bring that up,

        27       please.  An interrogation of the database comprising the

        28       material provided by AWB has revealed a long list of other

        29       documents that relate to this matter, commencing with

        30       page 0007, if we could bring that up.  This is a draft

        31       dated 21 September 1995 of an agreement between BHP

        32       Development Finance Limited and Mr Lawrenson on behalf of

        33       the Australian Wheat Board, referring to the assignment of

        34       payment rights.  I wonder if you would look through that

        35       document on the screen and just confirm that this

        36       document - and, indeed, the other documents that I am about

        37       to show you as we come to each of them - was a document

        38       which had been prepared as part of the proposed scheme or

        39       transaction that was referred to in the supplementary

        40       managing directors report for verbal presentation, exhibit

        41       219.  You will recall that in the document you prepared for

        42       Mr Storey there is a paragraph that sets out a proposed

        43       transaction?

        44       A.   Yes.

        45

        46       Q.   I want your view as to whether this, and in each case,

        47       as we come to them, each of the other documents I am about
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         1       to show you, were indeed prepared with a view to that

         2       proposal?

         3       A.   Yes.

         4

         5       Q.   Can you say that about this document, or would you

         6       need to read the whole of it?

         7       A.   No, I can say that, yes.

         8

         9       Q.   You can say that about this document?

        10       A.   Yes.

        11

        12       Q.   There is then a document which commences at page 0011.

        13       This is in the form of an Australian Wheat Board Australian

        14       Wheat CIF contract.  Again it is a draft.  It is dated

        15       19 September 1995.

        16       A.   Yes.

        17

        18       Q.   Is this another document that was prepared as part of

        19       that proposal?

        20       A.   Yes.

        21

        22       Q.   Do you recognise any of the handwriting on that page -

        23       that is, 0011 - Mr Stott?

        24       A.   Yes.

        25

        26       Q.   Whose handwriting is it?

        27       A.   Some of it is mine, and I don't - I think some of it

        28       may be Rex Lister's.

        29

        30       Q.   Could you read on to the record the portions of 0011

        31       that you believe are in your handwriting?

        32       A.   Certainly.  Can we go to the top of the document,

        33       please, or is that all the handwriting that is currently on

        34       the screen on the document?

        35

        36       Q.   The first handwriting I see is the circle around "CIF"

        37       and the tick?

        38       A.   It is not on the screen.

        39

        40       Q.   I am sorry.

        41       A.   The "Quantity will depend on negotiated price" is my

        42       handwriting.  "ASW" is my handwriting.  "Or two Australia"

        43       is my handwriting.  "To be shipped during September/October"

        44       is my handwriting.  And it looks as though I have deleted

        45       "subject to receipt of appropriate UN approval".  The --

        46

        47       Q.   The word "received" which is circled after that
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         1       deletion and the tick, is that your handwriting?

         2       A.   It is my handwriting.

         3

         4       Q.   What about the balance of the handwriting on that

         5       page?

         6       A.   I don't know.  It doesn't - it is certainly not mine,

         7       I can affirm that, but I don't know whose it might be.  It

         8       looks as though it is a combination of two different

         9       people's.

        10

        11       Q.   Can we go to the next page - 0012?  Your handwriting

        12       on that page?

        13       A.   No, not down - not on what I can see on the screen.

        14       My handwriting - stop there.  "Buyers are obliged to

        15       discharge the documentary credit cash obligations by

        16       delivering or" - "or pay cash" is my handwriting.

        17

        18       Q.   And the word "legal" and the two lines down the

        19       left-hand margin - are they your markings?

        20       A.   That looks like my handwriting, "legal", but I can't -

        21       it looks like my handwriting, yes.

        22

        23       Q.   Did you mean by that that that proposal was legal, or

        24       did you mean by that that it needed to be referred for a

        25       legal opinion, or did you have some other --

        26       A.   No, it would have been to refer it for legal opinion.

        27

        28       Q.   If we go to what appears to be the next document,

        29       which is 0015, this appears to be a draft of an oil supply

        30       agreement between the Grain Board of Iraq and the State Oil

        31       Marketing Organisation and the Australian Wheat Board.

        32       Again, was this a document prepared as part of the proposal

        33       that's referred to in the memo, exhibit 219?

        34       A.   Yes.

        35

        36       Q.   Do you see any of your markings or handwriting on that

        37       page, 0015?

        38       A.   Yes.

        39

        40       Q.   Could you identify your --

        41       A.   Can we zoom in on the "Operation"?  Thank you.  Where

        42       it says, "If and when UN sanctions are lifted for as long

        43       as the lifting of UN sanctions" - "lifting"?  I can't

        44       actually read what that is, "As long as the lifting of UN

        45       sanctions remains in place"?

        46

        47       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.  I think it says, "For as long as
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         1       the lifting of UN sanctions remains in place, providing

         2       this occurs within five years of the date of Contract No"?

         3       A.   That writing that's there, "Providing this occurs

         4       within five years of date of contract" is not my writing.

         5

         6       Q.   And the preceding two lines are?

         7       A.   Yes.

         8

         9       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Might that word be "remains in force"

        10       rather than "in place"?

        11       A.   Yes, it could be, yes.

        12

        13       Q.   Is that your handwriting, up to "remains in force"?

        14       A.   Yes.

        15

        16       Q.   And then the next is, if we could go to 0018, the

        17       page entitled "Payment Clause".  This is part of the same

        18       document, Mr Stott.  Do we see any of your handwriting or

        19       markings on that page?

        20       A.   Can we expand - thank you.  No, go down further.  It

        21       looks as though that's - if we can stop there, "payment of

        22       cash" in brackets, "- amend" appears to be in my

        23       handwriting.

        24

        25       Q.   I think you will need to look at what's at the bottom

        26       of that page, together with what's at the top of the next

        27       page.  Are any of the markings at the bottom of page 0018

        28       and the top of page 0019 yours?

        29       A.   Can we zoom in on those, please, Mr Agius?  No.

        30

        31       Q.   Then we come to the next document, which is 0020.

        32       This is the form of a letter of credit to be issued by the

        33       Central Bank of Iraq.  Again, this was a document prepared,

        34       was it, as part of the proposal?

        35       A.   Yes.

        36

        37       Q.   Is that your handwriting in the middle of that page,

        38       "increase by 1 year"?

        39       A.   No.

        40

        41       Q.   If we go to 0021, is that your handwriting?

        42       A.   No.

        43

        44       Q.   And page 0023?  This is another draft of a letter of

        45       credit to be issued by the Central Bank of Iraq, again

        46       prepared with a view to the proposal?

        47       A.   Yes.
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         1

         2       Q.   Any of your handwriting on that page - 0023?

         3       A.   I can't see the whole page.  I can only see - no.

         4

         5       Q.   Page 0025?

         6       A.   No.

         7

         8       Q.   Another letter of credit is at page 0026.  Is this

         9       another document prepared with a view to that proposal,

        10       Mr Stott?

        11       A.   It appears to be, yes.

        12

        13       Q.   Is there any of your handwriting on that page?

        14       A.   No.

        15

        16       Q.   Is there any of your handwriting on that page, 0026?

        17       A.   I did answer the question, but no.

        18

        19       Q.   Could we go to page 0029.  This is a handwritten

        20       document of three pages.  Is that in your handwriting?

        21       A.   No.

        22

        23       Q.   Again, does it appear to you to be a document prepared

        24       with the proposal in mind?

        25       A.   Yes.

        26

        27       Q.   Can we go to page 0032.  This is another form of

        28       letter of credit to be issued by the Central Bank of Iraq.

        29       This is AWB.0129.0032.  Again, is this a document prepared

        30       with a view to the proposal, Mr Stott?

        31       A.   Yes.

        32

        33       Q.   Is there any of your handwriting on that page?

        34       A.   Can I see the handwriting on the bottom of the page,

        35       please, zoomed in?  No - no.

        36

        37       Q.   Page 0033.  Is there any of your handwriting on that

        38       page?

        39       A.   Could we zoom in on that page, please?  That's - that

        40       question mark, "Is this needed?", is my handwriting.  And

        41       down the bottom of the page - there doesn't seem to be any

        42       more of my handwriting.

        43

        44       Q.   Then page 0034?  Is there any of your handwriting on

        45       that page?

        46       A.   There doesn't appear to be, no.

        47
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         1       Q.   Page 0035.  Is there any of your handwriting on that

         2       page?

         3       A.   No.

         4

         5       Q.   If we come to the next document, which is again a

         6       draft entitled "Terms of Oil Supply between Grain Board of

         7       Iraq and State Oil Marketing Organisation Baghdad and the

         8       Australian Wheat Board", at page 0036, does that again

         9       appear to have been drawn up with a view to the proposal?

        10       A.   Yes.

        11

        12       Q.   And if we go to page 0037, is there any handwriting or

        13       markings on that page that you made, Mr Stott?

        14       A.   Could we go down to the bottom of the page, please?

        15       No.

        16

        17       Q.   And page 0038?

        18       A.   No.

        19

        20       Q.   Could we go to page 0045, please.  This appears to be

        21       a draft of a contract between the Australian Wheat Board

        22       and the Grain Board of Iraq.  Does it again appear to have

        23       been drawn up with a view to the proposal?

        24       A.   Is there a second page?  This is just the one page.

        25       Can I see the full document, please?  Yes.

        26

        27       Q.   Is that your handwriting on page 0046?

        28       A.   Can we zoom in on that, please?  No.

        29

        30       Q.   Can we go to the next draft contract, page 0047.  This

        31       draft has a number, A2630, and a date, 28 September 1995.

        32       Is that your handwriting?

        33       A.   No.

        34

        35       Q.   Is there any of your handwriting on page 0048?

        36       A.   Can we zoom in on that handwriting, please?  No.

        37

        38       Q.   Then the last draft contract is at page 0050.  Is

        39       there any of your handwriting on that page?

        40       A.   No.

        41

        42       Q.   Finally, if we go to page 0055, this is a fax.  It

        43       appears to be from you to Zuhair.  Again, this was prepared

        44       with a view to the proposal; is that right?

        45       A.   Yes.

        46

        47       Q.   Is there any of your handwriting on that page?
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         1       A.   No.

         2

         3       MR AGIUS:   Mr Commissioner, I will tender the documents

         4       that I have just been through with the witness, commencing

         5       at AWB.0129.0007 through to and inclusive of 0042, and then

         6       from AWB.0129.0045 through to 0055 inclusive.

         7

         8       EXHIBIT #223 DOCUMENTS SHOWN TO MR STOTT, BARCODED

         9       AWB.0129.0007-0042, AND AWB.0129.0045-0055

        10

        11       MR AGIUS:   Q.   I want to return to the chronology that we

        12       were following in relation to the Tigris matter, Mr Stott.

        13       You will recall that I showed you the engrossed letter of

        14       28 September 2000 from Mr Davidson Kelly to yourself.

        15       A.   I recall you showing me that letter, yes.

        16

        17       Q.   The next matter that I want to bring to your attention

        18       is an email from yourself to Mr Davidson Kelly of

        19       16 October 2000.  It is at AWB.5009.0368.  I wonder if you

        20       would take a moment to read that, and perhaps indicate when

        21       you have finished reading it.

        22       A.   Yes.  I have finished reading it.

        23

        24       Q.   Was that an email that you sent to Mr Davidson Kelly?

        25       A.   Yes.

        26

        27       Q.   On your way out of Iraq?

        28       A.   Yes.

        29

        30       Q.   You refer to having delivered a copy of Mr Davidson

        31       Kelly's letter to your counterparts.  Did you deliver a

        32       copy of a letter to the Director-General?

        33       A.   Yes.

        34

        35       Q.   You go on to say:

        36

        37            During the meeting with the minister I also

        38            raised the subject and advised that we had

        39            received correspondence from you in

        40            relation to the forthcoming date.

        41

        42       Was that a reference to the forthcoming date being the five

        43       years that would have elapsed by 26 January 2001?

        44       A.   It would have been a reference to that.

        45

        46       Q.   You had said in the second paragraph that you

        47       delivered a copy of the letter and, at the same time,
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         1       explained the background to the shipment.  When you

         2       explained the background to the shipment, did you explain

         3       the background as it is set out in Mr Davidson Kelly's

         4       letter to you of 28 September 2000?

         5       A.   No.  I would have explained it as the letter that -

         6       I wouldn't have explained it as per that letter, no.

         7

         8       Q.   What did you say?

         9       A.   I would have explained it as per the letter that I was

        10       carrying.

        11

        12       Q.   Did you retain a copy of that letter?

        13       A.   Well, I assume that there is a copy of that letter on

        14       AWB files.  I don't keep - the AWB files are where all the

        15       letters and correspondence are kept.

        16

        17       Q.   But did you see that a copy of that letter had been

        18       retained on the AWB files?

        19       A.   I would have seen that a copy of that letter was on

        20       the AWB files.

        21

        22       Q.   Thank you.  Then if we come to the third-last

        23       paragraph, which commences with the words "On reflection"?

        24       A.   Yes.

        25

        26       Q.   In that paragraph you say:

        27

        28            ...it is a good news bad news story.  The

        29            issue has been put on the table at the

        30            highest level and will be examined.  A key

        31            part of this process will be Sadallah's

        32            view given that he is remembered by the

        33            minister as the person who help organise

        34            it.  Your challenge/risk is Sadallah.

        35

        36       I want to ask you about the next two sentences:

        37

        38            My reading of the Baghdad discussions is

        39            that if Sadallah was to confirm our

        40            interpretation this would assist the

        41            process.  However, if Sadallah runs around

        42            saying it was a gift then it is going to be

        43            tough.

        44

        45       What was your interpretation?

        46       A.   The interpretation in the letter that was provided to

        47       me by Norman.
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         1

         2       Q.   And was that an interpretation that this was not a

         3       gift, but, rather, a sale on terms with payment deferred

         4       for five years plus interest?

         5       A.   No.

         6

         7       Q.   What was it?

         8       A.   The interpretation was as per the letter that I would

         9       have delivered.

        10

        11       Q.   Yes.  I am asking you what that was.

        12       A.   Well, hopefully there is a copy of that letter, and

        13       then we can refer to that.

        14

        15       Q.   If I was aware of a copy of that letter, Mr Stott,

        16       I would show it to you.  I am asking you what it was that

        17       you said.

        18       A.   Well, I don't - I don't recall what was in the letter.

        19

        20       Q.   You said in this email:

        21

        22            ...if Sadallah was to confirm our

        23            interpretation this would assist the

        24            process.  However, if Sadallah runs around

        25            saying it was a gift then it is going to be

        26            tough.

        27

        28       Clearly, what you described as "our interpretation" was not

        29       that the wheat was a gift; is that not the case?

        30       A.   No, that is not the case.

        31

        32       Q.   So your interpretation, however it had been described,

        33       was not that this was a gift?

        34       A.   My interpretation was that at this time there was a

        35       humanitarian donation that was a donation by BHP for which

        36       they would receive some value.

        37

        38       Q.   So was your interpretation, as expressed in the course

        39       of this meeting, that this wheat had been a donation?

        40       A.   That was one possible interpretation at the time of

        41       writing this note to Norman.

        42

        43       Q.   That wasn't my question.  Was your interpretation, as

        44       expressed at the meeting, that this wheat had been a

        45       donation?

        46       A.   Mr Agius, would you mind repeating the question for

        47       me, please?



            .8/2/06 (23)               2253     C E STOTT (Mr Agius)

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1

         2       Q.   Was your interpretation, as expressed at this meeting,

         3       that this wheat had been a donation?

         4       A.   No, I've delivered - at this meeting I've delivered a

         5       letter on behalf of BHP.  I did not provide an

         6       interpretation of what that arrangement was.  I was

         7       delivering BHP's letter.

         8

         9       Q.   Your email uses the words "if Sadallah was to confirm

        10       our interpretation this would assist the process".  You

        11       claim ownership of the interpretation jointly with

        12       Mr Davidson Kelly when you use the words "our

        13       interpretation"; is that not right?

        14       A.   That's a - no, it is not right.  I mean, the words are

        15       said that way, but, you know, that's not a - the way that

        16       I would interpret those words.

        17

        18       Q.   So although you used the words in the email "our

        19       interpretation", you didn't mean to intend that you shared

        20       in the interpretation; is that what you say?

        21       A.   Yes.

        22

        23       Q.   The letter did not describe this wheat as a donation

        24       or a gift, did it?

        25       A.   I don't recall the letter.  I mean, I recall

        26       delivering the letter, but I don't recall what the letter

        27       said.

        28

        29       Q.   Well, one doesn't need to recall the letter, if one is

        30       the author of this email, to understand that the letter

        31       could not have referred to the wheat as a gift; isn't that

        32       right?

        33       A.   No.

        34

        35       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Mr Stott, the last two sentences

        36       in the paragraph to which you have been referred, which is

        37       the third-last paragraph, read:

        38

        39            My reading of the Baghdad discussions is

        40            that if Sadallah was to confirm our

        41            interpretation this would assist the

        42            process.

        43

        44       I interpret that as the process of recovery of the debt:

        45

        46            However, if Sadallah runs around saying it

        47            was a gift then it is going to be tough.



            .8/2/06 (23)               2254     C E STOTT (Mr Agius)

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1

         2       They seem to be two different views, the latter being a

         3       gift, the former being something else.  Is there some other

         4       way one can read that sensibly?

         5       A.   No, Commissioner, I agree there are two alternative

         6       views.

         7

         8       Q.   And the one which has "our interpretation" is not a

         9       gift or donation, but it is recovery of a debt?

        10       A.   Commissioner, I can see that - if I had the letter, we

        11       would understand what was in the letter, but I assume - and

        12       I haven't seen the letter since October 2000, so

        13       I apologise.  I can't - I just don't have the letter.

        14

        15       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Stott, on 4 October you had received a

        16       copy of a letter dated 28 September 2000 from Mr Davidson

        17       Kelly which speaks of a debt and which speaks of recovery

        18       of the debt plus interest at 10 per cent per annum

        19       compound.  Is it your recollection that the letter that you

        20       provided during the course of your meetings in October 2000

        21       was consistent with that about which Mr Kelly had written

        22       to you on 28 September?

        23       A.   I would imagine that it was consistent.

        24

        25       Q.   And so is it not likely, then, that when you referred

        26       to "our interpretation" in this email, you were referring

        27       to, in the broad, the recovery of the debt referred to in

        28       the letter of 28 September?

        29       A.   No.

        30

        31       Q.   What else could you have been referring to, Mr Stott?

        32       A.   The letter that I had carried for BHP and handed to

        33       the Iraqis would, I imagine, have detailed the arrangement.

        34       This note says that there are two alternate propositions -

        35       "Norman, it is either going to be determined as a gift or

        36       as per the letter."

        37

        38       Q.   No, it doesn't say that.  It says "as per our

        39       interpretation".

        40       A.   It is not my interpretation.  It is an unfortunate -

        41       it is an unfortunate word.

        42

        43       Q.   Unfortunate for whom?

        44       A.   Well, it is an unfortunate word that I have - the way

        45       the context it is put in.

        46

        47       MR LACAVA:   Commissioner, I rise again to complain about
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         1       the laughter from the media gallery.

         2

         3       THE COMMISSIONER:   It is not the media; it is the general

         4       public.

         5

         6       MR LACAVA:   Well, if it is not the media, even if it is

         7       the general public, we complain that the witness - we have

         8       today - I don't want to go over the lunchtime again, but,

         9       quite frankly, we have had enough of being ridiculed and

        10       intimidated by people.

        11

        12       THE COMMISSIONER:   Well, there are two things to say about

        13       that.  One is I can't be responsible for the public

        14       reaction to statements made by witnesses.  I have made that

        15       clear.  The second thing I can say to you is this, that

        16       I have been informed that the incident at lunchtime was

        17       activities carried on by an ABC comedy skit by a man called

        18       Julian Morrow, "The Chaser".  I am told also that the press

        19       who filmed the incident were aware that it was "The

        20       Chaser".  That does not in any way reduce the seriousness

        21       of the matter and I propose to have the matter further

        22       investigated.  Whether the information I have been given is

        23       accurate, I can't say.

        24

        25       MR LACAVA:   We don't want this turned into a comedy,

        26       Commissioner.

        27

        28       THE COMMISSIONER:   It is certainly not a comedy.  Yes,

        29       Mr Agius.

        30

        31       MR AGIUS:   Q.   What was it that was going to be tough,

        32       Mr Stott?

        33       A.   If Sadallah said it was a gift, then BHP would not

        34       receive value for that donation.

        35

        36       Q.   Does that make sense - if it was a gift, then BHP

        37       would not receive value for the gift?

        38       A.   No, I said would not receive value for the donation.

        39       I think it makes perfect sense, but I --

        40

        41       Q.   Is that where you are content to leave it?

        42       A.   I am.

        43

        44       MR AGIUS:   I will tender that email, Mr Commissioner.

        45

        46       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  That email will be exhibit 224.

        47
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         1

         2       EXHIBIT #224 EMAIL FROM MR STOTT TO MR DAVIDSON KELLY DATED

         3       16/10/2000, BARCODED AWB.5009.0368

         4

         5       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Perhaps I should draw to your attention,

         6       Mr Stott, that that contains a mobile phone number.  Do you

         7       wish to have that mobile phone number suppressed?

         8       A.   I would be delighted to have that number suppressed,

         9       Mr Commissioner.

        10

        11       THE COMMISSIONER:   Very well.  I will make a

        12       non-publication order in respect of the mobile phone number

        13       referred to in the last major paragraph.

        14

        15       MR AGIUS:   We will prepare an edited version and

        16       substitute it, the only difference being that it will

        17       delete the mobile telephone number.

        18

        19       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you.

        20

        21       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Just so that we stay in chronology,

        22       Mr Stott, can we bring up, please, AWB.0129.0080.  This is

        23       an email from Mr Hogan to the Grain Board concerning the

        24       Tigris Petroleum matter.

        25

        26       MR AGIUS:   I tender that email, Mr Commissioner.

        27

        28       EXHIBIT #225 EMAIL FROM MR HOGAN TO THE GRAIN BOARD,

        29       BARCODED AWB.0129.0080

        30

        31       MR AGIUS:   That was of February 2001.  If we go to

        32       AWB.0129.0082, this is another email from Mr Hogan to the

        33       Grain Board of 6 March 2001.  I tender that email.

        34

        35       EXHIBIT #226 EMAIL FROM MR HOGAN TO THE GRAIN BOARD,

        36       DATED 6/3/2001, BARCODED AWB.0129.082

        37

        38       MR AGIUS:   Q.   That speaks of Mr Lindberg and yourself

        39       being in Cairo on 18 March 2001.  Do you recall, did you

        40       travel to Cairo at that time?

        41       A.   I don't recall if I travelled to Cairo at that time,

        42       but the Commission has copies of both of my passports and

        43       would be able to confirm if I did.  I did a lot of

        44       travelling.

        45

        46       Q.   Can we come to AWB.0103.0071.  This is a letter from

        47       Mr Davidson Kelly addressed to you, Mr Stott.  I wonder if
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         1       you would read it.

         2       A.   I have read the first page.  Can we expand that page,

         3       please.  Can we go to the bottom, please.  We can go back

         4       to the top, thanks.  The top of the first page, please.  I

         5       have read that document, Mr Agius.

         6

         7       Q.   Mr Stott, did you receive that letter from Mr Davidson

         8       Kelly?

         9       A.   It is addressed to me, so I assume I have received it.

        10

        11       Q.   He thanks you for reporting to him on discussions

        12       which took place that week in Baghdad between the AWB team

        13       and representatives of the Ministry of Trade and the

        14       Ministry of Oil.  What was it that you reported to

        15       Mr Davidson Kelly?

        16       A.   What's the date of this letter, please?

        17

        18       Q.   10 May 2001.

        19       A.   We were reporting probably - as stated there, I have

        20       reported to him on the discussions that took place in

        21       Baghdad.

        22

        23       Q.   What did you say to him about those discussions?  What

        24       was the content of what you said?

        25       A.   I don't recall what the content of the discussion -

        26       what I would have said to him, but I was not on that

        27       mission.  I would assume that I received a report from the

        28       head of that delegation and I have provided that report to

        29       Norman.

        30

        31       Q.   He goes on to say:

        32

        33            I understand that Iraq has acknowledged the

        34            validity of the Obligation to Tigris, and

        35            has requested that Tigris proceed to make a

        36            proposal for settlement of the Obligation

        37            to the relevant authorities, which would be

        38            transmitted through the good offices of AWB

        39            Ltd.

        40

        41       Is that consistent with what you had reported to

        42       Mr Davidson Kelly?

        43       A.   It must have been.

        44

        45       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   As at 10 May, when you received

        46       this letter, did you still remain of the view that the

        47       grain was a donation?
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         1       A.   Yes, Commissioner.

         2

         3       MR AGIUS:   Q.   How is that in any way consistent with

         4       what follows in this letter, Mr Stott?

         5       A.   I have thought of this over the adjournment for lunch.

         6       Companies make donations and expect to receive benefit from

         7       those donations.  That is standard commercial practice.

         8       Individuals may make donations and not expect to receive

         9       any benefit from it, unless, of course, there are some

        10       taxation benefits, but companies are not accustomed to

        11       making donations that they don't expect to receive value -

        12       some value for.  So I think that's where we have a

        13       different view as to the interpretation of the word

        14       "donation".

        15

        16       Q.   How, in any way, does that explain your understanding

        17       that one could have a donation and, at the same time,

        18       regard the donation as a debt which accrued interest?

        19       A.   Mr Agius, we have talked about that, and that was one

        20       of the options that may have been available to BHP at the

        21       time.  The other options may have been for BHP to win

        22       lucrative oil field development opportunities.  There are

        23       many ways that BHP may have been able to receive value for

        24       that donation.  This is one of those.

        25

        26       Q.   How is your view that this was a donation in any way

        27       consistent with what follows in the balance of this letter?

        28       I draw your attention to the words "The amount owing as at

        29       26th January 2001...was approximately $8,050,000.  This

        30       includes interest, calculated as agreed at 10% compound per

        31       annum", and other references to this being an amount due

        32       and this being a debt.  How in any way are any of those

        33       references consistent with the wheat being a donation?

        34       A.   Mr Agius, I considered it to be a commercial donation

        35       by BHP.

        36

        37       Q.   So now you qualify the word "donation" by adding in

        38       the word "commercial"?

        39       A.   A donation.

        40

        41       Q.   You well knew, as at 10 May 2001, Mr Stott, that

        42       Tigris was seeking on behalf of BHP the repayment of a

        43       debt, did you not?

        44       A.   I knew that Tigris, on behalf of BHP, was seeking the

        45       repayment of an obligation.

        46

        47       Q.   Which took the form of a debt.
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         1

         2       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   It says "due date for repayment of

         3       the debt".

         4       A.   On the date of this letter I understand it to be

         5       repayment of the obligation which has been put in here as a

         6       debt.

         7

         8       MR AGIUS:   Q.   The obligation being to pay for this wheat

         9       either in cash or oil?

        10       A.   No, Mr Agius.  No.  We talked about that before lunch.

        11

        12       Q.   The fact that you talked about it before lunch doesn't

        13       relieve you of the obligation to answer the question.  Did

        14       you understand this debt to be due in payment for the

        15       wheat?

        16       A.   I understood the debt to - yes is the answer.

        17

        18       MR AGIUS:   I tender the letter of 10 May 2001,

        19       AWB.0103.0071 up to and inclusive of 0072.

        20

        21       EXHIBIT #227 LETTER DATED 10/5/2001,

        22       BARCODED AWB.0103.0071-0072

        23

        24       MR AGIUS:   Q.   In the course of answering some questions

        25       in relation to this letter concerning discussions which

        26       took place that week in Baghdad, you made reference to a

        27       trip report.  Was it your custom to read the trip reports,

        28       Mr Stott?

        29       A.   Yes.

        30

        31       Q.   May we take it, then, that you read the trip report

        32       that Mr Hogan and Mr Borlase had compiled relating to their

        33       trip to Iraq in February 2001?

        34       A.   Yes.

        35

        36       Q.   And, in particular, you read that portion of the trip

        37       report that related to "Trucking Fee/Services Fee".

        38       A.   Could I have a look at the trip report, please?

        39

        40       Q.   Did you read that section or not, or can you not

        41       answer without looking at the report?

        42       A.   I would like to read the report to confirm if I read

        43       that section.  I would have read the report.  I have

        44       already confirmed that.

        45

        46       MR AGIUS:   Could we bring up, please, the exhibit,

        47       AWB.0102.0250 at 0253.
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         1

         2       THE WITNESS:   Which paragraph are we looking at?

         3

         4       MR AGIUS:   Q.   The paragraph headed "Trucking

         5       Fee/Services Fee"?

         6       A.   Yes.

         7

         8       Q.   So you had read that paragraph?

         9       A.   Yes.

        10

        11       Q.   Did it cause you concern?

        12       A.   Yes.

        13

        14       Q.   What was your concern?

        15       A.   My concern, first, was in relation to the way the fee,

        16       the trucking fee, was calculated.  Second, my concern was

        17       in relation to Dom mentioning this in his trip report,

        18       because these are issues that we had addressed back in

        19       October following my October delegation to Iraq.

        20

        21       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   I don't understand that last

        22       portion of your answer.

        23       A.   These issues had been thoroughly investigated from the

        24       day that I became concerned about the trucking

        25       arrangements, and the day I became concerned about the

        26       trucking arrangements was on - well, I had concerns from

        27       the moment I arrived at the company - in fact, before

        28       I officially started at the company on 10 July.

        29

        30       Q.   2000?

        31       A.   2000.

        32

        33       MR AGIUS:   Q.   What were your concerns before you started

        34       at the company in July 2000?

        35       A.   Mr Agius, are you planning to present into evidence

        36       the --

        37

        38       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.  Mr Stott, don't worry about what

        39       Mr Agius is going to do; just please answer the questions

        40       that are asked.

        41       A.   What were my concerns?  My concerns were that Ronly

        42       Holdings, or Ronly, was somehow involved in trucking

        43       arrangements.

        44

        45       MR AGIUS:   Q.   You learnt, in 2000, that Ronly was being

        46       used as a conduit for the payment of money to Alia on

        47       account of trucking fees?
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         1       A.   Yes.

         2

         3       Q.   You investigated that matter and you stopped the

         4       payment of those fees through Ronly?

         5       A.   Yes.

         6

         7       Q.   During the course of that investigation, did you

         8       investigate the mechanism by which the trucking fee was

         9       fixed - not the means by which it was paid, but the means

        10       by which it was fixed?

        11       A.   No.

        12

        13       Q.   Did you investigate the probity of AWB paying a

        14       trucking fee - not the mechanism by which it was paid, but

        15       the probity of actually paying the fee?

        16       A.   I checked that my colleagues in the company at the

        17       time were comfortable that that was in accordance with UN

        18       rules and regulations.

        19

        20       Q.   Who did you check that with?

        21       A.   I checked that with a variety of people - Rex Lister,

        22       Dom Hogan, Philip Hughes, and probably Michael Watson, who

        23       was responsible for facilitating or making the payments.

        24

        25       Q.   And what were you told?

        26       A.   I was told that these payments had been approved by

        27       the UN and that we are making it - and Ronly is providing

        28       the payment mechanism.

        29

        30       Q.   So staff at AWB, including Mr Watson, told you that

        31       these payments had been approved by the UN?

        32       A.   Yes.

        33

        34       Q.   Did you test that in any way?

        35       A.   Yes.

        36

        37       Q.   What did you do?

        38       A.   I asked to see the UN approvals and the contracts

        39       confirmations that went up to the UN.

        40

        41       Q.   And what did you see when you looked at the contracts?

        42       A.   I saw that the approvals that went to the UN had

        43       reference to being delivered all governates in Iraq.

        44

        45       Q.   What comfort did that give you?

        46       A.   That gave me comfort that what I was being told was

        47       correct.
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         1

         2       Q.   What, that the UN had approved the payment of a

         3       trucking fee?

         4       A.   Yes.

         5

         6       Q.   To whom?

         7       A.   It didn't say to whom.  It just said --

         8

         9       Q.   The contract doesn't say to whom any trucking fee

        10       would be paid, does it?

        11       A.   No.

        12

        13       Q.   I am sorry?

        14       A.   No, it doesn't.

        15

        16       Q.   So how did that give you any comfort to see that there

        17       was a clause in the contract which provided for delivery to

        18       all governates in Iraq, absent anything in the contract

        19       that indicated to whom any trucking fee was to be paid?

        20       A.   The contract stated "to be delivered to all governates

        21       in Iraq".  That contract was presented to DFAT, which was

        22       then presented, I understood, to the UN.

        23

        24       Q.   But the contract doesn't say anything in those terms

        25       about the payment of any trucking fee to anybody, let alone

        26       to anybody in particular; isn't that right?

        27       A.   It does not.

        28

        29       Q.   So how did you draw any comfort from a statement "to

        30       be delivered to all governates in Iraq" on the question of

        31       whether or not the payment of this trucking fee had been

        32       approved by the UN?

        33       A.   I was told by my colleagues, when I arrived at the

        34       AWB, to start - on 1 July, that these arrangements had been

        35       put in place in 1999, and they had been thoroughly

        36       investigated and I was given comfort by those there at that

        37       time that it was fully approved by the United Nations.

        38

        39       Q.   Who told you they had been thoroughly investigated?

        40       A.   Mr Hogan, Mr Hughes, Mr Lister said that he was aware

        41       of them, and Mr Watson had said that he was paying them and

        42       it had been - it was going through that mechanism.

        43

        44       Q.   Did anybody use the words "thoroughly investigated"?

        45       A.   They may not have used the words "thoroughly

        46       investigated".

        47
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         1       Q.   Did anybody use the word "investigated"?

         2       A.   They may not have used the word "investigated".

         3

         4       Q.   Were you told anything other than that the trucking

         5       fee had been approved by the UN?

         6       A.   I was told that the trucking fee was approved by the

         7       UN and was being paid through Ronly.

         8

         9       Q.   And you accepted that?

        10       A.   I didn't accept - I accepted that that's what I was

        11       told, but I didn't accept it; I changed it.

        12

        13       Q.   Leaving aside the mechanism of payment, you accepted

        14       that the trucking fee had been approved by the UN?

        15       A.   Yes, I accepted that.

        16

        17       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Did you make any inquiry as to why

        18       moneys were being paid through Ronly, if it had received

        19       the approval of the United Nations?

        20       A.   I did.

        21

        22       Q.   And?

        23       A.   And I was advised that they wanted to distance

        24       themselves from the payment mechanism and wanted to pay it

        25       through Ronly.

        26

        27       Q.   Who was the "they"?

        28       A.   People who were responsible for setting up the payment

        29       mechanism in the first place back in 1999, which I didn't

        30       look to see who that was, but I was advised that this was

        31       something that was put in place by previous management.

        32

        33       Q.   Well, who is the "they"?

        34       A.   Well, I assume - well, I was told that Mr Emons had

        35       put this in place with - and Mr Watson had also been

        36       involved in setting up the freighting arrangements.

        37

        38       Q.   And once you had left that did you ask why it was that

        39       they, as you call them, wanted to distance themselves, or

        40       distance AWB from the payments?

        41       A.   I assumed that - I assumed that it was a mechanism by

        42       which to improve Ronly's profitability.

        43

        44       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Does that mean that you didn't accept the

        45       explanation that they wanted to distance AWB from the

        46       payments?

        47       A.   No, I did not accept that explanation.
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         1

         2       Q.   So you thought that, what, Mr Watson had lied to you

         3       about that?

         4       A.   I thought that that was a mechanism which was designed

         5       to benefit Ronly rather than distance AWB from the trucking

         6       fees.

         7

         8       Q.   But you thought that, when you were told that this

         9       system had been introduced to distance AWB from the

        10       mechanism, what you were being told was a false

        11       explanation?

        12       A.   That's correct.

        13

        14       Q.   I am sorry?

        15       A.   That's correct.

        16

        17       Q.   And you were told this by the same person who told you

        18       that the trucking fee had been approved by the UN?

        19       A.   I was told that by a number of people in the company

        20       at the time - that the trucking fee was approved by the UN.

        21

        22       Q.   Did you check that with the UN?

        23       A.   I checked it with the applications that went to the

        24       UN, and in some of the early applications that went to the

        25       UN the trucking figure - a trucking figure was included in

        26       the applications, and then the contracts included

        27       "delivered all governates Iraq" and then no longer included

        28       reference to a separate trucking fee, it just included a

        29       grossed number.

        30

        31       Q.   With no reference to a trucking fee at all?

        32       A.   Reference to it being delivered "all governates Iraq",

        33       but no reference to a separate trucking fee.

        34

        35       Q.   No reference to a trucking fee; would you agree?

        36       There was a reference to an obligation to deliver to all

        37       governates of Iraq, but no reference to any payment of any

        38       trucking fee at all?

        39       A.   That's not - it was not in the contract, that's right.

        40

        41       Q.   You said you were concerned in relation to this

        42       paragraph which is still on the screen.  You had two

        43       concerns:  one was to the method of calculation of the

        44       trucking fee; and one was that Mr Hogan had included this

        45       in his trip report when the matter had already been dealt

        46       with in October.  What aspect of what it is that we read in

        47       this paragraph refers to any matter that had been dealt
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         1       with in October?

         2       A.   No aspect.

         3

         4       Q.   Well, then, why did you have a concern that Mr Hogan

         5       had written this in his trip report because it had been

         6       dealt with in October, if no aspect of what he wrote

         7       referred to what had been dealt with in October?

         8       A.   I was advised that the trucking fee arrangements were

         9       approved by the United Nations.  Investigating - when

        10       I looked at the contracts and the approvals, I accepted

        11       that it was in there originally for $12 per tonne and then

        12       the $12 per tonne had been removed into one grossed-up

        13       figure, and then it just merely mentioned "delivered all

        14       governates Iraq".  I was given comfort by the employees of

        15       the company at the time, when this was established in 1999,

        16       that it was approved and it was ongoing.  I thought that

        17       the involvement of Ronly was a mechanism by which the team,

        18       or people within the company, were trying to create wealth

        19       for Ronly.

        20

        21       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   You personally looked at the

        22       contracts to satisfy yourself about those matters, did you?

        23       A.   Yes.

        24

        25       MR AGIUS:   Q.   How does any of that relate to the

        26       concerns that you expressed, and I will read your answer:

        27

        28            My concern, first, was in relation to the

        29            way the fee, the trucking fee, was

        30            calculated.  Second, my concern was in

        31            relation to Dom mentioning this in his trip

        32            report, because these are issues that we

        33            had addressed back in October following my

        34            October delegation to Iraq.

        35

        36       A.   Mr Agius, you have started your questioning at the end

        37       of February, where I think it would be better to start with

        38       me at the - when I arrived at the company.  There was a

        39       number of probity issues that I was concerned about at that

        40       time.

        41

        42       Q.   Mr Stott, I asked you if you had read that

        43       paragraph back in February 2001, and you said you had?

        44       A.   I accept that.

        45

        46       Q.   I asked you whether it caused you concern.  You said

        47       yes.
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         1       A.   Yes.

         2

         3       Q.   I asked you what was your concern, and you said:

         4

         5            My concern, first, was in relation to the

         6            way the fee, the trucking fee, was

         7            calculated.  Second, my concern was in

         8            relation to Dom mentioning this in his trip

         9            report, because these are issues that we

        10            had addressed back in October following my

        11            October delegation to Iraq.

        12

        13       Now, how does what Mr Hogan has written under this heading

        14       "Trucking Fee/Service Fee" relate to those concerns?

        15       A.   That I raised in October?

        16

        17       Q.   Yes.  Mr Hogan says nothing about the mechanism of

        18       payment using Ronly?

        19       A.   No, because the payment mechanism using Ronly I put a

        20       stop to.  As soon as I heard about that payment mechanism

        21       I investigated it.  I was told that we were approved by the

        22       UN and I put a stop to the payment mechanism I think

        23       in July.  Immediately I put a stop to the payment

        24       mechanism.

        25

        26       Q.   So what were your concerns, then, when you read this

        27       paragraph?

        28       A.   My concerns were that we had thoroughly investigated

        29       this issue, my concerns about this matter, in October

        30       and November and December of 2000, and those - Dom had been

        31       privy to my concerns about the trucking fees, and we had

        32       discussed these and then this appeared - this comment

        33       appeared in his report and I was concerned that it appeared

        34       in his report.  I think he rang me while he was in Baghdad

        35       and he said that he had some concerns, and I said, "Well,

        36       let's - as soon as you come back, I want to talk to you

        37       about your concerns," and he - I think he may have sent

        38       this trip report when he got to Jordan, and we had a

        39       discussion as soon as he came back.

        40

        41       Q.   What were your concerns when you read this in the trip

        42       report?

        43       A.   My concerns were that this was an issue that was

        44       continuing to appear, and one issue that we had examined

        45       and I thought satisfied ourselves that there was nothing

        46       inappropriate happening with the trucking fees.

        47
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         1       Q.   So your first concern was that this ought not to have

         2       been written in the trip report; is that what you say?

         3       A.   No.  I introduced an open policy within the company.

         4       The company had been very, very - had been a silo culture

         5       up until when I had arrived.  I introduced an open policy.

         6       I was very happy for people to put whatever concerns they

         7       had in a written document.

         8

         9       Q.   So when you gave the answer, "Second, my concern was

        10       in relation to Dom mentioning this in his trip report,

        11       because these are issues that we had addressed back in

        12       October following my October delegation to Iraq", we should

        13       not understand that answer as being that you had a concern

        14       because he had mentioned this in his trip report?

        15       A.   I was happy for him to mention it in his trip report.

        16

        17       Q.   Well, then, how do we understand your answer, "Second,

        18       my concern was in relation to Dom mentioning this in his

        19       trip report, because these are issues that we had addressed

        20       back in October following my October delegation to Iraq"?

        21       How do we understand that answer?

        22       A.   Well, I think that's an accurate answer.  In October,

        23       following my delegation to Iraq - there was an October trip

        24       report - I became aware of the trucking arrangements.

        25       I always thought that the trucking arrangements, through

        26       the Ronly payment mechanism, was a mechanism designed to

        27       benefit Ronly in some way.  On the October trip report - on

        28       the October trip I asked, when I - actually,

        29       before October, I was meant to go to Iraq in September, and

        30       because we had issues in Asia at the time I did not go to

        31       Iraq in September.  I personally rang Zuhair Daoud, who was

        32       expecting me in September, and I said to Zuhair that

        33       I apologised that I could not come to Iraq in

        34       the September, but I did look forward to seeing him

        35       in October.

        36

        37            In that phone conversation with Zuhair I said to

        38       Zuhair, "I would like to discuss the trucking fees with

        39       you, this delivered all governates Iraq, because that is

        40       new to me, and I would like to understand that with you",

        41       and Zuhair said to me that he would happily explain it to

        42       me.  That was in September.  Early September I had that

        43       phone call, because that was a delay of the October - the

        44       trip - the September trip was delayed until October because

        45       I had other matters in Asia to attend to.

        46

        47       Q.   Mr Stott, how do we understand your answer, "Second,
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         1       my concern was in relation to Dom mentioning this in his

         2       trip report, because these are issues that we had addressed

         3       back in October following my October delegation to Iraq"?

         4       Were you concerned about the fact that Dom had mentioned

         5       this in his trip report?

         6       A.   I was concerned that Dom had mentioned it in his trip

         7       report because we had addressed the issues, I believed,

         8       in October, November and December.

         9

        10       Q.   What was your concern, then - the fact that he had

        11       mentioned it in his report, or the fact that this was

        12       continuing to be an issue?

        13       A.   The fact that, having examined this issue

        14       in October, November and December, it should appear that

        15       Dom continued to be concerned about it in February, when we

        16       had discussed the issues in October, November and December.

        17

        18       Q.   Did you read what he had written?  He had said:

        19

        20            The trucking fee is now USD25.00...

        21

        22       A.   Yes.

        23

        24       Q.   You understood that to be a considerable increase in

        25       the amount of trucking fee, did you not?

        26       A.   Yes.

        27

        28       Q.   He went on to say:

        29

        30             ...with a 10% service fee on the entire

        31            FIT value of the contract.

        32

        33       Now, that had not been discussed in October, had it?

        34       A.   No.

        35

        36       Q.   In fact, that hadn't been discussed at all prior to

        37       your receipt of this trip report, had it?

        38       A.   No, that's not correct.

        39

        40       Q.   You had discussed it?

        41       A.   Yes.

        42

        43       Q.   When had you discussed it?

        44       A.   When Dom rang me from Baghdad, he had - he was

        45       negotiating a contract, he told me that the trucking fee

        46       had escalated, there was a new amount and it involved a

        47       calculation of adding 10 per cent to determine the trucking
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         1       fee, and then he explained that he didn't want to go into

         2       details on the phone, but he and I agreed to meet as soon

         3       as he got back so that we could discuss that.

         4

         5       Q.   So you had the discussion after he got back and after

         6       you read this in the trip report?

         7       A.   Yes.

         8

         9       Q.   What you read in the trip report was that there was a

        10       10 per cent service fee on the entire FIT value of the

        11       contract; is that right?

        12       A.   The way I understood that the freight was calculated

        13       included a --

        14

        15       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.  Not freight, trucking fees?

        16       A.   Sorry, trucking fees calculated included a 10 per cent

        17       increase to - of the value of the trucking fee.

        18

        19       MR AGIUS:   Q.   That's not what the trip report says,

        20       though, is it?

        21       A.   Look, that's the way the calculation - that's the way

        22       he explained to me the trucking fees were going to be

        23       calculated going forward.

        24

        25       Q.   The trip report says:

        26

        27            The trucking fee is now USD25.00 --

        28

        29       A.   Yes.

        30

        31       Q.   --

        32

        33            pmt all Governates of Iraq with a 10%

        34            service fee on the entire FIT value of the

        35            contract.

        36

        37       A.   Yes.

        38

        39       Q.   It went on to say:

        40

        41            We believe the increase in trucking fee and

        42            addition of the service charge is a

        43            mechanism of extracting more dollars from

        44            the escrow account.

        45

        46       A.   Yes.

        47
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         1       Q.   Did it not occur to you that the addition of the

         2       10 per cent service fee was indeed a mechanism of

         3       extracting more dollars from the escrow account?

         4       A.   These are the concerns that I had in October following

         5       my delegation to Iraq.

         6

         7       Q.   How does any inquiry that you conducted in October,

         8       any information that you found out in October, in any way

         9       bear upon the legitimacy of the introduction of a

        10       10 per cent service fee?

        11       A.   I examined in October my concerns of the Iraq - of the

        12       trucking costs.  I did a number of things to examine my

        13       concerns.  I asked the minister, during the October trip -

        14       because evidence that was - or documents that we have

        15       provided to the Commission, we had significant discharge

        16       problems at Umm Qasr, and I was advised that that was due

        17       to a lack of trucks.  As is customary, before I write to

        18       the DFAT, I --

        19

        20       Q.   Mr Stott, this question has nothing to do with your

        21       communication to DFAT.  Would you please address the

        22       question?

        23       A.   Would you please restate the question, Mr Agius?

        24

        25       Q.   How does any inquiry that you conducted in October,

        26       any information that you found out in October, in any way

        27       bear upon the legitimacy of the introduction of a

        28       10 per cent service fee?

        29       A.   I made inquiries of the Iraqis.  I made inquiries of

        30       DFAT.

        31

        32       Q.   About a 10 per cent service fee?

        33       A.   No, about using trucking companies.

        34

        35       Q.   How does that in any way bear upon the introduction of

        36       a 10 per cent service fee?

        37       A.   The calculation of the freight of the trucking

        38       component included a 10 per cent addition of full value of

        39       the contract to the trucking component, and that's what

        40       became the trucking fee.

        41

        42       Q.   How does anything that you discovered in October bear

        43       upon the legitimacy of the introduction of a 10 per cent

        44       service fee?

        45       A.   The service fee - a service fee was not - I did not

        46       understand this to be a service fee.  I understood this --

        47
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         1       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   It says so in the report.

         2       A.   I understood it to be a mechanism by which the

         3       freight, the inland transport component, was calculated.

         4

         5       MR AGIUS:   Q.   But, Mr Stott, you have agreed more than

         6       once that you read this paragraph at the time, and you

         7       would have read, "The trucking fee is now USD25.00 with a

         8       10 per cent service fee on the entire FIT value of the

         9       contract.  We believe that the increase in trucking fee and

        10       the addition of the service charge is a mechanism of

        11       extracting more dollars from the escrow account", and you

        12       would also have read the heading "Trucking Fee/Services

        13       Fee".  Now, how does that relate to anything that you

        14       learnt in October at a time when there had been no mention

        15       of a 10 per cent service fee?

        16       A.   In October I raised concerns - I had concerns about

        17       the trucking arrangements.  I investigated those concerns.

        18       I did a number of things to test whether or not my concerns

        19       were valid, and subsequently the Iraqis introduced an

        20       arrangement whereby the trucking cost was calculated by

        21       reference to a trucking component plus a 10 per cent charge

        22       on top of that to become the full charge of the trucking

        23       component.

        24

        25       Q.   This was said by Mr Hogan in this report to be a

        26       10 per cent service fee.  Moreover, Mr Hogan had gone on to

        27       say:

        28

        29            We believe the increase in the trucking fee

        30            and the addition of the service charge is a

        31            mechanism of extracting more dollars from

        32            the escrow account.

        33

        34       What did you do about Mr Hogan and Mr Borlase's stated

        35       belief that they believed that the trucking fee with the

        36       addition of the service charge was a mechanism of

        37       extracting more dollars from the escrow account?

        38       A.   When Dom Hogan returned to Australia, I sat down with

        39       Dom and asked him to come and see me as soon as he came

        40       back to, one, explain how the trucking fee was now

        41       calculated, which I believe I have provided you with that

        42       explanation, and then, secondly, I asked Dom about his

        43       concerns and reminded him on what we had done in October

        44       and November, because he was actually repeating concerns

        45       that I had already expressed and was testing.

        46

        47       Q.   Mr Stott, Mr Hogan, you say, was one of those who had
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         1       told you that the trucking fee had been approved by the UN?

         2       A.   That's correct.

         3

         4       Q.   He was now coming to you to say that he thought that

         5       this additional charge, and the trucking fee, given that

         6       the additional charge had just been imposed, was a

         7       mechanism of extracting more dollars from the escrow

         8       account.

         9       A.   That's correct.

        10

        11       Q.   So one of the persons upon whose opinion you had

        12       relied concerning the approval of this by the UN was now

        13       coming to you and expressing doubts.  Why didn't you act on

        14       those doubts?

        15       A.   I did act on those doubts in October and November

        16       and December.

        17

        18       Q.   How could you act on doubts in October and November

        19       that were not expressed until February?

        20       A.   I expressed those doubts in October and November.  Dom

        21       has picked them up in February and Dom has - knows what I

        22       have done in October and November to examine my concerns.

        23       I was the person who raised those concerns in the first

        24       place.

        25

        26       Q.   Mr Stott, you never raised any concern about a

        27       10 per cent service fee, did you?

        28       A.   No, not a 10 per cent service fee.

        29

        30       Q.   You never raised any concern that, be it a trucking

        31       fee or a service fee, this might be a mechanism of

        32       extracting more dollars from the escrow account, did you?

        33       A.   Oh, yes, I did.

        34

        35       Q.   You did?

        36       A.   I did.

        37

        38       Q.   So now the concerns were being expressed to you again

        39       in February.

        40       A.   Yes.

        41

        42       Q.   Aside from talking to Mr Hogan, did you do anything

        43       about it?

        44       A.   Well, I tried to explain --

        45

        46       Q.   Would you answer my question?

        47       A.   Yes.
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         1

         2       Q.   Aside from talking to Mr Hogan --

         3       A.   Yes.

         4

         5       Q.   -- in February did you do anything about it?

         6       A.   In February, did I do anything about it?  I had

         7       already acted on it in October and November and December.

         8

         9       Q.   So is the answer to my question no, you did nothing

        10       about it in February?

        11       A.   I spoke to Mr Hogan and reminded Mr Hogan what we had

        12       done in October and November.

        13

        14       Q.   I will ask you the question again:  in February, aside

        15       from talking to Mr Hogan, did you do anything about those

        16       concerns?

        17       A.   In February I explained to Mr Hogan what we had done

        18       in October and November and December, and Mr Hogan was

        19       reminded of that because Mr Hogan worked with me on

        20       providing various tests around my concerns that I had

        21       following our October trip.

        22

        23       Q.   Mr Stott, I will ask you for the third and last time,

        24       and you do understand there are penalties for not answering

        25       a question, don't you?

        26

        27       MR LACAVA:   Your Honour, I object to that.

        28

        29       THE COMMISSIONER:   I am not "your Honour" anymore.

        30

        31       MR LACAVA:   I am sorry, Commissioner.  My learned friend

        32       has indicated he is asking the question for a third time.

        33       In fact, there have been three different questions, if my

        34       learned friend goes back over the transcript.  He changed

        35       his question, if I can just pick it up, when he said, "I

        36       will ask you the question again: in February", and then he

        37       qualified it by saying "Aside from talking to Mr Hogan".

        38

        39       MR AGIUS:   Start a bit further up, would you?

        40

        41       MR LACAVA:   You started further up with your first

        42       question.  That was your second question, you have now come

        43       to your third question.  They are all different questions.

        44       That's my point.

        45

        46       THE COMMISSIONER:   The substance of them was precisely the

        47       same, Mr Lacava.
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         1

         2       MR LACAVA:   The transcript will speak for itself.  We will

         3       rely on that.

         4

         5       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

         6

         7       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Apart from speaking to Mr Hogan about

         8       these concerns in February, did you do anything else about

         9       those concerns?

        10       A.   No.

        11

        12       Q.   Did you receive a copy of the Arthur Andersen report?

        13       A.   No.

        14

        15       Q.   Never?

        16

        17       MR LACAVA:   At what point is my friend asking about,

        18       Mr Commissioner?

        19

        20       MR AGIUS:   At any time.  The question wasn't qualified by

        21       time, as I am sure my learned friend detected.

        22

        23       Q.   Did you at any time receive a copy of the Arthur

        24       Andersen report.

        25

        26       MR LACAVA:   Commissioner, just before my learned friend

        27       completes his question, Mr Agius has asked the witness,

        28       "Did you ever receive a copy of the Arthur Andersen

        29       report".  He should, as a matter of fairness, in our

        30       submission, qualify that.  Is my learned friend talking

        31       about during the course of preparing to give evidence here?

        32       Is he talking about 2000, the latter part of 2000, or the

        33       four years intervening?   If the answer is to mean

        34       anything, my learned friend should qualify it by seeking to

        35       have the witness give evidence as to a time.

        36

        37       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  Yes, you go on, Mr Agius.

        38

        39       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Stott, when did you first receive a

        40       copy of the Arthur Andersen report?

        41       A.   The Arthur Andersen report that has been presented in

        42       evidence here, the first time I have received a copy of

        43       that report was last week, after it was received in

        44       evidence here.

        45

        46       Q.   Had you ever received a copy of any portion of the

        47       report?



            .8/2/06 (23)               2275     C E STOTT (Mr Agius)

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1       A.   I received a copy of the October version of that

         2       report.

         3

         4       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   October of which year?

         5       A.   2000.

         6

         7       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Do you have that copy?

         8       A.   No, I do not.

         9

        10       Q.   What did you do with it?

        11       A.   I have destroyed it.

        12

        13       Q.   When did you destroy it?

        14       A.   In - it would have been 2004.

        15

        16       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   2004?

        17       A.   Yes.

        18

        19       MR AGIUS:   Q.   When was it in 2004 that you destroyed it?

        20       A.   It was - I can't recall when I destroyed it in 2004,

        21       but we - if you --

        22

        23       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Just have a think for a minute and

        24       give me your best evidence.

        25       A.   In the context of the Volcker Inquiry, I had suggested

        26       that we should have a look at the Arthur Andersen report,

        27       because I recall that it made reference to the issues that

        28       may be relevant to the Volcker Inquiry.

        29

        30       Q.   Can you put a time on when you destroyed this

        31       document?

        32       A.   I was given a copy of it and the person who provided

        33       me a copy was uncomfortable that I had a copy of it and

        34       asked me to destroy it, which is what I did.

        35

        36       Q.   When was this in 2004?

        37       A.   When the company was first aware of the Volcker

        38       Inquiry, so - I don't know what that - I can't recall that

        39       date, but I'm sure that it --

        40

        41       MR AGIUS:   Q.   You said you were given a copy of it and

        42       the person who provided you with a copy was uncomfortable

        43       that you had a copy; is that right?

        44       A.   Yes.

        45

        46       Q.   Who gave you the copy?

        47       A.   Jim Lyons - not Jim Lyons, I'm sorry, I beg your
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         1       pardon, correction:  my legal counsel, Jim Cooper.

         2

         3       Q.   You say that that person was uncomfortable that you

         4       had a copy.  What did he say to you at the time he first

         5       gave you the copy?

         6       A.   I said to Andrew that we should look at the Arthur

         7       Andersen report that we had discussed in December 2000, the

         8       version of the report that was discussed in 2000, and I -

         9       Andrew said, "That's a good idea.  Charles, you go and

        10       follow that up.  I think the company secretary has that

        11       report."  I got that - went to the company secretary.  He

        12       said no, he hasn't got the report, he gave it to the legal

        13       counsel.  Jim gave me a copy of that report.  I read that

        14       report.  I said to Jim that five, six years later this

        15       document doesn't appear to be anywhere near as significant

        16       as I thought it was at the time, "Are you sure there's not

        17       another report?"

        18

        19       Q.   What did he say?

        20       A.   He said that this is the only report that he has seen.

        21

        22       Q.   Which report did he give you?

        23       A.   I think he gave me the October version of the AA

        24       report that was prepared by Arthur Andersen, they were

        25       meant to complete their work by October.  They didn't

        26       complete the write-up by October.  In October their report

        27       was incomplete.  They asked for another two months to

        28       finalise the report, and the report that we discussed

        29       in December was the report that was produced into evidence

        30       and I received a copy of it through the material that was

        31       provided to the Commission.

        32

        33       Q.   So that report, the one that's in evidence, was

        34       discussed in December 2000, was it?

        35       A.   That's correct.

        36

        37       Q.   By you?

        38       A.   There were four people - five people involved in the

        39       discussion of that report.  There was Tim Goodacre, myself,

        40       there was Andrew Toohey from Arthur Andersen, Paul - I

        41       can't remember, but I think it is McKellar.  I'm not sure

        42       about Paul's surname, Arthur Andersen as well, Andrew

        43       Lindberg, and I'm not sure if the lady from Arthur Andersen

        44       was there as well, but I'm - I can't recall.

        45

        46       Q.   So you do recall yourself, Mr Goodacre and

        47       Mr Lindberg?
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         1       A.   And Mr Toohey.

         2

         3       Q.   And Mr Toohey?

         4       A.   And Paul.

         5

         6       Q.   And this was a discussion after the receipt of

         7       the December report?

         8       A.   Yes.

         9

        10       Q.   At that time did you read the report?

        11       A.   We had one copy of the report and we worked through

        12       the report.

        13

        14       Q.   Together?

        15       A.   Andrew had already been briefed - appeared to have

        16       been briefed on the report by Arthur Andersen people, and

        17       before Tim Goodacre and myself were invited to come up and

        18       discuss the context of the report.

        19

        20       Q.   And in the course of that, when you say you worked

        21       through the report, may we take that to mean that you and

        22       Mr Goodacre went through the report together?

        23       A.   We focused on the main points of the report that were

        24       of concern.

        25

        26       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Did you do that with Mr Lindberg -

        27       the three of you?

        28       A.   Yes - five of us.

        29

        30       MR AGIUS:   Q.   If I move forward now to the report that

        31       you were given a copy of by Mr Cooper - this was what we

        32       understand to be an October version of the December

        33       report - what did Mr Cooper say to you in response to your

        34       statement that it doesn't seem to be as significant as the

        35       one you had read before and was there any other version?

        36       A.   He said that as far as he was aware this was the only

        37       version of the report.

        38

        39       Q.   And what happened?  Did he say any more than that?

        40       Did you speak?

        41       A.   No, I said to Jim, "Well, I am surprised, because

        42       I thought the report was a more significant document than

        43       the one I have read."

        44

        45       Q.   And was there any more conversation?  Did you take

        46       that copy of the October report away?

        47       A.   Sorry?
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         1

         2       Q.   Was there any more conversation?  Did you take that

         3       copy of the October report away?  What happened next?

         4       A.   I just - I took the copy of the October report.  Jim

         5       expressed concern that he had given me a copy of the

         6       October report, or the October version, and I undertook to

         7       destroy it, which is what I did.

         8

         9       Q.   So in the same conversation he expressed concern that

        10       he had given you a copy of it?

        11       A.   No, that might have been a week or so later.

        12

        13       Q.   So let me see if I understand you correctly.  You

        14       obtain a copy of the October report from Mr Cooper and you

        15       have the conversation with him about whether there is any

        16       later version?

        17       A.   Yes.

        18

        19       Q.   And then you take the October report away?

        20       A.   Yes.

        21

        22       Q.   You had in mind that there might have been a later

        23       version.  Did you speak to anybody else about whether there

        24       was a later version?

        25       A.   I have recently spoken to the company secretary to

        26       determine whether there was a later version.

        27

        28       Q.   When was that?

        29       A.   In the last week.

        30

        31       Q.   Prior to then, between the time that Mr Cooper gave

        32       you the October version and the time that you destroyed it,

        33       did you speak to anybody else in an effort to obtain a

        34       later version or to discover if there was a later version?

        35       A.   No.

        36

        37       Q.   Did you go back to Mr Lindberg, to whom you had gone

        38       in the first place and who had directed you to Mr Cooper,

        39       and say, "Look, I only have this October version, is there

        40       a later one?"

        41       A.   No, I thought - it's only been clear to me since we've

        42       been working through the documents and the evidence that

        43       has been presented to the Commission that that may have

        44       been what I was looking at, the document that Jim had

        45       provided me was the October version of that report, not

        46       the December version.

        47
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         1       Q.   Did it not have a date on it?

         2       A.   No.

         3

         4       Q.   So it didn't say "October"?

         5       A.   No.

         6

         7       Q.   It didn't say "Preliminary", or "Draft", or anything

         8       to indicate that it was an October as opposed to a December

         9       version of the report?

        10       A.   No.

        11

        12       Q.   When you say "no", you are agreeing with me - it

        13       didn't have any markings --

        14       A.   I'm agreeing it did not.

        15

        16       Q.   -- to that effect?

        17       A.   No.

        18

        19       Q.   How long did you have it before Mr Cooper expressed

        20       concerns to you that you had it?

        21       A.   About a week, I think.

        22

        23       Q.   What did he say to you?

        24       A.   He was concerned that we didn't want another copy of

        25       the AA report, it's a significant document, and he asked if

        26       I would destroy it, and I undertook to Jim that I would do

        27       that.

        28

        29       Q.   Did he tell you why he didn't want another copy of

        30       that significant document?

        31       A.   Because there was only ever meant to be one copy of

        32       the report.

        33

        34       Q.   So what he gave you was, what, a photostat copy of a

        35       report that he had, was it?

        36       A.   Yes.

        37

        38       Q.   So he had retained what appeared to be an original

        39       copy, and given you a photostat copy?

        40       A.   I didn't see the original copy.  I received a copy.

        41       I didn't see what document it came from.

        42

        43       Q.   Well, was what you received in the form of a

        44       photocopy?

        45       A.   Yes.

        46

        47       Q.   So when you asked him for the report, in the first
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         1       instance, he was able to immediately produce a copy of the

         2       document and give it to you?

         3       A.   No.

         4

         5       Q.   What happened?

         6       A.   I - well, he took a couple of days to trace - track

         7       down where the report was, and Jim provided me with a copy

         8       of the report and I read it for - to see if there was

         9       anything in there that was relevant, or potentially

        10       relevant, to information or the investigation that the

        11       Volcker Inquiry was undertaking.

        12

        13       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Mr Stott, there were some

        14       discussions between investigators from the Volcker Inquiry

        15       and AWB personnel in February-March 2005.  The Volcker

        16       Report came out in October 2005.  Can you put a time when

        17       you say these events occurred?  Was it before February

        18       2005?

        19       A.   Before 2000-and - Mr Volcker's team had indicated that

        20       they intended to call me as a witness, and they didn't do

        21       that, and I think it is around that time.

        22

        23       Q.   Is that in late 2004?

        24       A.   I think it was around - I can't be certain,

        25       Commissioner, of the exact - it was either late 2004 or

        26       early 2005.  I just can't be certain when that - when did

        27       Volcker put down his report?

        28

        29       Q.   October 2005.

        30

        31       MR AGIUS:   Q.   There was a draft report before then.

        32       There was a response by the AWB on 25 October 2005, and

        33       very shortly thereafter there was the publication of a

        34       final report.

        35       A.   I can't - I think it was - I think it was in 2005 or

        36       late 2004.

        37

        38       Q.   Let me give you the chronology as best we can recall

        39       it.  At the end of February and on 1 March there were

        40       interviews between IIC investigators and some AWB

        41       personnel --

        42       A.   Yes.

        43

        44       Q.   -- including the former chairman.  In April there was

        45       correspondence between the AWB and the IIC?

        46       A.   This is April 2005?

        47



            .8/2/06 (23)               2281     C E STOTT (Mr Agius)

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1       Q.   April 2005.  The next critical matter would seem to be

         2       the publication to the AWB of a draft, as it were, Volcker

         3       Report.  I can't give you the date of that off the top of

         4       my head, but I believe it to be before October.  I believe

         5       it to be some time in September, but I can't give you the

         6       date.  There was then a response, dated 25 October, from

         7       AWB.  There was then, very shortly after that, the

         8       publication of the final Volcker Report.

         9

        10       THE COMMISSIONER:   27 October.

        11

        12       THE WITNESS:   I think, Mr Agius, it would have probably

        13       been early 2005, possibly around March 2005.

        14

        15       MR AGIUS:   Q.   After some AWB personnel had been

        16       interviewed in Melbourne by IIC investigators?

        17       A.   I think it was in preparation for - I wanted to look

        18       at it because I had been alerted to the fact that I was

        19       going to be a witness for --

        20

        21       Q.   Who had told you that?

        22       A.   I think the Volcker committee had indicated to the

        23       company that they were wanting to call me.

        24

        25       Q.   But who had passed that information to you from within

        26       the company?

        27       A.   I think it probably would have been discussed at an

        28       ELG meeting.

        29

        30       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Agius, I would like to go on for a

        31       little while but I think we should give the shorthand

        32       writers a break, so I will adjourn for five minutes.

        33

        34       SHORT ADJOURNMENT

        35

        36       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Stott, when you spoke to Mr Lindberg

        37       and raised the topic of the Arthur Andersen report with

        38       him, can you recall whether, as at that time, Mr Lindberg

        39       had already been interviewed by the IIC investigators?

        40       A.   No, I don't recall.

        41

        42       Q.   Did you ever go back to him and tell him of

        43       Mr Cooper's concern about your keeping another copy of that

        44       report?

        45       A.   No.

        46

        47       Q.   I think you told me that you never went back to him in
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         1       your quest to find any later report?

         2       A.   That's right.

         3

         4       Q.   And you never asked anybody else about where there

         5       might be a later report?

         6       A.   That's right.

         7

         8       Q.   Why did you destroy the copy you had, rather than just

         9       give it back to Mr Cooper?

        10       A.   Mr Cooper didn't want additional copies of the report.

        11       We always intended to only have one copy of the report and

        12       he was uncomfortable that he gave me a copy of the report.

        13       I undertook to destroy it to relieve his concerns, and

        14       that's what I did.

        15

        16       Q.   Clearly one of your concerns at the time was that you

        17       had wanted to read the report prior to you being

        18       interviewed by the IIC investigators?

        19       A.   That's correct.

        20

        21       Q.   You wanted to refresh your recollection and bring the

        22       matters such as were relevant in the report to mind before

        23       you were interviewed?

        24       A.   Correct.

        25

        26       Q.   Did you make that suggestion, that others should

        27       similarly read the report before they were interviewed?

        28       A.   No.

        29

        30       Q.   You referred to a management meeting - you may have

        31       called it an ELG meeting - where matters were discussed.

        32       Had there been such a meeting prior to the interview of

        33       Mr Long and Mr Lindberg by the IIC members, or

        34       investigators?

        35       A.   ELG meetings are regular occurrences.

        36

        37       Q.   But had you had one to deal with the issues that might

        38       be raised by the IIC investigators?

        39       A.   Not that I am - no.

        40

        41       Q.   In December 2000 you and Mr Goodacre worked through

        42       the report in the way in which you told us before the last

        43       short break.  Mr Lindberg has said - I don't mean to quote

        44       him verbatim, but the substance of what he said - that you

        45       and Mr Goodacre were charged with the responsibility of

        46       addressing the recommendations that were made in that

        47       report; is that as you understood it?
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         1       A.   Yes.

         2

         3       Q.   For that purpose, would you not have needed a copy of

         4       the report?

         5       A.   We had addressed all the issues by the time the report

         6       had been - the draft of the report that we reviewed

         7       in December - that draft of the report, we had addressed

         8       all those issues by October.

         9

        10       Q.   The report you reviewed in December was the final

        11       report, though, wasn't it?

        12       A.   It was a draft report.

        13

        14       Q.   I thought you had said before the break that you had

        15       reviewed the final report in December?

        16       A.   I reviewed the December report.  We never finalised

        17       the report.

        18

        19       Q.   You reviewed a December report in December?

        20       A.   I reviewed a December report in December.

        21

        22       Q.   We understand from material we have been given by the

        23       AWB that the December report, which is in evidence, was in

        24       fact the final report produced by Arthur Andersen dealing

        25       with the matters referred to in that report.  Is that your

        26       understanding, or do you understand that there was an

        27       additional report after the December report?

        28       A.   That was the final report that Arthur Andersen wrote,

        29       but it was not a report that the management team accepted

        30       as being an accurate record of the events at that time, and

        31       Arthur Andersen had asked for another two months to polish

        32       off the report that was meant to be finished in October,

        33       and in December we went through a version, there were

        34       inaccuracies in that report, and that report was not

        35       completed, but it was the final report that Arthur Andersen

        36       prepared on this subject.

        37

        38       Q.   So the report that you worked through in December was

        39       not entitled a final report, but it was the last report

        40       that Arthur Andersen provided; is that right?

        41       A.   That's correct.

        42

        43       Q.   You recall, do you, upon working through it with

        44       Mr Goodacre, that there were inaccuracies in that report?

        45       A.   I do.

        46

        47       Q.   Were those inaccuracies marked up?
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         1       A.   No.

         2

         3       Q.   Were they recorded in some way?

         4       A.   No.

         5

         6       Q.   So, to the best of your recollection, there was no

         7       record made of any of the inaccuracies in the December

         8       report of Arthur Andersen?

         9       A.   That's correct.

        10

        11       Q.   Were they drawn to anybody's attention?

        12       A.   We discussed them in December, the inaccuracies in the

        13       report.

        14

        15       Q.   You discussed them amongst yourselves?

        16       A.   The five of us, when we worked through the report in

        17       Andrew Lindberg's office, we discussed the inaccuracies of

        18       that report.

        19

        20       Q.   Having discussed them, were they drawn to anybody

        21       else's attention?

        22       A.   No, because we completed most of the work by October.

        23       We had Arthur Andersen working with me doing the forensic

        24       examination of a number of transactions that were being

        25       conducted within the marketing group.  They started

        26       late July or early August, and they were due to report in

        27       October.  They prepared a report in October that Tim

        28       Goodacre, myself, Paul and Andrew went through.  They asked

        29       for another two months, we gave them another two months,

        30       and in December we went through the December version of the

        31       report.

        32

        33       Q.   That report, which is a confidential exhibit before

        34       this inquiry, included the following, and I will read you

        35       two paragraphs from page 0118:

        36

        37            There are a number of red flags that the

        38            employees were faced with in relation to

        39            these payments.

        40

        41       And that is a reference to the payments that were being

        42       made through Ronly:

        43

        44            This type of arrangement could be

        45            misinterpreted as a money laundering

        46            process.  There were a number of clear

        47            warning signs in relation to these



            .8/2/06 (23)               2285     C E STOTT (Mr Agius)

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1            transactions that were not fully explored

         2            by AWB in legal or commercial terms.  For

         3            example, the issue of trying to use ship

         4            owners to make payments on behalf of AWB

         5            potentially damaged the reputation of AWB,

         6            as would the attempt to disguise the

         7            transactions.

         8            The current management have removed this

         9            payment process through Ronly.  There has

        10            been a recent increase in the trucking cost

        11            to $45 per metric tonne.  This appears to

        12            be high.  There may be a risk that this

        13            money is being diverted to other purposes.

        14            There may be a risk to AWB of excessive

        15            trucking fees.

        16

        17       Now, that is a portion of the report which is

        18       dated December 2000.  That is something that you would have

        19       worked through with Mr Goodacre and the others in this

        20       meeting?

        21       A.   Yes.

        22

        23       MR LACAVA:   Commissioner, I wonder whether, if the witness

        24       is going to be asked about this, he could in fact be shown

        25       the document.  I don't wish to be critical of my learned

        26       friend, but the question was predicated on the basis that -

        27       the portion that my learned friend read out, "There are a

        28       number of red flags that the employees were faced with in

        29       relation to these payments" related to payments to Ronly.

        30       I'm not sure whether that's strictly the context in which

        31       the paragraph should be read, having regard to the content

        32       of the paragraph immediately above.  I think, in fairness

        33       to the witness, he should be shown, indeed, what the role

        34       report says.

        35

        36       MR AGIUS:   I have no difficulty with that.  I am just

        37       putting to the witness a portion that had previously been

        38       read on to the transcript.

        39

        40       Q.   Mr Stott, I will show you a copy of the confidential

        41       exhibit 69C and draw your attention to page 0117 and the

        42       heading "Iraq Inland Trucking".  I would ask you to read

        43       that page, page 0117, through to the end of page 0118.

        44

        45       THE COMMISSIONER:   Does that have "AA" numbers identifying

        46       the people?

        47
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         1       MR AGIUS:   No, it doesn't.  It has the real names of the

         2       persons.

         3

         4       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   You understand, Mr Stott, that we

         5       have been giving the persons identification letters?

         6       A.   I am not familiar with the letters, Commissioner, but

         7       I understand that that's what you have been doing.  I am

         8       familiar with that section, Mr Agius.

         9

        10       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Have you read pages 0117 and 0118,

        11       including the two paragraphs that I read to you?

        12       A.   Yes.

        13

        14       Q.   In December 2000 you were told by Arthur Andersen that

        15       there was a recent increase in the trucking cost, that it

        16       appeared to be high, that there may be a risk that this

        17       money - that is, the trucking cost - is being diverted to

        18       other purposes, there may be a risk to AWB of excessive

        19       trucking fees.  In February 2001 you were told by Mr Hogan

        20       that the trucking fee was US$25 with a 10 per cent service

        21       fee on the entire FIT value of the contract.  You were told

        22       by Mr Hogan and Mr Borlase that they believed that the

        23       increase in the trucking fee and the addition of the

        24       service charge was a mechanism of extracting more dollars

        25       from the escrow account.  So you had two separate pieces of

        26       information which, in at least one respect, were very

        27       similar:  each piece of information raised a risk of the

        28       possibility that money might be diverted.  In the report,

        29       the report itself said, "There may be a risk that money is

        30       being diverted to other purposes", and in the trip report

        31       there was a statement from two AWB employees, one of them

        32       very experienced, that they believed the increase in the

        33       trucking fee and the addition of the service charge was a

        34       mechanism of extracting more dollars from the escrow

        35       account.  Given that you had those two pieces of

        36       information, those concerns from two separate sources, what

        37       did you do about it?

        38       A.   If we talk about this report first, this was the first

        39       time that this comment appeared in a report.  It concerned

        40       us enormously, that this should appear in the report.

        41

        42       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.  Sorry, which one are you talking

        43       about?  Which report are you talking about?

        44       A.   The current - sorry, Commissioner, I am on --

        45

        46       Q.   The paragraph saying "The current management" in the

        47       Arthur Andersen report?
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         1       A.   That's right, yes.  Not that they had removed - "The

         2       current management had removed this payment process with

         3       Ronly" - I was comfortable with that aspect of the report -

         4       but the second sentence there and the third and forth

         5       sentence came as a surprise to us to see that in the

         6       report.

         7

         8            We asked Andrew Toohey and Paul McKellar where that

         9       comment came from, because we were most concerned about

        10       that comment.  They did not put it in the report.  They

        11       couldn't tell me where that comment came from.  I said, "We

        12       have to examine where that comment came from.  You have to

        13       tell me where it came from.  Get the interview notes of the

        14       interviews with all the respective people, find out where

        15       that comment came from".

        16

        17            We stopped the report at this point in time and there

        18       was never a final report issued, and this was considered to

        19       be an incomplete report in December, because we believed

        20       that we had done all the work by October.  Andrew Toohey

        21       went through the interview notes and came back to me and

        22       said he couldn't specifically tell me who those comments

        23       had been attributed to, but it was one of two people that

        24       he believed that they came from.  We were most alarmed

        25       about this in the report.  It was the first time that we

        26       had seen such a comment in the report.

        27

        28       MR AGIUS:   Q.   So what did you do about it?

        29       A.   I asked Mr Toohey to go through the interview notes

        30       and find out who and where those comments came from.

        31

        32       Q.   Yes.  No, sorry, that was a poor question.  What did

        33       you do about it after Mr Toohey reported to you in the way

        34       in which you have described in evidence?

        35       A.   As I said earlier, we had already addressed these

        36       issues in October.  I had concerns in October about what

        37       might be happening to the trucking arrangements.  I raised

        38       those concerns.  I looked at those concerns and I was

        39       satisfied, having done various tests with Dominic Hogan's

        40       awareness of some of those tests, that the trucking

        41       arrangements were indeed for trucking costs, trucking fees.

        42

        43       Q.   What did you do about the risk that had been adverted

        44       to, "There may be a risk that the money is being diverted

        45       to other purposes", that "There may be a risk to AWB of

        46       excessive trucking fees"?

        47       A.   We discussed at this meeting what we had done.  I had
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         1       expressed some concerns around - following my October

         2       mission to Iraq, that maybe these - the Iraqis have some

         3       way of benefitting from those trucking fees.

         4

         5       Q.   When had you expressed that?

         6       A.   At the October - at the end of the October mission.

         7

         8       Q.   Who had you said that to?

         9       A.   I had said it to - I had said it to Tim Goodacre, my

        10       manager, and I had also expressed those concerns to

        11       Dominic Hogan.

        12

        13       Q.   So at the end of October your evidence is that you

        14       said to Mr Goodacre and Mr Hogan that you had a concern

        15       that some of the money that was being paid by way of

        16       trucking fee might be finding its way to the Iraqis, or

        17       might be being diverted for other purposes?

        18       A.   No, I wouldn't have said it in those words.  I had

        19       concerns - I originally - my original concern about Iraq

        20       was Ronly's involvement in Iraq, and that was my state of

        21       mind up until the October trip.  The October trip really -

        22       the amount of money that Ronly appeared to be making out of

        23       Iraq was not that significant in the contractual - in the

        24       scheme of the contractual arrangements.  In October, when

        25       we were trying to resolve the discharge problems at

        26       Umm Qasr, where I had I think around about - oh, several -

        27       well, I don't know how many vessels were lined up, but

        28       there were many vessels lined up to discharge, and the

        29       issue was the lack of trucks at discharge port.  I raised -

        30       my first test was to talk to the Iraqi ministers, or the

        31       Iraqis, and advise them that I wanted to write to DFAT and

        32       seek approval to enter into an arrangement whereby I could

        33       get Alia to provide more trucks at discharge port.  That

        34       was my first test, and the Iraqis said that they were

        35       comfortable with me writing to Alia.

        36

        37            I asked Dom during this mission what he knew about the

        38       trucking arrangements.  He said he didn't know anything

        39       about the trucking arrangements, these were all

        40       arrangements that were put in place by Mr Emons and

        41       Mr Watson, and he understood that they had full support

        42       from the board and it had been approved by the UN.  So he

        43       wasn't familiar with the details of the trucking

        44       arrangements, but he was familiar - he was comfortable that

        45       it had been approved by the UN and that previous management

        46       had put it in place in 1999 and that, as far as he was

        47       concerned, it was okay.
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         1

         2       Q.   Mr Stott, in answer to this question, "What did you do

         3       about the risk that had been adverted to, 'There may be a

         4       risk that the money is being diverted to other purposes',

         5       that 'There may be a risk to AWB of excessive trucking

         6       fees", you said:

         7

         8            We discussed at this meeting what we had

         9            done.  I had expressed some concerns

        10            around - following my October mission to

        11            Iraq, that maybe these - the Iraqis have

        12            some way of benefitting from those trucking

        13            fees.

        14

        15       Now, had you expressed concerns, following your October

        16       mission to Iraq, that maybe the Iraqis had some way of

        17       benefitting from the trucking fees?

        18       A.   Yes.

        19

        20       Q.   Who had you expressed those concerns to?

        21       A.   Tim Goodacre and Dom Hogan and, at the December

        22       meeting, I expressed, when this appeared in the document -

        23       I explained what we had done, the various tests that I had

        24       put - that I had done to satisfy myself that, indeed, Alia

        25       was a trucking company.

        26

        27       Q.   What test did you conduct to satisfy the concerns that

        28       you had that maybe the Iraqis had a way of benefitting from

        29       the trucking fees?

        30       A.   Firstly, I told the Iraqis that I was going to write

        31       to DFAT about the use of Alia.  If the Iraqis didn't want

        32       me to talk to DFAT, I would have - I assumed that they

        33       wouldn't have agreed to me writing to DFAT about the use of

        34       Jordanian trucking companies.

        35

        36       Q.   How could that give you any comfort in relation to the

        37       issue of whether or not the Iraqis had some way of

        38       benefitting from the trucking fees?

        39       A.   It is a combination of the tests that I did.  The

        40       second test, if I can - the second test that I was

        41       comfortable with was that I understood that the world

        42       intelligence agencies were watching Iraq's every move.  The

        43       Ronly transaction - having stopped paying Ronly through

        44       that circuitous route and paying Alia directly, and

        45       I understand that every transaction over $10,000 was being

        46       monitored, that if anyone was concerned about us paying

        47       Alia, the intelligence agencies would quickly pick up
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         1       because they were supposedly monitoring all of the flows of

         2       money around the Iraqi market and their neighbours, that

         3       that could have been - would have rung an alarm bell.

         4       Secondly --

         5

         6       Q.   Which intelligence agencies did you have in mind that

         7       would be monitoring whether the Iraqis were receiving any

         8       benefit from the trucking fees?

         9       A.   US, UK, Australian and UN.

        10

        11       Q.   Which Australian intelligence agencies did you have in

        12       mind would have any information about whether the Iraqis

        13       would be benefitting from the payment of the trucking fee?

        14       A.   Well, I assumed the Australian intelligence agencies

        15       would have been getting reports from the US intelligence

        16       agencies.  I was familiar that they were monitoring

        17       shipments of goods in and out of Iraq very closely, and in

        18       the 1991 transaction we removed the 10 tonnes of gold out

        19       of Iraq.  I did receive a phone call from Bob Bowker at

        20       that time, and he advised me that he had just received a

        21       call from the US - his US intelligence agents that are

        22       sitting on the border, and he has confirmed that the

        23       cargo - confirmed what time the cargo went through the

        24       border.

        25

        26       Q.   What has that got to do with whether the Iraqis were

        27       receiving benefit from money paid to Alia in 1999, 2000,

        28       2001 up to 2003?

        29       A.   Well, I am relying on the global intelligence

        30       agencies, who are monitoring the Iraqis' every move, to -

        31       if there is any concern about payments that we are paying

        32       directly to Alia, a trucking company in Jordan, that that

        33       would be picked up.  That is one of the other areas that

        34       gave me comfort that the Iraqis were not benefitting from

        35       it.

        36

        37            The second one was when I wrote to DFAT seeking

        38       approval to use the trucking companies.  Why did I seek - I

        39       know that you have been asking questions of what my state

        40       of mind about that particular letter was.

        41

        42       Q.   I haven't asked you a question about that yet,

        43       Mr Stott.

        44       A.   No, I have seen it in transcripts that you have asked

        45       other witnesses.  So that was the --

        46

        47       Q.   At the moment we are dealing with matters that gave
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         1       you comfort when you had this thought that maybe the Iraqis

         2       were obtaining a benefit from the trucking fee, and, as

         3       I understand your answer, you have described two methods,

         4       two issues, two factors that gave you that comfort.  One

         5       was that you said to the Iraqis, "Look, I'm going to write

         6       to Alia to see whether we can contract with them about the

         7       provision of trucking", and the Iraqis didn't object.

         8       A.   No, no, I said I was going to write to DFAT and ask

         9       DFAT if it was okay to write - to approach Alia about - or

        10       the trucking company --

        11

        12       Q.   I apologise.  The second one was that you had in mind

        13       that the various intelligence agencies would be monitoring

        14       what the Iraqis were doing?

        15       A.   Yes.

        16

        17       Q.   Were there any other factors that gave you comfort

        18       when you had this thought that perhaps the Iraqis might be

        19       gaining a benefit from the trucking fees?

        20       A.   Yes.  I wrote a telex - not a telex, I beg your

        21       pardon - well, it might have been a telex - an email to the

        22       Iraqi minister in relation to the Russian contractual

        23       problems that we were experiencing on Russian contracts.

        24       In that letter, or in that communication, I proposed to the

        25       minister that maybe one solution to you to bridge the

        26       problem - because the minister, having met him in October,

        27       was very upset with me on the Russian contracts, and

        28       I proposed that there was a gap, and maybe one way of

        29       bridging that gap was to forgo the trucking fee.

        30

        31            Dom and I talked about this message, and I said to

        32       Dom, "What I am concerned about, Dom, is there may be some

        33       benefit going to" - "the Iraqis may be providing some

        34       benefit from these trucking arrangements.  If the Iraqi

        35       minister comes back and says that he is prepared to forgo

        36       those trucking fees, then I am going to be satisfied that

        37       he is actually controlling the trucking fees and they may

        38       not be trucking fees.  If he comes back and says, 'No, we

        39       can't do that', then I'm going to be satisfied that they

        40       are trucking fees that need to be paid."

        41

        42            I sent - I asked Dom to - I wrote the message out,

        43       I sent it to Dom, I asked Dom to send it off to Iraq, and

        44       we waited patiently and the Iraqis came back and said, "We

        45       can't forgo the trucking fees."  I rang Yousif and said,

        46       "Well, why can't we do that to address the Russian

        47       contracts", and Yousif said, "Well, how else are we going
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         1       to be able to move the grain around if we don't have the

         2       foreign exchange to pay for the trucking fees?" So that was

         3       another test that I had done, and following the October

         4       mission.

         5

         6            The other thing that I did in October was - you will

         7       recall earlier I did say that in September - I was due to

         8       go in September and I spoke to Zuhair Daoud and my mission

         9       in September was delayed and I wanted to talk to him about

        10       the trucking fees to understand that, and he told me that

        11       he was happy to talk to me about that, and two weeks before

        12       we arrived Zuhair was tragically killed in a car accident.

        13

        14            Michael Watson - Zuhair had a unique car.  Most of the

        15       cars in Baghdad were dilapidated, but Zuhair, because he

        16       did many trips to Syria and Jordan, he had a unique car.

        17       One of the Russian traders reportedly passed the accident

        18       scene, who was going in to see Zuhair, and Zuhair - he said

        19       it was no accident, the car was riddled with bullet holes

        20       and it was - everyone in the car had been killed.

        21       I dismissed that at the time, because I thought that is -

        22       why would they - why would the regime kill Zuhair; it was

        23       nonsense; he had been in the business for many years, and

        24       it didn't make sense to me at all.

        25

        26            So I never got to talk to Zuhair about the trucking

        27       arrangements.  I am sure, if I ever had, Zuhair would have

        28       told me the details about the trucking arrangements.

        29

        30       Q.   Are there any other matters that gave you comfort, in

        31       October, on this issue of whether the Iraqis were receiving

        32       benefit from the trucking fee?

        33       A.   Well, there was those four things that gave me

        34       comfort - that I had done appropriate tests to see whether

        35       there was any concerns; I had management telling me that

        36       they were aware of the trucking fees.  When I came back in

        37       October there was the drafts of the letter that I sent to

        38       DFAT, there was some interesting exchanges on the draft of

        39       the letters, and I went - we ultimately sent the letter as

        40       I had wanted it to be written, which is the relation to the

        41       trucking - right to use trucks at discharge port.

        42

        43       Q.   In that letter you don't mention Alia.  You tell us

        44       that you had said to the Iraqis that you had proposed to

        45       write to DFAT to ask DFAT if you could enter into

        46       negotiations with Alia, yet the letter makes no mention of

        47       Alia at all.
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         1       A.   No, I think --

         2

         3       Q.   Why did you not make mention of Alia in that letter?

         4       A.   The October trip report also mentioned a water

         5       transport company.  I always assumed that Alia was the only

         6       trucking company, and I was advised during the trip that

         7       there was a water transport company, which I had not heard

         8       of before.  So if there was a second trucking company,

         9       I wanted to make sure that any approval that we had from

        10       DFAT provided me with the opportunity to be able to use any

        11       trucking companies that were discovered.

        12

        13       Q.   Why did you not refer to Alia as the one company the

        14       name of which you said you were aware of?

        15       A.   Because I was told that the trucking companies - that

        16       people were aware of the trucking arrangements.  The issue

        17       that I was resolving was not the use of Alia; the issue

        18       I was resolving was can I separately enter into a contract

        19       to encourage Alia to get more trucks down to discharge at

        20       Umm Qasr, to discharge wheat at Umm Qasr, to enable my

        21       vessels to move away more rapidly, because the choke at

        22       Umm Qasr was the lack of trucks, which was picked up as

        23       one - there was three big issues in that October mission

        24       report.

        25

        26       Q.   Why did you not mention Alia in this letter to DFAT?

        27       A.   Because that wasn't the issue and/or the purpose of

        28       that letter that I was addressing.

        29

        30       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   One of the tests that you said you

        31       were doing was to write to DFAT because you had a concern

        32       that the Iraqis might in some way have been benefitting

        33       from trucking fees.

        34       A.   Yes.

        35

        36       Q.   Why didn't you write to DFAT and say just that?

        37       A.   Because I was - this was my concern that - everyone

        38       else had told me that they --

        39

        40       Q.   Yes, but you were approaching DFAT for an approval, so

        41       I understand you to say.

        42       A.   Not on the use of Alia.  I was approaching DFAT on the

        43       use of trucking companies to enable more vessels to

        44       discharge.

        45

        46       Q.   But the reason you are doing this is because you say

        47       you had concerns --
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         1       A.   Yes.

         2

         3       Q.   -- about whether or not the Iraqis were benefitting

         4       from the trucking fees.

         5       A.   Yes.

         6

         7       Q.   Why didn't you write and say so?

         8       A.   I asked - I wrote --

         9

        10       Q.   Your letter doesn't mention anything like that.

        11       A.   The purpose of that letter was to seek approval of the

        12       use of the trucking companies.  That was the purpose of the

        13       letter.  I followed that letter up with a phone call, which

        14       was in my witness statement.

        15

        16       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Stott, why didn't you, in your letter

        17       to DFAT, raise the issue about your concern as to whether

        18       the Iraqis were deriving some benefit from the trucking

        19       fee?  Why didn't you raise that concern with DFAT?  Why

        20       rely upon all of the tests that you had applied, rather

        21       than simply go straight to DFAT and ask them?

        22       A.   Because everyone had told me that this had been

        23       approved.  I was the only person that appeared to be

        24       worried about it, and I did some due diligence and put some

        25       tests in place to determine whether or not my concerns were

        26       legitimate concerns that needed to be raised with DFAT or

        27       not.  Obviously, with the benefit of hindsight, it would

        28       have been far easier to include that in the letter, but

        29       that was not my - that was not my state of mind at that

        30       time.  I would --

        31

        32       Q.   What you did, Mr Stott, examining your evidence, was

        33       to apply a mental process.  One of the things you thought

        34       of was, well, intelligence authorities, in effect, would be

        35       monitoring, and they would know.  Now, if you had that

        36       thought, and when you gave your evidence you said you did,

        37       and you included Australian intelligence authorities in

        38       your answer, why not simply write to DFAT and say, "What do

        39       you know about this?  Is there a concern that money that

        40       I'm paying to Alia is finding its way to the Iraqis?" Why

        41       not present that problem squarely to DFAT and get DFAT's

        42       response, so that you could have it on your file as your

        43       protection forever?  Why not do that?

        44       A.   With the benefit of hindsight, it would have been very

        45       sensible to do that, Mr Agius.

        46

        47       Q.   Well, why didn't you do it at the time?
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         1       A.   Because I was the only person that was concerned about

         2       it.  Everyone else told me it was okay, it had been in

         3       place since 1999, it had been approved by the board - the

         4       AWB board was aware of it, people had looked at it.  I was

         5       being suspicious about it and I was - I had put some tests,

         6       and every test the Iraqis passed.

         7

         8       Q.   What test did you apply in relation to the Australian

         9       intelligence systems?

        10       A.   I just relied on the intelligence systems who told

        11       me - basically the world was watching Iraq, monitoring

        12       their every move, knew basically where things were going,

        13       satellite imaging of truck movements around the country,

        14       the movement of money around the world is tracked by

        15       appropriate monetary authorities, people are worried about

        16       how Saddam's regime might be getting benefits.  I relied -

        17       I relied on the world intelligence systems to alert me to

        18       it.

        19

        20       Q.   Why not ask DFAT?  There was your connection to the

        21       Australian intelligence system through DFAT.  Why not

        22       simply go to DFAT and say, "What do you know about this?

        23       Is there any intelligence on this?"

        24       A.   I did go to DFAT in a phone conversation and also

        25       after my letter, and asked whether or not dealing with Alia

        26       was okay.

        27

        28       Q.   Who did you speak to?

        29       A.   Well, it was in my witness statement.

        30

        31       Q.   No, I am asking you, who did you speak to?

        32       A.   I think I spoke to Jane.

        33

        34       Q.   And what did you say to her?

        35       A.   I thanked Jane for her letter and I then said to Jane,

        36       "So, therefore, dealing with Alia, is" - something to the

        37       effect, "Dealing with Alia is okay?" And she advised that

        38       DFAT were aware of Alia, had looked at Alia, and Alia is

        39       okay.

        40

        41       Q.   Did you make a note of that conversation?

        42       A.   I advised my manager of that conversation, and I would

        43       have thought that I had prepared a file note on that

        44       conversation.

        45

        46       Q.   When you say you would have thought that you had

        47       prepared a file note, did you prepare a file note?
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         1       A.   I don't - I can't be certain if I prepared a file

         2       note, but if - having been told that DFAT was aware of it,

         3       I didn't think it was necessary to prepare - to be worried,

         4       because I was given comfort that DFAT were aware of it.

         5

         6       Q.   Why not record it?

         7       A.   Well, I didn't think that DFAT would ever suggest that

         8       they were not aware of it.

         9

        10       Q.   Mr Stott, there is no record in any DFAT document

        11       recording the fact of any conversation with you about Alia,

        12       and there is no record that has been provided to this

        13       inquiry by the AWB recording the fact of any conversation

        14       between you and DFAT on the topic of Alia.  Are you aware

        15       of the existence of any such record?

        16       A.   No.

        17

        18       Q.   Did you send a confirmatory letter or email or note to

        19       the Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade recording the

        20       fact of your conversation with Ms Drake-Brockman on the

        21       issue of Alia?

        22       A.   No.

        23

        24       Q.   You would have known, would you not, at that time that

        25       DFAT never undertook the function of conducting due

        26       diligence on foreign corporations - that would have been a

        27       matter well known to you, would it not?

        28       A.   No.

        29

        30       Q.   What facilities did you think DFAT had to undertake

        31       any due diligence on Alia for General Transport and Trade?

        32       A.   Access to the global intelligence network on the Iraqi

        33       market and the infrastructure around Iraq.  There were

        34       sanctions in place, people were monitoring the flow of

        35       cash.  They were trying to work out where that was going.

        36       So I relied on the intelligence systems to do their work.

        37

        38       Q.   Mr Stott, if your evidence is accurate, then it would

        39       seem that the most important piece of information that you

        40       obtained in relation to the issues that were of concern to

        41       you was the piece of information from DFAT that it was okay

        42       for you to continue to use Alia because Alia had been

        43       investigated; isn't that right?

        44       A.   That's right.

        45

        46       Q.   Why is that the one piece of information that we do

        47       not see recorded in any document, either at DFAT or at the
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         1       AWB?

         2       A.   I just never thought that DFAT would not have a

         3       document recording that conversation, so --

         4

         5       Q.   Why is it that that conversation is not referred to in

         6       any of the interviews that anybody at AWB had with the IIC?

         7       Why is there no reference to the fact that the Department

         8       of Foreign Affairs and Trade had advised the AWB that Alia,

         9       in effect, had been investigated and that it was okay to

        10       make payments to Alia.  Why do we not see it in any

        11       communication between the AWB and the IIC?

        12       A.   Since I appointed independent counsel at the

        13       suggestion of the Commission, I have gone through documents

        14       and been challenged on those documents as to what that

        15       document means, and my recollection of events has come

        16       back.  I am grateful, in one respect, that I have been able

        17       to have the time to look at those documents, because many

        18       things I did not recall I would not have recalled at that

        19       time.  That's why --

        20

        21       Q.   Sorry, go on.

        22       A.   No, that's fine.

        23

        24       Q.   That's why what?

        25       A.   I have finished, Mr Agius.

        26

        27       Q.   Does that mean that you forgot that you had the

        28       conversation with Ms Drake-Brockman concerning Alia and

        29       then, in some way, your recollection has been revived?

        30       A.   I have not recalled many things about the events of

        31       1995 and the Iraqi market since then until such time as

        32       documents have been presented and evidence has been

        33       presented to the Commission that I have seen for the first

        34       time in many years and, having spent considerable time on

        35       the evidence, I now have a very good recollection of the

        36       events of that time and what I did at that time.

        37

        38       Q.   What about my question, Mr Stott?  Let me expand on it

        39       for you.  You said in response to an earlier question,

        40       "Since I appointed independent counsel at the suggestion of

        41       the Commission, I have gone through documents and been

        42       challenged on those documents as to what that document

        43       means, and my recollection of events has come back."  Now,

        44       my question to you is this:  do we understand that answer

        45       to mean that you had at one time forgotten that you had had

        46       this conversation with Ms Drake-Brockman concerning Alia,

        47       and that you have had a revived recollection of it - is
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         1       that what you say?

         2       A.   I had forgotten about the AA report, the final -

         3       the December draft of that report.  There are many aspects

         4       that I would have not recalled on 22 December when I had

         5       the witness statement, and there are many aspects - when

         6       I prepared the witness statement, and there are many

         7       aspects that I have now recalled of those documents and the

         8       events at that time.

         9

        10       Q.   And my question is, is one of the matters that you had

        11       forgotten, and thereafter remembered, the fact of this

        12       conversation that you had with Ms Drake-Brockman concerning

        13       Alia?

        14       A.   Yes.

        15

        16       Q.   When did you remember that conversation?

        17       A.   When Paul and I were going through with my

        18       solicitors - Paul and Kerri, when we were going through the

        19       documents we had, the AA report, once it was tabled into

        20       evidence, and we read the AA report, Paul, Kerri and I had

        21       an interesting discussion around the fact that the report

        22       was wrong, and it was inaccurate on a number of - in a

        23       number of places in respect of the way it described the

        24       freight, and, as a result of that, I reflected on that and

        25       I have remembered that in fact the report was wrong in a

        26       number of areas, and we never finalised the report.  So, as

        27       other documents have been put to me, I have remembered the

        28       events of that time that I did not remember on the 12th -

        29       on the 22nd.

        30

        31       Q.   Will you answer my question?  When was it that you

        32       remembered that you had had the conversation with

        33       Ms Drake-Brockman?

        34       A.   When I was preparing the witness statements with - on

        35       22 December, and a couple of weeks prior to that I recalled

        36       that conversation.

        37

        38       Q.   So a couple of weeks prior to 22 December you recalled

        39       that conversation?

        40       A.   That's right.

        41

        42       Q.   What revived your recollection?

        43       A.   This inquiry.

        44

        45       Q.   What, the fact that this inquiry had been announced?

        46       A.   That's right.

        47
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         1       Q.   And that revived your recollection, did it, that you

         2       had had a conversation with Jane Drake-Brockman --

         3       A.   Yes.

         4

         5       Q.   -- about Alia?

         6       A.   Yes.

         7

         8       Q.   Did you have that recollection when Mr Volcker was

         9       conducting his inquiry?

        10       A.   No.

        11

        12       Q.   So even though you were still employed at AWB at that

        13       time, and even though you were preparing to yourself at one

        14       stage be interviewed by the IIC investigators, you did not

        15       at that time have a recollection of having had this

        16       conversation about Alia with Jane Drake-Brockman?

        17       A.   That's correct.

        18

        19       Q.   But the announcement of this inquiry and its terms of

        20       reference was enough to revive that recollection?

        21       A.   In preparing the witness statement and working through

        22       that witness statement, I have recalled that conversation,

        23       that is correct.

        24

        25       Q.   I thought you said it was two weeks prior to

        26       22 December?

        27       A.   Yes.

        28

        29       Q.   Are you making this up, Mr Stott?

        30       A.   No.

        31

        32       Q.   Mr Stott, are you inventing this as a reason why you

        33       didn't cover this issue in your written correspondence with

        34       DFAT?

        35       A.   No.

        36

        37       Q.   Can you explain the absence of any file note or record

        38       of your conversation with Ms Drake-Brockman within the

        39       records of AWB?

        40       A.   Following my October trip, and in the preparation of

        41       the letter to DFAT, an event occurred that made me very

        42       concerned about what was happening in Iraq.  I asked -

        43       I spoke to Tim Goodacre about that.  I spoke to

        44       Andrew Toohey about that, and I said that while I had

        45       always thought that the Iraq freight arrangements in some

        46       way benefited Ronly, there is something else happening here

        47       in Iraq that we have to get behind.  I asked Andrew Toohey
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         1       to immediately divert his investigation to the Iraq market

         2       and encouraged him to call on all the Iraq files.  They

         3       were not in the filing system at that time.  He came back

         4       and reported that to me.  I then said, "Well, you have to

         5       find those, insist on them, ask for the team to find those

         6       files".  These were in the public compactus, but they were

         7       not there, and then they appeared and Andrew and the AA

         8       team went through that file to see whether or not there

         9       were any issues or concerns in relation to Iraq.

        10

        11       Q.   How does that answer bear upon my question whether you

        12       could explain the absence of any file note or record of

        13       your conversation with Ms Drake-Brockman within the records

        14       of AWB?

        15       A.   Those files can be constructed or deconstructed by

        16       anyone - they are public files; they are not accurate

        17       records of the events at the time; they are records of the

        18       events that people may want other people to believe.

        19

        20       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   If there is one piece of paper

        21       that AWB would want to preserve, it would be that one,

        22       I should have thought.

        23       A.   Yes.  I don't - Commissioner, I don't recall actually

        24       writing a file note.  I was confident that DFAT, who had

        25       given me comfort that Alia was known to them and confirmed

        26       that it was okay to be dealing with them - I was comforted

        27       by that.  I had never - obviously in the context of this

        28       inquiry, it would have been far better to have that letter

        29       in a completely different form and file notes scattered

        30       throughout the organisation on this particular issue.

        31

        32       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Mr Stott, did you ever tell anybody that

        33       you had had that conversation with Ms Drake-Brockman?

        34       A.   Yes.

        35

        36       Q.   Who was the first person that you told?

        37       A.   Tim Goodacre, my manager.

        38

        39       Q.   When did you tell him?

        40       A.   I told him after the phone conversation.

        41

        42       Q.   On the same day?

        43       A.   Yes.

        44

        45       Q.   What did you say to him?

        46       A.   Basically I had spoken to Jane and Jane has confirmed

        47       that the government - not the government, DFAT is aware of
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         1       Alia and comfortable with Alia.

         2

         3       Q.   Did you say that orally to Mr Goodacre or in an email?

         4       A.   Orally.

         5

         6       Q.   And in what context did you say that to Mr Goodacre?

         7       A.   Mr Goodacre and I were dealing with a number of

         8       probity issues within the international marketing group at

         9       the time.  I was not sure what I was being given, or

        10       seeing, and we were - the only person I could trust was

        11       Mr Goodacre.  I now had Arthur Andersen looking at the Iraq

        12       market in particular.  Up until that point Arthur

        13       Andersen's focus of attention was on Ronly and some of the

        14       other marketing issues that were there.

        15

        16       Q.   Do you know whether Mr Goodacre made a record of what

        17       it was that you told him concerning DFAT being aware of

        18       Alia and being comfortable with Alia?

        19       A.   I don't think Mr Goodacre would have made a record.

        20

        21       Q.   Why do you say that?

        22       A.   I just don't believe that Tim made records.  I've seen

        23       Tim's files.  It is not the way he operates.

        24

        25       Q.   You said that you and Mr Goodacre were dealing with a

        26       number of --

        27

        28       MR LACAVA:   Commissioner, could I just interrupt?  In our

        29       submission, the amount of time that this witness has now

        30       been in the witness box today answering questions is going

        31       for far too long.  It is now approaching 5.25.  He has been

        32       in the witness box today for in excess of five hours.  In

        33       my submission it is --

        34

        35       THE COMMISSIONER:   We started at, what, 10.45?

        36

        37       MR LACAVA:   We started at 10.45, we went to a bit after

        38       one.  We started at about 10 past 2, we had a break I think

        39       at about 10 past 4 and we have now been going for in excess

        40       of another hour.

        41

        42       THE COMMISSIONER:   In the building Royal Commission we

        43       used to sit to 9.30 at night.

        44

        45       MR LACAVA:   Well, that may be so, Commissioner, but in our

        46       submission it is unfair and bordering on being oppressive

        47       that he should be subjected to this kind of questioning,
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         1       which is so intense, looking at so many documents for so

         2       long.  I would ask that the Commission adjourn.

         3

         4       THE COMMISSIONER:   We will stop at 5.30.  Yes, Mr Agius.

         5

         6       MR AGIUS:   Q.   You said that you and Mr Goodacre were

         7       dealing with a number of probity issues.  Was one of those

         8       probity issues the use by AWB of Alia?

         9       A.   No.

        10

        11       Q.   Then in what context did you refer to Alia in your

        12       conversation with Mr Goodacre?

        13       A.   That I had a discussion with Jane Drake-Brockman about

        14       whether or not DFAT were aware of the AWB - Alia.  I was

        15       comforted that she said they were aware of Alia, they had

        16       looked at Alia and confirmed that Alia was okay.

        17

        18       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Did you have any discussions with

        19       DFAT apart from the one that you say you had with

        20       Ms Drake-Brockman in relation to this letter of October?

        21       A.   No.

        22

        23       Q.   Just the one?

        24       A.   The conversation after - following up the letter was

        25       just the one.

        26

        27       Q.   And before the letter?

        28       A.   Well, I had open conversations with --

        29

        30       Q.   No, no, did you have a discussion with any officer of

        31       DFAT before you wrote the letter in late October?

        32       A.   I believe that I did have discussions with people in

        33       DFAT following my mission in October.

        34

        35       Q.   I am asking you in relation to a letter.

        36       A.   Yes.  Well, it is normal --

        37

        38       Q.   No, did you have a discussion with them in relation to

        39       the letter?

        40       A.   I think I did, Commissioner.

        41

        42       Q.   And with whom?

        43       A.   Well, I can't be certain, Commissioner, it was either

        44       Jane or - I think it would have been Jane, if I had a

        45       discussion, but I can't recall.

        46

        47       Q.   You can't recall whether you had one or you didn't
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         1       have one?

         2       A.   I can't recall if I had a discussion before the

         3       letter.  I think I did have a discussion before I sent the

         4       letter, because it was customary, before sending a letter

         5       to DFAT, to make sure that DFAT was comfortable with the

         6       terms of the letter, because I didn't want to send a letter

         7       to DFAT that they were not prepared to receive in a format

         8       that they were - would be happy with.  So that was

         9       customary practice for me, on any correspondence to DFAT,

        10       I would talk to them about that before I would generally

        11       send the letter to make sure that it was in a form that

        12       would not - it was a form that would be received

        13       appropriately.

        14

        15       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, Mr Agius.

        16

        17       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Could we bring up, please, AWB.0106.0107.

        18       This is a draft of a letter prepared by Mr Hogan, if we go

        19       to the next page, 0108.  He has said that he prepared this

        20       draft at your request, and he gave you the draft, and that

        21       it was likely that it came back to him with many

        22       amendments.  Do you recall receiving this draft from

        23       Mr Hogan?

        24       A.   I recall receiving a draft from Mr Hogan.  I'm not

        25       sure if it is this draft, but I recall receiving a draft

        26       from Mr Hogan.

        27

        28       Q.   This draft includes the words "Currently all Iraq

        29       contracts are concluded as 'Free In Truck' all governates

        30       Iraq, with a predetermined and UN approved transport fee".

        31       Those words do not appear in your letter to

        32       Ms Drake-Brockman.  Why did you remove those words from the

        33       draft?

        34       A.   The issue that I was addressing was not that issue.

        35       The issue I was addressing was whether or not I could use

        36       or enter into an arrangement - might I have a look at the

        37       actual letter that went, please, Mr Agius?

        38

        39       Q.   Yes.  Can we bring up AWB.0146.0204.

        40       A.   Actually, Mr Agius, the main purpose of - the purpose

        41       of this letter was not - was to get the approval to enter

        42       into an arrangement with Jordan-based trucking companies,

        43       to ensure that more trucks were at discharge port in Iraq

        44       to reduce the amount of time that my vessels were waiting

        45       at Iraq, thereby reducing the demurrage bills.  That was

        46       the purpose of the letter.

        47
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         1       Q.   Did you ever enter into any arrangements with any

         2       Jordan-based trucking companies after 30 October 2000?

         3       A.   No.

         4

         5       Q.   Did you already have an arrangement with Alia prior to

         6       30 October 2000?

         7       A.   I think the shipping department may have had a

         8       protective agency arrangement --

         9

        10       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   No, for trucking?

        11       A.   No.

        12

        13       MR AGIUS:   Q.   But AWB had paid millions of dollars to

        14       Alia as at 30 October 2000.  On what basis had it paid that

        15       money to Alia, if it didn't have an arrangement with Alia?

        16       A.   The contractual arrangements with Alia were between

        17       the Iraqis and Alia.

        18

        19       Q.   So you didn't regard the AWB as having any contractual

        20       arrangement with Alia concerning trucking?

        21       A.   No.

        22

        23       Q.   You did regard AWB as having a protective agency

        24       agreement with Alia?

        25       A.   I have not seen that agreement, but I understood that

        26       we had a protective agency agreement with Alia.

        27

        28       Q.   Do you know whether or not DFAT had ever been

        29       approached before you entered the protective agency

        30       agreement with Alia?

        31       A.   No.

        32

        33       Q.   Did you raise with DFAT whether or not you could have

        34       a protective agency agreement with Alia?

        35       A.   No.

        36

        37       Q.   Why did you remove from Mr Hogan's draft the

        38       paragraph that reads - if we can bring it up, 0106.0108:

        39

        40            Currently all Iraq contracts are concluded

        41            as "Free in Truck" all governates Iraq,

        42            with a predetermined and UN approved

        43            transport fee.  The inclusion of the

        44            transport fee in the contract reduces AWB's

        45            ability to negotiate rates directly with

        46            the transport company, and subsequently

        47            there is no performance incentive for the
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         1            transport company to maximise the discharge

         2            rates at Umm Qasr.

         3

         4       MR LACAVA:   I object to that.  Commissioner, in our

         5       submission, as a matter of fairness, my learned friend

         6       should, first of all, ask the witness whether or not he did

         7       remove the paragraph, and from which draft.  There are

         8       several drafts of this document.  We have sat here for a

         9       number of days now and have noted that our learned friend

        10       did not put to Mr Hogan other drafts of the document which

        11       are before the Commission, and if the witness is going to

        12       be asked which draft he altered or settled, for want of a

        13       better way of putting it, by Mr Hogan, all of the drafts

        14       should be put before him, not just this one.

        15

        16       MR AGIUS:   I'm not aware of any other draft that includes

        17       that paragraph.  If there is such a draft which includes

        18       that paragraph, this inquiry would be very pleased to have

        19       seen it.

        20

        21       MR LACAVA:   I haven't said that there is another draft

        22       that includes that paragraph, but there are other drafts.

        23

        24       THE COMMISSIONER:   In that case, your objection has no

        25       substances, Mr Lacava.

        26

        27       MR LACAVA:   There are other versions of the document.

        28

        29       THE COMMISSIONER:   No doubt, but not with this paragraph,

        30       I am told.

        31

        32       Q.   Can you answer that question, and then we will

        33       adjourn.

        34       A.   Sorry, could you repeat the question, please,

        35       Mr Agius?

        36

        37       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Why did you remove from Mr Hogan's draft

        38       the paragraph that I read to you?

        39       A.   That was already included in the contracts that went

        40       to DFAT, that terminology.  This was not the issue that we

        41       were --

        42

        43       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   "With a predetermined and UN

        44       approved transport fee"?

        45       A.   With the "'Free in Truck' all governates Iraq".

        46

        47       Q.   Yes.
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         1       A.   So that the issue that I'm addressing in this letter

         2       is not the transport fee.  The issue that I am addressing

         3       in this letter is the ability to enter into an arrangement

         4       with the trucking companies in Jordan to try to encourage

         5       them to move more trucks down to Umm Qasr to enable the

         6       prompter discharge of my vessels, thus reducing the

         7       demurrage bills that we were incurring at Umm Qasr.

         8

         9       MR AGIUS:   Perhaps I should wait until tomorrow.

        10

        11       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  I will adjourn until 10am.

        12

        13       AT 5.30PM THE HEARING WAS ADJOURNED TO THURSDAY, 9 FEBRUARY

        14       2006 AT 10AM

        15
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